AN AUDIENCE FOCUSED APPROACH TO FRAMING CLIMATE-CHANGE COMMUNICATION IN AGRICULTURE

by

CASSIE WANDERSEE

B. F. A., Kansas State University, 2012

A THESIS

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Communications and Agricultural Education College of Agriculture

> KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

> > 2016

Approved by:

Major Professor Lauri M. Baker

Copyright

CASSIE WANDERSEE 2016

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to explore the frames and messages, issue salience, and communication preferences agricultural producers in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas use and accept related to climate change and the impacts of a changing climate. It was of additional interest to explore the climate-change beliefs and preferred agricultural media sources for climate and climate change information. Specific research objectives to guide the study were RO1: describe the level of issue salience agricultural producers have related to climate change; RO2: investigate frames and messages agricultural producers prefer in reference to the scientifically designated phenomena of climate change and impacts; and RO3: identify the agricultural media and information channels agricultural producers use for climate change. Based on findings in previous research, one hypothesis was developed: H1: agricultural producers in the Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub area will be located within the audience segment groups of the concerned and the cautious as identified in the Six America's (2012) study. An Internet survey was distributed to producers in Kansas, which was open from March 3 to March 14, 2016, with 158 responses to the survey. Agenda-Setting Theory served as the basis for the study including the tenants of issue salience and framing in relation to climate change. The study found that the majority (n = 158, 64.92%) of producers believed that climate change was occurring, however, the causes were still contested. The study identified that higher levels of risk perception and education level were linked to belief in anthropogenic climate change (ACC). Primarily, the study found that loss framing was most effective in communicating the impacts of climate change. Terminology and distance framing were less important in message framing. Regional and university publications were cited most frequently by producers as sources of climate and climate-change information and overall use of agricultural media publications was linked to

higher levels of belief in ACC. Users of business reports and TV had the highest mean climate-change belief; non-users had the lowest. Audience segments aligned with cautious and concerned Six America's (2013) audience segment group, which indicated a shift towards accepting climate change among agricultural producers.

Keywords: Climate change, Agenda setting theory, Issue salience, Framing, Climatechange communication

Table of Contents

List of Tables	ix
Acknowledgements	xi
Chapter 1 - Introduction	1
Statement of the Problem	6
Purpose of Study and Research Objectives	9
Assumptions	10
Definition of Key Terms	10
Summary	12
Chapter 2 - Review of Literature	14
Climate Change Science	14
Agricultural Impact on Climate Change	15
Climate Change Science and Agriculture in the Southern Plains	16
Agenda Setting	19
Issue Salience	20
Expansion of Agenda-Setting Theory	21
Framing	24
Agenda Setting in Climate Change and Agriculture	25
Organized Climate Change Denial	26
Climate Change Issue Salience	27
Framing of Climate Change Related Messages	28
Risk Perception in Climate Change	30
Risk Perceptions in Climate Change Among Agricultural Producers	31
Audience Segmentation	33
Audience Segmentation and Climate Change	34
The Six Americas	34
Audience Segmentation of Agricultural Producers	37
Terminology and Understanding in Climate Change Communication	38
Summary	39

Chapter 3 - Methods	41
Design of the Study	42
Independent Variables	44
Experimental Design of Gain and Loss Frames	47
Dependent Variable	47
Potential Limitations	47
Instrumentation	49
Data Collection	51
Data Analysis	53
Summary	54
Chapter 4 - Results	55
Demographics	56
Location	56
Education	58
Farm Type	59
Political Party	60
Age	61
Gender	61
Ethnicity	62
Role on Farm and/or Ranch	62
RO1: Describe the Level of Issue Salience Agricultural Producers have Related to Climate	;
Change	64
Perceived Risk	64
Experienced Hazard	65
Perceived Benefits	66
Climate-Change Belief	67
Demographic Differences in Climate-change belief and Issue Salience	68
Education Level	68
Farm Type	69
Political Party	70
Age	70

Gender	71
Ethnicity	71
Role on Farm	71
Correlations and Regression Analysis	72
MANOVA	76
ANOVA of Significant Issue Salience Variables in MANOVA Analysis	78
RO2: Investigate frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to the scientifically	
designated phenomena of climate change and impacts;	79
Outcome Frames (Gain, Loss, and Neutral)	80
Distant and Near Frames	80
Terminology Framing	81
MANCOVA	81
ANOVA	82
RO3: Identify the agricultural media and information channels agricultural producers us	se for
climate change.	83
Exploration of Climate-change belief Means by Publication Use	91
Regression Analysis of Preferred Agricultural Media Source	94
H1: Agricultural producers in the Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub area will be lo	cated
within the audience segment groups of the concerned and the cautious as identified in the	ne Six
America's (2012) study.	95
Summary	96
Chapter 5 - Discussion and Conclusions	101
Conclusions	103
Discussion	117
Issue Salience Related and Climate-Change Belief of Respondents	117
Perceived Risk	117
Experienced Hazard	118
Perceived Benefit	120
Climate-Change Belief	120
Relationship of Issue Salience to Climate-Change Belief	123
Audience Segmentation Impacts in Climate-Change Belief and Issue Salience	125

Expanding the Regression Model for Climate-Change Belief	. 127
Comparing Climate-Change Belief Groups	. 129
Preferred Frames in Climate-Change Communication	. 130
Preferred Agricultural Media Sources	. 134
Audience Segment Comparison to the Six America's	. 138
Recommendations	. 139
Practitioners	. 139
Research	. 142
Theory	. 144
Summary	. 145
References	. 150
Appendix A - Survey Versions with Quasi-Experimental Design	. 162
Appendix B - Kansas Wheat Initial Email	. 179
Appendix C - IRB Approval Letter	. 181
Appendix D - Kansas Wheat Follow-Up Email	. 194
Appendix E - Kansas Wheat Final Email	196

List of Tables

Table 4.1 50	5
Table 4.2 57	7
Table 4.3	8
Table 4.4	C
Table 4.5	C
Table 4.6	1
Table 4.7	1
Table 4.8	2
Table 4.9	3
Table 4.10	3
Table 4.11	5
Table 4.12	5
Table 4.13	5
Table 4.14	8
Table 4.1569	9
Table 4.16	С
Table 4.17	2
Table 4.18	3
Table 4.19	4
Table 4.20	5
Table 4.21	5
Table 4.22	5
Table 4.23	7
Table 4.24	8
Table 4.25	С
Table 4.26	С
Table 4.27 8	1
Table 4.28	3
Table 4.29	4

Table 4.30	85
Table 4.31	85
Table 4.32	87
Table 4.33	91
Table 4.34	92
Table 4.35	93
Table 4.36	93
Table 4.37	94
Table 4.38	95
Table 4.39	96

Acknowledgements

Conducting a thesis research project, and completing a master's degree, is not a task for the faint of heart. Committing to a master's degree means that a person is committing themselves to two years of late nights, over-the-top caffeine intake, stacks of research journals to sift through, little sleep, and a practically nonexistent social life. There is no way to make it through the process without a strong support system of mentors, friends, and family.

I would like to thank several people for helping me through the difficult process. First, I would like to thank Dr. Lauri M. Baker who served as my mentor and guide through the academic process. She encouraged me to return to grad school full-time when I needed a change in my life. Without her, I would not be where I am today.

I am especially thankful for my family. My dad, Clint Wandersee provided moral support and encouragement throughout the entire process. He has always encouraged me to pursue my dreams and better myself. Without him, I would not be the person I am today. I would also like to thank my academic family and fellow graduate students. Dr. Wesley Wise encouraged me to explore statistics, and through his encouragement, I found a new way to view the world that I never knew existed. My fellow graduate students deserve a big thanks. They were always willing to provide feedback on projects, partake in Monday-mid-day hugs, and pour another glass of wine when I really needed it.

Finally, I would like to thank my paddling family. Graduate school can consume a person if you allow it and they helped me maintain balance throughout the process. Chuck Millen spent many patient hours teaching me the art of whitewater kayaking. He was even more patient and accommodating when I arrived for weekends of paddling adventures with my laptop and a stack of books.

It is my hope that all people who pursue a master's degree have the same wonderful support system that I did. I can never fully express my gratitude for their support, or repay them for their love and kindness. My only hope is that I can someday provide the same encouragement for someone else.

Chapter 1 - Introduction

The agricultural industry is both vulnerable to climate change and produces a significant amount of greenhouse gasses (IPCC, 2007b). Results of climate change include successive and extreme events like flooding and droughts, increasing average temperatures, and rising water demand and limited water resources (Field et al., 2014). According to the 2014 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report, these results pose a higher risk in rural communities for loss of livelihoods, severe economic losses in agriculture, as well as damage to cultural values and identity (Field et al., 2014). The IPCC was established in 1988 to prepare a comprehensive review of, and recommendations in response to, the possible impacts of climate change based on scientific, technical, and socioeconomic information (IPCC, 2015). Without adaptation, further changes in climate, atmospheric carbon dioxide, and ocean acidity are expected to have a substantial impact on agriculture (Field et al., 2014). World population is projected to reach 8.1 billion in 2025 and 9.6 billion in 2050 (United Nations. Department of Economical and Social Affairs., 2014), which could significantly impact agriculture and water availability in both rural and urban areas (McDonald et al., 2011). Adaptation actions have been implemented in the agricultural sector in response to climate change including adjusted planting dates, crop selection, and irrigation and fertilizer control (Mimura et al., 2014). Policy measures focused on subsidies and specialty support programs were implemented in the United States on national and regional levels to foster sustainable agricultural and forestry practices (Galarraga, Gonzalez-Eguino, & Markandya, 2011).

Minimizing the effects and reducing the acceleration of anthropogenic climate change (ACC) has become a societal priority. ACC is the belief that human actions, especially emissions produced by human activities, have an accelerating impact on the rate of climate change that would otherwise occur naturally (NASA, 2013). Nearly all papers (97.1%, *n* = 3,896) published since 1997 that expressed a position on climate change and global warming agreed that the human population contributes to climate change (Cook et al., 2013). The scientific conclusion that humans are impacting the climate and warming the planet through land clearing and the burning of fossil fuels is accepted by governments globally (Macdonald, 2013). As the consensus over the existence and impacts of ACC continues to grow stronger within scientific communities, the global environmental problem becomes increasingly debated within political and societal arenas (Dunlap & McCright, 2011). Increasing debates in socio-political fields has led to public disbelief of ACC and declining trust in climate scientists (Leiserowitz, Maibach, Roser-Renouf, Smith, & Dawson, 2012).

Before the Reagan administration of the 1980's, support for environmental protection and action within the United States was relatively nonpartisan; Republicans supported the establishment of national parks and forests by Theodore Roosevelt and Democrats backed Franklin Delano Roosevelt when he included conservation as part of the New Deal in the form of the Soil Conservation Service and related programs (Dunlap & McCright, 2008). However, a widening gap in views on climate between Republican and Democratic political elites, party leaders, and political pundits, has occurred (Dunlap & McCright, 2008) beginning with the conservative resurgence against progressive gains of the 1960s and 1970s (Lapham, 2004).

Political debates over climate change have expanded to the terminology state employees are authorized to use. Employees of the Florida State Department of Environmental Protection were given verbal directions not to use the terms "climate change" or "global warming" in any official communications, reports, or emails (Huppke, 2015). In Wisconsin, the Board of Commissioners of Public Lands passed approval of a rule banning state employees from discussing climate change, even in inquiries from the public (Huppke, 2015).

Even with increased coverage of climate change in the mass media, conservatives have become less likely over the last decade to believe that climate change is already occurring, unlike liberals who are more likely to believe it is (Dunlap & McCright, 2008). The decline for public concern over climate change can partially be explained through early agenda-setting research, which found that when mass media considers an issue to be important, the audience receiving the message will also consider the issue to be important (Cohen, 1963; McCombs & Shaw, 1972). Agenda setting can be measured through issue salience, or the importance that the audience attaches to an issue (Niemi & Bartels, 1985). Declining interest and belief in climate change is partially explained through the creation of doubt portrayed in mass media by political and vested interests, which often challenge the existence of scientific consensus on climate change (Lewandowsky, Gignac, & Vaughan, 2012). Weber and Stern (2011) found the issue of climate change and global warming to be highly contested in the United States, with various actors in private industry and politics seeking to frame the issue and public response in a way that favors their interests.

Since the U.S. economy is closely linked to fossils fuel and their derivative industries, those industries are motivated to present information to the public that climate change is not a serious issue. The fossil fuel industry often depicts the scientific consensus that climate change is occurring as controversial and theoretical. The industry presents the idea that government regulations designed to mitigate climate change would only result in economic restrictions that would hurt the U.S. economy (Dispensa & Brulle, 2003). This process, in communication, is known as framing. Framing focuses on how issues or other objects are depicted within the media and how an issue can be viewed through a variety of perspectives (Weaver, 2007), and the process by which individuals develop a particular conceptualization of an issue or reconceptualize their way of thinking about an issue (Chong & Druckman, 2007). Framing also takes into consideration that an issue can be portrayed as having multiple implications for multiple values or considerations (Weaver, 2007). Frames are important in communication; they can and do affect the attitudes and behaviors of audiences (Chong & Druckman, 2007). However, frames are only effective if the audience's preexisting interpretations are considered (Nisbet, 2009), as an issue can be viewed from a variety of perspectives and designed to resonate with multiple values or considerations of the audience (Chong & Druckman, 2007).

A series of audience segmentation studies by the Yale Project on Climate Change and the George Mason University Center for Climate Change Communication, known as Global Warming's Six America's, has identified six cohesive groups that share similar beliefs, attitudes, and behavior in relation to climate change (Leiserowitz, Maibach, Roser-Renourf, Feinberg, & Howe, 2013). Six unique audience groups with varying beliefs and attitudes towards climate change and efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions were identified within the Six America's

audience segmentation analysis of the American public (Maibach, Roser-Renouf, & Leiserowitz, 2009). The six groups have varying levels of issue salience ranging from the alarmed, who are positive climate change is happening and very concerned about the risk, to the dismissive, who believe climate change is a hoax (Leiserowitz et al., 2013). Agricultural producers have expressed varying degrees of belief in climate change in a similar manner to the authors of the Six America's study (Arbuckle, et al., 2013).

In the face of an American public that is largely divided in its beliefs about climate change (Leiserowitz et al., 2011), President Barack Obama announced a pledge in 2009, that by 2020 the United States would reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions to 17% below 2005 levels (Executive Office of the President, 2013). The plan was announced with the stipulation that all other major economies must also agree to limit GHG (Executive Office of the President, 2013). In June of 2013, President Obama presented a Climate Action Plan consisting of executive actions based on three key areas: cutting carbon pollution in America, preparing the U.S. for the impacts of climate change, and leading international efforts to combat global climate change (Executive Office of the President, 2013). Maintaining agricultural sustainability is one area of focus within the Climate Action Plan. Seven regional climate hubs were established by the Climate Action Plan to deliver science-based knowledge to farmers, ranchers, and forest landowners (Executive Office of the President, 2013). The Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub (SPRCH) was established as one of the seven regional climate hubs to address climaterelated agricultural challenges in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas through collaboration with federal and state agencies, Native American tribes, private agencies, cooperatives, and conservation groups (USDA Climate Hubs, 2015). Understanding how agricultural producers

currently view climate change and prefer to receive messages, will assist SPRCH employees in delivering science-based agricultural and land management tools and strategies for responding to impacts of climate change.

Statement of the Problem

Although there is a scientific majority that agrees climate change is happening (Cook et al., 2013), and is caused by anthropogenic actions (USGCRP, 2009), there is still a significant amount of the agricultural population that does not believe, acknowledge, or understand climate change and how it is happening (Arbuckle, Morton, & Hobbs, 2013a; Barnes & Toma, 2012; Haden, Niles, Lubell, Perlman, & Jackson, 2012; Hamilton, Hamilton, Duncan, & Colocousis, 2007). Research has found that in order for agricultural producers to remain sustainable and profitable, adaptive and mitigating actions must be taken and implemented (Aalst et al., 2014). SPRCH was established in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas as a collaborative effort to deliver science-based information to agricultural producers on the issue of climate change (USDA Climate Hubs, 2015).

Delivery of science-based information on climate change will pose challenges to those individuals and organizations tasked with doing so. Public perceptions about climate change are still widely varied and in the Midwest, where individuals tend to be conservative and doubt climate change communication will be even more challenging (Dunlap & McCright, 2008; Hamilton et al., 2007; Nisbet & Myers, 2007). The dismissive demographic profiles of audience segmentation analysis identified in the Six Americas and other audience studies (Arbuckle et al., 2013a; Leiserowitz et al., 2013; Maibach et al., 2009; Rolfe-Redding, Maibach, Feldman, & Leiserowitz, 2012) follows the same demographic characteristics identified by the USDA Census

of Agriculture as the majority of farm owners within the United States (Vilsack & Clark, 2012). The demographic identified by the Six Americas study and aligning with the USDA Census of Agriculture identifies the dismissive group as white males, between the ages of 45 to 64, with typically politically conservative ideals, as being less likely to believe in ACC than other audience segments (Vilsack & Clark, 2012). The identified demographic group also owns roughly 95% of all U.S. farms (Vilsack & Clark, 2012).

Farmers, ranchers, and forestry landowners now face an urgent pressure to adjust their agricultural practices to make them more resistant to the impacts of climate change, variable weather, and to reduce production of greenhouse gases (Howden et al., 2007). Potential adaptation options are available at the management level on farming operations, which are often variations of existing climate-risk management (Howden et al., 2007). However, if farmers do not believe climate change is occurring or do not perceive it as a threat to their livelihoods, it is not likely they will embrace adaptive or mitigating actions; likewise, those farmers that believe climate change is occurring and perceive higher risk of negative impacts are more likely to endorse adaptive action (Arbuckle, Morton, & Hobbs, 2013b; Howden et al., 2007). Many producers have implemented adaptive measures in their operations (Campbell Hibbs et al., 2014) but are still hesitant to accept climate change as happening or understand the cause of the perceived risks involved (Arbuckle et al., 2013a).

The goal of audience segmentation is to identify and segment the general public into relatively homogeneous, mutually exclusive subgroupings, often based on similar demographics and perceived product needs (Hine et al., 2014). In this study, audience segmentation will be used to

examine agricultural producers based on their relative issue salience relating to climate change and their belief in climate change. Audience segmentation has been utilized in health and political fields with growing interest and research in climate-change communication (Hine et al., 2014). Research suggests that in order for an audience segment to fully understand information about climate change, the information must be actively communicated using appropriate language, metaphor, and analogy (Shome et al., 2009). Arbuckle et al. (2013) identified that agricultural producers were largely supportive of adaptive actions to prepare for extreme weather events, suggesting that terminology used to discuss climate change impacts may play an important role in adaptation.

Trust in media source also has implications in one's belief in climate change and willingness to implement adaptive and mitigating actions (Arbuckle et al., 2013). Farmers that expressed trust in organizations that are environmentally oriented were also more likely to believe in climate change, whereas those who reported trust in agricultural interests were less likely to believe in climate change (Arbuckle et al., 2013). The connection between higher levels of trust in agricultural organizations and non-belief in climate change supports the "denial machine" concept outlined by Dunlap and McCright (2011) which works to manufacture uncertainty and shape the public's perception of climate change. It also suggests that agricultural communicators may have the opportunity to engage producers through agricultural interests to adapt to climate change (Arbuckle et al., 2013).

Purpose of Study and Research Objectives

The acceptance of ACC is influenced by many factors including political identity, demographic profiles, education level, and use of media and agricultural press sources. While improving acceptance and beliefs about climate change is still necessary, encouraging producers to embrace adaptive measures through framing and risk perception has become an important goal of the federal administration and is needed to maintain agriculture within the United States (Executive Office of the President, 2013). It has been suggested in previous research that audience segmentation is one way to reach agricultural producers to encourage adaptive and mitigative actions (Arbuckle et al., 2013; Hine et al., 2014; Maibach et al., 2009).

Although there has been some research conducted investigating agricultural producers' beliefs in the existence of climate change, the causes, and needed responses, the topic has received very little attention regarding agricultural audience specific climate-change communication.

Understanding the audience of agricultural producers will assist in identifying appropriate frames, messages, and messengers with the greatest impact (Moser & Dilling, 2011). Reaching audiences as an individual audience segment using terminology they accept and understand is one aspect of the needed climate-change communication (Shome et al., 2009). Arbuckle (2013) identified six classes of risk, efficacy, and support for action perspectives on climate change held by farmers in the Midwest.

The purpose of this study was to investigate the frames and messages agricultural producers in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas use and accept related to climate change and the impacts of a changing climate. It was of additional interest to identify their preferred agricultural media

sources for climate and climate-change information, as well as the relation of issue salience to their belief in climate change.

Specific research objectives to guide the study are:

- RO1: Describe the level of issue salience agricultural producers have related to climatechange belief;
- RO2: Investigate frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to the scientifically designated phenomena of climate change and impacts; and
- RO3: Identify the agricultural media and information channels agricultural producers use for climate change.

Based on findings in previous research, one hypothesis was developed:

 H1: Agricultural producers in the Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub area will be located within the audience segment groups of the concerned and the cautious as identified in the Six America's (2012) study.

Assumptions

The most significant assumption in this study is that agricultural producers are at least superficially aware of changes in the climate and potential impact of climate change on their production and sustained profitability. Further assumptions exist regarding the desire of producers to adapt their productions to changing climates to maintain or increase profitability.

Definition of Key Terms

 Adaption – A response to perceived vulnerability to the impacts of climate change with the intent to reduce risks to the farm operation (Arbuckle et al., 2013).

- Agenda Setting Agenda setting describes the phenomena by which prominent aspects of
 public affairs in the news become prominent in the minds of the public (McCombs &
 Shaw, 1972).
- Agricultural Producer An individual that is actively engaged in producing agricultural products or goods (O'Donoghue, Hoppe, Banker, & Korb, 2009).
- Anthropogenic Climate Change (ACC) "Made by people or resulting from human activities. Usually used in the context of emissions that are produced as a result of human activities" (NASA, 2013).
- Climate Change "Climate change refers to any significant change in the measures of climate lasting for an extended period of time. In other words, climate change includes major changes in temperature, precipitation, or wind patterns, among others, that occur over several decades or longer." (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2013).
- Extreme Weather Events Non-typical or rare weather events such as drought, flooding, tornadoes and hurricanes, that often lead to financial loss, property damage or loss of life (NOAA, n.d.).
- Framing The way issues or other objects are presented in the media (Weaver, 2007).
- Great Plains A 12-state geographic area including Colorado, Iowa, Kansas, Minnesota,
 Montana, Nebraska, New Mexico, North Dakota, Oklahoma, South Dakota, Texas, and
 Wyoming (Rathge, Olson, Danielson, & Clemenson, 2001).
- Issue Salience Issue salience describes the importance individuals place on an issue or subject (Niemi & Bartels, 1985).

- Mitigation Government action through policy and regulation in greenhouse gas
 emissions to reduce emissions, tax emission, and market-based cap and trade (Arbuckle
 et al., 2013).
- Southern Great Plains A region in the Great Plains that includes Kansas, Oklahoma,
 and Texas (USDA Climate Hubs, 2015).
- Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub (SPRCH) one of the seven regional climate hubs to address climate-related agricultural challenges in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas through collaboration with federal and state agencies, Native American tribes, private agencies, cooperatives, and conservation groups (USDA Climate Hubs, 2015).
- Weather Patterns The definition and use of the term weather pattern varies widely. For
 this study it is defined as a pattern of weather that occurs over a short period of time,
 typically from year-to-year (NOAA, 2011).
- Weather Variability For this study, weather variability refers to increased daily variations and changes in weather (Arbuckle et al., 2013).

Summary

Results of climate change, such as successive and extreme events like flooding and droughts, combined with increasing average temperatures and rising water demand, pose a higher risk in rural communities for loss of rural livelihoods, severe economic losses in agriculture, as well as damage to cultural values and identity (Aalst et al., 2014). Many producers have implemented adaptive measures in their operations (Campbell Hibbs et al., 2014), but are still hesitant to accept climate change as happening or understand the cause of the perceived risks involved (Arbuckle et al., 2013). Iowa farmers stated beliefs of the causes of climate change – whether

natural, caused by human activity, a combination of the both, or simply not happening – seem to be less important as a predictor of support for adaptation than expressed concern for impacts (Arbuckle et al., 2013a). Researchers are unsure why this occurs, but speculate that it could be because a farmer's decision to adapt, or not adapt, does not require the farmer to understand the underlying causes or sources of risk (Gordon et al., 2013).

The purpose of this study was to investigate the frames and messages agricultural producers in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas use and accept related to climate change and the impacts of a changing climate. It was of additional interest to identify their preferred agricultural media sources for climate and climate-change information, as well as the relation of issue salience to their belief in climate change. Agricultural producers are treated as an audience segment; audience segments are helpful when addressing the American public because of the widely varied beliefs and responses to ACC (Maibach et al., 2009). It was of additional interest to investigate the relationship between preferred frames, political identity, and preference and use of information sources. Specific research objectives to guide the study are RO1: describe the level of issue salience agricultural producers have related to climate change; RO2: investigate the frames and messages agricultural producers prefer in reference to the scientifically designated phenomena of climate change and impacts; and RO3: identify the agricultural media and information channels agricultural producers use for climate change. Based on findings in previous research, one hypothesis was developed: H1: agricultural producers in the Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub area will be located within the audience segment groups of the concerned and the cautious as identified in the Six America's (2012) study.

Chapter 2 - Review of Literature

The purpose of this study was to investigate the frames and messages agricultural producers in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas use and accept related to climate change and the impacts of a changing climate. The focus is on understanding how agenda setting can impact attitudes and beliefs agricultural producers have towards the issue of climate change and how communicators can best frame audience-segmented, climate-change material to encourage adaptation and mitigation on farm-level management strategies. In order to better understand framing and audience segmentation in climate change, an extensive literature review was conducted by gathering literature from a wide breadth of communication disciplines. To build a theoretical base for the study, the literature review includes the history and application of agenda-setting theory in communication research and risk perception. History pertaining to the study of climate change and representations in media were also explored.

Climate Change Science

The connection to atmospheric concentrations of gases and the understanding that Earth's climate is subject to those concentrations, creating a greenhouse effect, has been studied and acknowledged for over a century (Treut et al., 2007). High accuracy measurements of atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂), beginning in 1958 by Charles David Keeling, form the master time basis documenting the changing composition of the atmosphere (Keeling, 1961). The data set collected by Keeling (1961) provides empirical evidence of the effects human activity has had on the chemical composition of Earth's atmosphere (Treut et al., 2007). Later studies of parallel trends in atmospheric levels of ¹³CO₂ isotope identified by tree rings (Francey & Farquhar, 1982) and molecular oxygen (O₂) (Bender, Ellis, & Tans, 1996; Keeling & Shertz,

1992) solidly identified the rise in atmospheric CO₂ as an effect of the burning of fossil fuels. Historic data was gathered from analysis of captured CO₂ bubbles in ice cores from Greenland and Antarctica, which indicated significantly lower levels during the last ice age (Barnola, Raynaud, Korotkevich, & Lorius, 1987; Delmas, Ascencio, & Legrand, 1980).

ACC studies first appeared in the public agenda in the mid-to-late 1980's (Moser, 2010). Studies show that average global temperature has risen by 1.3°F to 1.9°F since 1895, with the highest increase occurring since 1970, with projected rises in temperature of another 2°F to 4°F over the next few decades (Melillo, Richmond, & Yohe, 2014). Climate changes are expected to have an impact across many sectors of the Earth including increased occurrence of extreme weather events, damage to vulnerable populations, human health and wellbeing, infrastructure, water quality and supply, and disruptions and changes to agricultural and traditional cropping systems (Melillo et al., 2014).

Agricultural Impact on Climate Change

On a global scale, agricultural GHG emissions contribute approximately 12% of the total anthropogenic GHG emissions (IPCC, 2007a). Agricultural operations produce 60% of the global nitrous oxide (N₂O) and 50% of global methane (CH₄) emissions (IPCC, 2007a). N₂O is a more potent GHG with a radiative forcing potential that is 12 times larger than CH₄. Wheat, maize, and other upland crops are the primary sources of N₂O emissions, with the majority of emissions coming from the application of nitrogen (N) in the form of fertilizer (Van Groenigen, Velthof, Oenema, Van Groenigen, & Van Kessel, 2010). Adaption and mitigation opportunities

exist within cropping systems to reduce GHG emissions while improving yields (Linquist, Groenigen, Adviento-Borbe, Pittelkow, & Kessel, 2012).

Climate Change Science and Agriculture in the Southern Plains

Negative impacts of climate change are expected and have been observed in the Southern Plains; however, crop production in high-latitude regions has been positively impacted (Porter et al., 2014). A shift in production area occurred in response to more favorable climactic conditions in North Dakota and South Dakota. Maize and soybean production has increased in both areas based on acreage dedicated to production (Hatfield, 2013). The expansion in production is due largely to the increase in summer precipitation and no-till cropping practices, which has increased the soil water availability to the crop, although there has not been a significant change in temperature in northern regions of the Great Plains (Hatfield, 2013). Winter wheat regions of Oregon and Washington may also benefit from increased rainfall and less snowfall during the winter growing season (Lettenmaier, Major, Poff, & Running, 2008).

In addition to changes in precipitation and temperature, CO₂ concentrations have, and are expected to continue to increase in the coming years (Hatfield, 2013). Higher concentrations of CO₂ may have a positive impact on plant growth through increases in water use efficiency resulting in greater biomass and yields (Hatfield et al., 2011). Although increased levels of CO₂ may positively impact crops and crop yields, the positive impacts may not fully mitigate the negative losses caused by heat stress, increases in evaporative demand, and/or decreases in water availability in some regions (Hatfield et al., 2011).

Climate change is expected to negatively impact crop yields in wheat and corn production for many regions (Porter et al., 2014). In the Great Plains and Southern Plains of the United States, the impacts of climate change on agricultural production are already being experienced.

Warming winters and alterations in the timing and magnitude of rainfall have changed crop growth cycles (Shafer et al., 2014). Warmer overnight temperatures, specifically during the reproductive stages, will reduce fruit and grain production because the increased rate of development and increased respiration rates. Increased temperatures reduce grain yields and produce serious consequences in terms of the stability of grain production (Hatfield et al., 2011).

Several climate and weather hazards exist in the Southern Plains including floods, droughts, severe storms, tornadoes, hurricanes, and winter storms, with projections for more intense droughts, rainfall, and heat waves (Shafer et al., 2014). Expected impacts of climate change in the Southern Plains include a higher frequency of days over 100°F and nights with minimum temperatures higher than 80°F (Kunkel et al., 2013). Surface water loss, heat stress on animals and crops, and overwintering insect populations as a result of increasing annual temperatures and significant heat waves will have a significant negative impact on agriculture (Kunkel et al., 2013). Increases in extreme heat will have far more negative impact on agriculture in the Southern Plains than benefits. Summer drying is expected in large parts of Texas and Oklahoma projected to experience longer dry spells and periods of drought (Kunkel et al., 2013).

Declines in precipitation and increases in evaporation due to higher temperatures have increased irrigation demand and exacerbate current stress on the Ogallala Aquifer and the High Plains Aquifer, accelerating the depletion of the aquifers and limiting irrigation (Konikow, 2011;

Scanlon, Gates, Reedy, Jackson, & Bordovsky, 2010). Holding other factors of climate change impacts constant, the shift from irrigated crop production to dryland production would reduce yields by a factor of two (Colaizzi, Gowda, Marek, & Porter, 2009).

Increases in high temperatures and heat waves will also negatively affect livestock and concentrated feeding operations (Hahn, Gaughan, Mader, & Eigenberg, 2009; Mader, Frank, Harrington, Hahn, & Nienaber, 2009). The droughts of 2011 and 2012 caused many ranchers to liquidate their herds due to a lack of available forage sources and water (Shafer et al., 2014). Increased precipitation in some regions may positively impact rangeland and pasture growth, although the increased variability of rainfall in other regions in conjunction with warming trends may lead to regional drought (Wang, 2005). Rising annual temperatures should accelerate plant metabolism and developmental processes, cause an earlier spring greening, and ultimately increase the length of pasture season; however, these responses will vary among grassland species (Badeck et al., 2004). Increased ambient air and soil temperatures may enhance plant productivity, but negative effects are expected in existing hot and dry regions (Izaurralde, Thomson, Morgan, Fay, & Polley, 2011).

Warmer winters pose challenges for agriculture with some pests and invasive weeds surviving through winter months (Hu, Weiss, Feng, & Baenziger, 2005). An expanded range of pests and insects will further exaggerate the stress on crops (Hatfield et al., 2011). Winter crops that leave dormancy earlier are more susceptible to spring freezes (NOAA & USDA, 2008) and shortened winters will also result in lessened periods of dormancy for winter wheat grazing for livestock (Hu et al., 2005).

Agenda Setting

Political scientist, Bernard Cohen (1963), summarized in his research of press and foreign policy that the media fails to tell audiences what to think, but rather what to think about. Cohen's exploration of press and foreign policy would serve as the foundation for future agenda-setting research. Agenda setting describes the phenomena by which prominent aspects of public affairs in the news become prominent in the minds of the public (McCombs & Shaw, 1972). McCombs and Shaw (1972), in their seminal study, examined agenda-setting theory in the realm of the political agenda during the 1968 United States presidential campaign. Agenda-setting effects were studied across undecided voter groups of Democrats, Republicans, and Independents, with between group comparisons to discover individual differences often lost in examining voter groups as a whole (McCombs & Shaw, 1972). Comparisons between voter groups revealed agenda-setting functions for a variety of issues and media channels with minimal differences between groups. The discovery of the correlational relationship with minimal differences between groups supported the position of agenda-setting theory; the public learns about an issue and attaches importance to it through its prevalence in mass media positing that the media has the ability to set the agenda through editorial choices (McCombs & Shaw, 1972).

Agenda setting is identified as occurring on two levels. The first, or initial, level of agenda setting focuses on relative salience, or perceived importance, of objects (McCombs, 2005). The term object is used in agenda-setting research to designate about what an individual has an opinion or attitude (McCombs, 2005). Each object also has a set of attributes, characteristics, and traits that describe the object. In this study the object would be defined as climate change. When the media and individuals discuss and think about an object, some attributes are emphasized,

while others are rarely mentioned. The second level of agenda setting examines the relative salience of attributes of issues (McCombs, 2005). Second-level agenda setting has also been described as framing in communications research. McCombs (1997) suggests that the second level of agenda setting is the selection of a restricted number of related attributes when discussing an issue in the media agenda.

Issue Salience

McCombs and Shaw (1972) state that agenda setting should be measured in terms of issue salience, which describes the importance individuals place on an issue or subject (Niemi & Bartels, 1985). There is an important distinction to make between issue salience and issue position. Issue salience describes the perceived importance of the issue, whereas issue position describes the relative approval of a policy (Erbring, Goldenberg, & Miller, 1980). When agenda setting occurs, the media influences the importance that the public attached to an issue, patterning the public agenda on the media agenda (McCombs, 2004). Issues must become salient with individuals before they can truly become subjects of attitudes (Erbring et al., 1980).

Issue salience and agenda setting are not deliberate influences planned by the media, but rather a result of the necessity for media outlets to select and report on a few topics as the most salient at the time (McCombs, 1997). McCombs (2004) found individual salience of issues rises and falls with shifting attention of the public and mass media on a specific issue. The number of media channels have increased over time, increasing the amount of issues covered and competition for public attention, resulting in a higher rate of issue turnover (McCombs & Zhu, 1995). The

shifting focus on an issue is caused in part by the ability of society to only focus on a few issues at a time; typically no more than five to seven (McCombs, 2004).

Expansion of Agenda-Setting Theory

Since the research of McCombs and Shaw (1972), several studies have been conducted to further explore individual characteristics in agenda setting. Political partisanship in agenda setting was studied by McLeod, Becker, and Byrnes (1974) by examining two local newspapers in Madison, Wisconsin, one conservative and the other liberal, for the influence of press opinion on rankordering of political issues by the readerships. Although researchers found an influence between press opinion and the opinions of readership, they disagreed with the methods previously used to study agenda setting (McCombs, 2004). McLeod et al. (1974) proposed controlling for perceived issues saliences of users of a specific medium by testing users of another medium who were as similar as possible to the target audience in regard to socioeconomic and political attributes. Benton and Frazier (1976) found that similar issues were emphasized by Minneapolis, Minnesota, newspapers. Surveys were administered to test respondents on three specific information levels. Information levels included awareness of issues, awareness of proposed solutions to issues, and specific knowledge about the proposals (Benton & Frazier, 1976). Early studies focused exclusively on election campaigns in what is described as a mirror-image hypothesis about media effects in agenda-setting (Erbring et al., 1980). Mirror-image research attempted to make connections between the relative frequency of media coverage of a set of issues and the relative salience among the audience of the same set of issues (McCombs & Shaw, 1972; McLeod et al., 1974).

Erbring et al. (1980) argued that mirror-image studies of agenda setting in media were not an adequate measure of issue salience because individuals gain issue concerns from sources other than the media – often from personal experiences, community perspectives, and real-world conditions. Individual factors will vary across the audience as well as within issues and over time (Erbring et al., 1980). With consideration for individual differences and varying sources of issue concern, Erbring et al. (1980) matched each survey respondent with content information from newspapers each individual had read. Survey data was then paired with contextual data on local unemployment and crime rates for joint analysis of the survey, media content, and contextual variables allowing for deeper analysis of agenda-setting beyond presence (Erbring et al., 1980). Results indicated that informal communication about politics with peers was a stronger indicator of issue salience than that of specific media or real-world context, leading to the proposal of a model of audience effects, which assumes that media interacts with the audience's pre-existing sensitivities (Erbring et al., 1980).

Other contingent conditions have been examined in the context of agenda setting, including the concept of need for orientation (McCombs & Shaw, 1993). Orientation describes the need for individuals to be familiar with their surroundings, both within a physical and cognitive environment (McCombs & Weaver, 1973). The psychological basis for orientation comes from Tolman (1932) and the concept of cognitive mapping; individuals will strive to map the world around themselves, gathering enough detail to become oriented and navigate intellectually through society. McCombs (1967) found different levels of need for orientation accounted for varying levels of effectiveness in newspaper editorial endorsements in select California political

campaigns. The need for individual orientation to navigate political issues through the use of media, opens individuals to the effects of agenda setting (McCombs & Weaver, 1973).

Navigation of media outlets has changed greatly for the general public since agenda-setting was first studied. The evolution of media over time, and the ever changing mediums employed by the distribution channels, have expanded the realm of agenda setting to include online editions of newspapers, thus causing the research focus of agenda setting to include that medium (McCombs, 2005). Baker and Irani (2014) expanded the realm of agenda-setting research by including new media, specifically the blogosphere, online newspapers, and online public opinion. Political scientists have also applied agenda-setting theory to political actors, determining, in part, how the actions they take, the issues they give attention to, and how they determine their stance on an issue, are all influenced by mass media (Baker & Irani, 2014; Cook et al., 1983; Dursun-Ozkanca, 2011).

Agenda-setting research has also explored the interaction of media, public, and decision makers' agendas suggesting that the flow of information is not one way from the media to the public (Baker & Irani, 2014; Brosius & Weimann, 1996). Instead, the flow of agenda setting is two-way in nature (McCombs & Shaw, 1972; McCombs, 2004). Interpersonal communication can enhance agenda-setting effects when issues receive extensive coverage in the media, but it may also interfere with salience of issues that receive less attention (McCombs & Shaw, 1972; McCombs, 2004). Brosius and Weimann (1996) explored four models of information flow, finding that influential individuals can influence the effects of media agenda setting.

Interpersonal communication can also act as a mediator of mass media campaign effects

(McCombs & Shaw, 1972; McCombs, 2004). Agenda-setting effects can also work in reverse, with the public setting the agenda for the mass media and political actors. Baker and Irani (2014) found that the blogosphere, online newspapers, and online public opinion shaped the policy agenda.

Framing

Framing theory, also considered to be second-level agenda setting, is based on the premise that an issue can be viewed from a variety of perspectives and can be constructed to have implications for multiple values or considerations (Chong & Druckman, 2007). The process by which individuals develop a particular conceptualization of an issue or reorient the way they think about an issue, is known as framing (Chong & Druckman, 2007). Goffman (1974) was one of the first researchers to develop the concept of framing. The theoretical basis for framing comes from several disciplines, with the origin of frames in communication based in sociology. Frames help individuals organize and understand things they see in everyday life (Goffman, 1974). Frames are also defined as devices that help journalists and communicators package information effectively for their audience (Gitling, 1980).

Communication framing can influence the way individuals process information and their subsequent decision-making processes. Kahnem and Tversky (1979) studied loss aversion in communication frames finding that individuals tended to dislike losses more than equal gains and were more likely to take risks when information highlighted the possibility of losses as opposed to gains. Empirical evidence supporting the stronger influence of loss frames is inconsistent, and it appears that gain and loss framing success is dependent on other factors

including the behavior in question and the relationship each individual has with that behavior (Maheswaran & Meyers-Levy, 1990; Rothman, Bartels, Wlasching, & Salovery, 2006). Loss frames have been found to be more effective when the behavior of the issue is considered to be risky, and gain frames are more effective when the behavior is considered to be safe (Banks et al., 1995; Edwards, Elwyn, Covey, Matthews, & Pill, 2001). Framing a message requires a mode or presentation that resonates with the existing mindset of the audience (Shoemaker & Reese, 1996). Focusing a message on a specific consideration is known as an emphasis approach to framing and can influence audience members to focus on those particular issues (Druckman, 2001).

Agenda Setting in Climate Change and Agriculture

Agriculture is within a consumer society where consumers and consumption are dependent upon socio-cultural and economic life (Dagevos, 2005). The public has increasingly become more concerned with the impact of agriculture on the well-being of society, leading to increased rules and regulations by governments in industrialized countries (Blandford & Fulponi, 1999). Public opinion helped shape the regulation of organic food labeling and increased consumer demand for organic and local-food options (Adams & Salois, 2010). Media attention for agricultural based issues are driven by event based occurrences, this is unlike environmental issues, which are often covered in cycles (Shih, Wijaya, & Brossard, 2008). While most experts agree that carbon dioxide emissions and other greenhouse gases are causing ACC, public concern for the issue has been declining (Lewandowsky et al., 2012).

The media and the public are influenced by the current political agenda of those in office. Historically, support for environmental protection within the United States has been relatively nonpartisan; however, a widening gap in views on climate change between Republican and Democratic political elites, party leaders, and political pundits, has occurred (Dunlap & McCright, 2008). Even with increased coverage of climate change in the mass media, Republicans have become less likely over the last decade to believe climate change is already occurring, unlike Democrats who are more likely to believe (Dunlap & McCright, 2008).

Organized Climate Change Denial

Declining interest and belief in climate change is partially explained through the creation of doubt by political and vested interests, which often challenge the existence of scientific consensus in climate change (Lewandowsky et al., 2012). Weber and Stern (2011) found that the issue of climate change and global warming is highly contested in the United States, with various actors in private industry and politics seeking to frame the issue and public response in a way that favors their interests. The fossil fuel industry often depicts the scientific consensus that climate change is occurring as controversial and theoretical. This industry continually presents ideas that proposals for government regulations to mitigate climate change would only result in economic restrictions that would hurt the U.S. economy (Dispensa & Brulle, 2003). Variations in media focus on environmental and health issues change with political climate and concurrent issues (Shih et al., 2008).

Brechin and Freeman (2004) partially attribute the inability of the public to focus on environmental issues due to the supremacy of media coverage to other specific political issues.

For example, the terrorist attack in the United States on September 11, 2001, and the following sustained military engagement abroad, dominated news coverage in American media throughout all mediums (Brechin & Freeman, 2004; Shih et al., 2008). It has also been suggested that the corporate influence, ownership, and interests in the American media influence the amount of coverage given to news stories covering climate change and global warming (Dispensa & Brulle, 2003). Media owners and leaders in the United States have ties to industries, such as the fossil fuel industry, that rely on the lack of regulations in their industries to profit and therefore present information to the public that undermines the scientific consensus that climate change is occurring because of human causes (Dispensa & Brulle, 2003).

Climate Change Issue Salience

The general public of the United States does not fully understand the causes and impacts of climate change (Ding, Maibach, Zhao, Roser-Renouf, & Leiserowitz, 2011; Maibach et al., 2009; Weber & Stern, 2011). Perceptions of scientific agreement that climate change is happening also widely varied in the Six Americas study. Over 40% of respondents from the Global Warming's Six Americas (Leiserowitz et al., 2013) stated that they believed scientists did not agree whether or not global warming was happening, or that most scientists think global warming is not happening, this is contrary to the 97% of scientific research papers that agree climate change is occurring (Cook et al., 2013).

The decline for public concern over climate change can partially be explained through early agenda-setting research, which found that when mass media considers an issue to be important, the audience receiving the message will also consider the issue to be important (Cohen, 1963;

McCombs & Shaw, 1972). According to Soroka (2002) environmental issues are more open to media influence because individuals do not experience the impacts of environmental issues on a daily basis.

Campbell Hibbs et al. (2014) found that many producers are already making changes within their farming practice in response to current weather conditions. Farmers in Iowa also expressed support for adaptive action that focuses on preparing for more extreme weather events (Arbuckle et al., 2013). Iowa farmers stated beliefs of the causes of climate change – whether natural, caused by human activity, a combination of the both, or simply not happening – seem to be less important as a predictor of support for adaptation than expressed concern for impacts (Arbuckle et al., 2013a). Researchers are unsure why this occurs, but speculate that it could be because the farmer decision to adapt, or not adapt, does not require the farmer to understand the underlying causes or sources of risk (Gordon et al., 2013). The findings of Gordon et al. (2013) contradicts the position that an issue must be salient before it can become a subject of attitudes (Erbring et al., 1980).

Framing of Climate Change Related Messages

The way in which communications about climate change are framed has a considerable impact on the way the messages are received (Spence & Pidgeon, 2010). Communication frames are increasingly being used to influence and encourage sustainable behavior in regards to climate change (Spence & Pidgeon, 2010). Communication and framing of risk to influence behavior change has been thoroughly studied in relation to personal health, policy, and other academic fields. There is a lack of empirical evidence about the most effective strategies for

communicating and presenting climate change risks and adaptation and mitigation options, and whether or not theories developed in other risk domains are transferrable to climate change issues (Pelletier & Sharp, 2008).

Individuals have many perceptions about the dangers and risks associated with climate change, and each individual has varying judgements about the complex science, potential future impacts, and values used to establish whether a particular outcome is acceptable or not (Lorenzoni, Pidgeon, & O'Connor, 2005). Varying perceptions of risk and danger associated with climate change make it impossible to present information without some amount of context (Hulme, 2009). Framing can be used to understand the way such information can be presented and assists in understanding a range of environmental issues and problems including climate change (Miller, 2000).

Gain and loss framing has been found to be effective in influencing climate change behaviors. Like health and behavior research, gain framed messages are more effective than loss frames in promoting positive attitudes towards climate change mitigation and were found to result in judgement of climate change impacts that were more severe (Spence & Pidgeon, 2010). Scannell and Gifford (2013) found that individuals that had been exposed to motivational-orientated frames were more likely to report competence and climate change engagement than those exposed to sacrifice-oriented frames. Additionally, the perceived severity of climate change can be increased by focusing on the future impacts of climate change and the benefits of mitigation (Spence & Pidgeon, 2010). Uncertainty about the impacts of climate change also play a role in the effectiveness of framing. When climate change impacts are framed positively, by focusing on

the possibility that losses as a result of climate change may not occur, uncertainty produces significantly stronger intentions to act than certainty (Morton, Rabinovich, Marshall, & Bretschneider, 2011). Focusing on frames of social impacts of climate change mitigation increased positive attitudes individuals have towards the acts of mitigation (Spence & Pidgeon, 2010).

Agricultural producers who expressed higher levels of trust in agricultural interests and publications were less likely to believe in or accept climate change, especially in the case of anthropogenic causes (Arbuckle et al., 2013b). Since farmers indicated trust in agricultural sources and agricultural press, improving understanding and acceptance of climate change research and policy should be conducted through those avenues (Arbuckle et al., 2013b).

Risk Perception in Climate Change

Perception of risk matters in predicting behavior and behavioral attention, and the perceptions held by the public vary greatly in regards to climate change (O'Connor, Bord, & Fisher, 1999). Understanding how individuals perceive risk will allow communicators to frame messages. Knowledge and understanding of climate change is a powerful predictor of behavior that is independent from beliefs that climate change will happen and have negative impacts (O'Connor et al., 1999). Americans tend to believe the impacts of climate change will have moderate severity and most likely impact people in geographically different regions and at other times (Leiserowitz, 2005).

Risk perception literature on environmental risk began to emerge in the late 1960s. A prominent assumption within the body of literature is that individuals that perceive a relatively high likelihood of negative events are more likely to take personal mitigation actions and support government initiatives to do the same (O'Connor et al., 1999). Risk perceptions specific to climate change are predictors of behavioral intent for voluntary actions in adaptive and mitigative actions (O'Connor et al., 1999). Risk perceptions are socially constructed, with varying communities predisposed to fear and social amplification of some risks, while ignoring, discounting, or attenuating other risk (Leiserowitz, 2005).

Risk Perceptions in Climate Change Among Agricultural Producers

Recent studies conducted with farmers in Iowa indicate perceptions of climate risk are central to attitudes toward adaptation of farming practices and acceptance of mitigation practices (Arbuckle, et al., 2013a). Crop and livestock producers recruited through K-State Research and Extension agents in Kansas, expressed concerns related to climate changes, even if they did not believe in ACC (Campbell Hibbs et al., 2014). Concerns expressed were often linked to future productivity, profitability of farming, and government regulation of agricultural practices related to climate change (Campbell Hibbs et al., 2014). Overall, farmers were less supportive of government initiated greenhouse gas reduction efforts (Arbuckle et al., 2013b).

Campbell Hibbs et al. (2014) found that many producers are already making changes within their farming practice in response to current weather conditions. Farmers in Iowa expressed support for adaptive action that focused on preparing for more extreme weather events (Arbuckle et al., 2013). Iowa farmers stated beliefs of the causes of climate change, whether natural or caused by

human activity, a combination of both, or simply not happening, seemed to be less important as a predictor of support for adaptation than expressed concern for impacts (Arbuckle et al., 2013a). Researchers are unsure why this occurred, but speculate it could be because the farmer decision to adapt, or not adapt, does not require the farmer to understand the underlying causes or sources of risk (Arbuckle et al., 2013). This finding contradicted previous risk perception research which found that when individuals perceive a higher level of risk they are more likely to take personal actions to adapt to or mitigate the risk (O'Connor et al., 1999).

Perception of risk is closely linked to willingness to implement adaptation measures in agriculture (Arbuckle et al., 2013b). Farmers, ranchers, and forestry landowners face an urgent pressure to adjust agricultural practices to make them more resistant to impacts of climate change, variable weather, and to reduce production of greenhouse gases (Howden et al., 2007). Potential adaptation options are available at the management level on farming operations, which are often variations of existing climate-risk management strategies (Howden et al., 2007).

Agricultural producers distinguished between observable variations in an environment that is constantly changing and the concept of climate change (Campbell Hibbs et al., 2014) and have made changes in farming and livestock production to adapt to changing weather and weather variability (Arbuckle et al., 2013a, 2013b; Hibbs et al., 2014). However, the willingness to adapt is self-identified as a means to maintain profitability and not necessarily an indicator of producer understanding or acknowledgement of the underlying causes or sources of the risk associated with climate change (Arbuckle et al., 2013a). Since perceived risk plays a large role in producer willingness to implement and accept adaption and mitigation practices in relationship to climate

change, (Arbuckle et al., 2013a) it is important to understand the perception and preconceived ideas individuals have for specific words involved (Aldrich, 1980). Information sources also impact trust in messages and acceptance of terminology including understanding (Arbuckle et al., 2013b).

Audience Segmentation

Market segmentation was introduced in the mid-1950s by Wendell R. Smith (1956) who encouraged the development of products for subgroups of consumer who had similar needs, interests, and desires. The purpose of marketing segmentation is to create relatively homogenous, mutually exclusive subgroupings, typically based on demographic information and perceived product needs (Hine et al., 2014). After identifying market segments, marketers were able to craft messages and select specific communicators, delivering the messages through media channels that were best suited to each segment. The primary goal of this type of market segmentation was to reshape purchasing behavior (Hine et al., 2014).

Audience segmentation tactics have also been widely used in public health communication as a way to design engagement and behavior change programs for a variety of health related issues from sexually transmitted diseases (Rimal et al., 2009) to reducing alcohol consumption in adolescents (Mathijssen, Janssen, van Bon-Martens, & van de Goor, 2012). Targeted and tailored print health messages achieve significantly greater change in behavior than non-tailored, general messages (Noar, Benac, & Harris, 2007). The type of audience segmentation used in influencing health behavior is known as social marketing (Kotler & Zaltman, 1971). As Kotler and Zaltman (1971) defined it, social marketing is designed to promote social change through design,

implementation, and control of a program that is created to influence the acceptance of social ideas. Market segmentation and social marketing both utilize product planning, pricing, communication, distribution and marketing research (Kotler & Zaltman, 1971). Unlike market segmentation, which focuses on increasing profits, social marketing focuses on changing behaviors that are beneficial to the target audience and society as a whole.

Audience Segmentation and Climate Change

Communicators and researchers have growing interests in apply audience segmentation and social marketing to climate change communication (Hine et al., 2014). Over 25 climate change studies utilizing audience segmentation were identified by Hine et al. (2014). Researchers identified most climate change segmentation studies utilized surveys and large national samples with the intent of identifying audience segments with similar beliefs, attitudes, and behaviors related to climate change.

Variations in perception of climate change have been noted throughout geographical regions of the United States (Hamilton et al., 2007; Hamilton & Keim, 2009). Regional variations can be partially explained in the experience of individuals in each area. Those living in ski country and tourist areas that depend on winter snowfall for income, perceived the effects of climate change and global warming more with the lessening snowfall (Hamilton et al., 2007).

The Six Americas

The report series, *Global Warming's Six Americas*, used audience segmentation analysis to examine American's beliefs, attitudes, policy preferences, and climate-relevant behaviors

(Leiserowitz et al., 2013). Starting in 2008, the longitudinal study collected nationally representative data, identifying six distinct audiences within the American public. The six audience segments identified in Maibach et al. (2009) included the alarmed, concerned, cautious, disengaged, doubtful, and dismissive.

In the 2012 survey (Leiserowitz et al., 2013), the largest audience segment (29%) was identified as being the concerned. The concerned are moderately sure that climate change is occurring, harmful, and caused by human action. Climate change is viewed by the concerned as a threat to foreign nations and future generations, but is not considered an immediate threat to the individual or their community. Individuals identified as concerned support societal action on climate change, however, it is unlikely they have engaged in political activism.

The cautious make up the second largest (25%) audience segment (Leiserowitz et al., 2013). Individuals within the cautious audience segment potentially believe climate change is occurring, but are unsure if it is and many are unsure about the cause. The cautious are unlikely to have strongly held opinions about what, if anything, should be done in regards to climate change and have given the issue little thought.

Individuals alarmed about climate change make up the third largest group (16%) (Leiserowitz et al., 2013) and are very certain that climate change is happening. They are more likely to discuss, seek information, and act as opinion leaders on the issue than any other audience segment. The alarmed support societal actions to reduce the threat of climate change and are most likely to be political activists, although only about a quarter of the segment has taken political action. The

alarmed are often liberal to moderate Democrats who are active in their communities, more likely to be female, middle-aged, college educated, and favor government intervention to assure the basic needs of all people (Maibach et al., 2009).

The fourth largest group (13%), the doubtful, are uncertain if climate change is occurring or not (Leiserowitz et al., 2013). Those that believe it is happening do not believe it is caused by human activities. Individuals that are doubtful tend to be politically conservative and hold traditional religious views.

Individuals that have given climate change little to no thought are identified as disengaged. The disengaged (9%) have no strongly held beliefs about climate change, have little knowledge about it, and do not see it as a personally relevant issue (Leiserowitz et al., 2013). The disengaged tend to have the lowest education and income levels of all audience segments.

The dismissive make up the smallest (8%) audience segment (Leiserowitz et al., 2013).

Dismissive individuals are very certain climate change is not occurring. They tend to regard climate change as a hoax and strongly oppose any action to reduce the threat. Approximately 11% of the segment has contacted an elected representative to argue against action on climate change. Individuals in the dismissive segment have been found to be predominantly white, male, Republican, politically conservative, pro-hierarchism, and anti-egalitarian world views, anti-environmental attitudes, distrustful of most institutions, highly religious, and rely on radio for the main source of news (Leiserowitz, Maibach, Roser-Renourf, & Smith, 2011; Leiserowitz, 2003; Leiserowitz, 2005; Maibach et al., 2009).

Since the initial survey, researchers have tracked changes in beliefs, attitudes, policy preference, and behaviors, finding a decline in public engagement from the fall of 2008 to January of 2010, followed by a gradual rebound in June 2010. The most recent study, conducted in September of 2012, indicated a continued rebound of public engagement; the alarmed, concerned, and cautious audience segments again compromise 70 percent of the American public.

Audience Segmentation of Agricultural Producers

While the diversity of farm owners and operators increased between the 2007 and 2012 USDA census of agriculture, the majority of farms, approximately 96%, are operated by white farmers (Vilsack & Clark, 2012). Along with the majority of farm operators in the U.S. being white, approximately 86% are also male (Vilsack & Clark, 2012). Initial stages of the Community and Environment in Rural America (CERA) survey found that Midwesterners tend to be the most homogenous in church attendance with 43% reporting they attend once a week (Hamilton et al., 2007). The CERA report also found that the residents of the Midwest were predominately Republican with large majorities voting for George Bush in 2004 (Hamilton et al., 2007). Various demographic studies and census data support the research on beliefs of "naysayer" groups and also align with the identifying demographics of farmers in the Midwest and Plains States. Public perceptions about climate change are largely reflected by political beliefs. In the Midwest where individuals tend to be conservative, there is also a tendency to have doubts about climate change (Dunlap & McCright, 2008; Hamilton et al., 2007; Nisbet & Myers, 2007).

Terminology and Understanding in Climate Change Communication

Language plays a significant role in communicating climate change and cannot be avoided by communicators. Ereaut and Segnit (2007, 2006) in their seminal studies, utilized discourse analysis and semiotics to identify a number of linguistic repertoires defined as loosely coherent lines of talking and thinking about climate change. The variation of meaning and favorability of words associated with climate change, the acknowledged risks, and acceptance of adaptation and mitigation practices, can be partially explained by the differences in experiences, backgrounds, and communications using words in climate change as well as different frames individuals have developed over time (Hertog & Mcleod, 2001). Favorable or unfavorable reception of messages have also been influenced by "previous experience, business or corporate involvement, history, mental images, lack of support, and media or advertising language" (Goodwin, Chiarelli, & Irani, 2011, p. 29).

Respondents to a survey in the South of England demonstrated widely different recognition of the terms climate change and global warming (Whitmarsh, 2009). Global warming was more often believed to be caused by human impacts and associated with greenhouse gases, ozone depletion, and impacts related to temperature increases; climate change was more likely to be associated with natural causes and a wider range of impacts (Whitmarsh, 2009). The desire for government action to control global warming was considerably higher than government involvement in mitigation of climate change (Whitmarsh, 2009).

Context of the words presented will also impact perception (Aldrich, 1980). Framing of words presented is also important to interpretation (Rumble, Holt, & Irani, 2014). Single words may

have a generally positive association, but when left for an audience to interpret, negative associations may arise (Rumble et al., 2014). Salience of words, or the lack of and multiple understood meanings, may confuse individuals and therefore lead to mistrust of the applied use of the terminology (Croney, 2010; Rumble et al., 2014). Gifford and Comeau (2011) found that verbs presented as competence terms impacted respondents intentions to make behavioral changes with respect to climate change. Causative verbs, verbs that link the cause and effect, like "shrink" and "break" were more effective and powerful in making behavior change messages more effective.

Summary

Agriculture is a part of a consumer society where consumers and consumption are dependent upon socio-cultural and economic life (Dagevos, 2005). The public is becoming more concerned with the impact agriculture has on society, leading to increased rules and regulations (Blandford & Fulponi, 1999). Climate change impacts, adaptation, and mitigation in agriculture are now under the focus of public concern.

Climate change science is still debated in mass media realms with the influence of climate change deniers swaying public opinion. Audience segment analysis identified segments of the American public that have varying beliefs about climate change. Studies conducted with agricultural producers indicated that many are still skeptical about the causes and impacts of climate change, but are currently adapting their operations to variable weather within growing seasons. The perception of risk associated with climate change also greatly varies among agricultural producers and the general public.

Framing has been suggested as a way to target specific audiences to relay messages intended to influence behavior in response to climate change impacts. Consideration for risk perception, language repertoires, issue salience, use of sources for information, and existing attitudes should impact the creation of messages. The literature review identified gaps in the knowledge surrounding the framing of climate change based messages to agricultural producers. Large scale audience segmentation studies have also neglected to consider individuals in agriculture as an audience segment.

Chapter 3 - Methods

Climate change is expected to have a substantial impact on agriculture (Field et al., 2014) by threatening food security and rising food demands (Beek, Meerburg, Schils, Verhagen, & Kuikman, 2010) as global population continues to increase (United Nations. Department of Economical and Social Affairs, 2014). Understanding the applications of issue salience and framing can assist communicators in creating specific messages for segmented audiences. The purpose of this study was to explore the frames and messages, issue salience, and communication preferences agricultural producers in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas use and accept related to climate change and the impacts of a changing climate. It was of additional interest to explore the climate-change beliefs and preferred agricultural media sources for climate and climate change information.

Data for the study was collected through an online survey from participants in the Southern Plains region. The study design was based on a randomized experimental design, which employs various treatments applied randomly to experimental units with a control group (Shadish, Cook, & Campbell, 2002). The data for this study was gathered through Qualtrics survey software, Version 2016 of Qualtrics, Provo, Utah, USA. Qualtrics design was utilized to randomize the assignment of three survey versions to survey respondents. Each survey version consisted of 38 items. Survey version one contained gain framed messages, survey version two contained loss framed messages, and survey version three consisted of neutral frames to create a control group (Appendix A).

The following research objectives guided this study:

- RO1: Describe the level of issue salience agricultural producers have related to climate change;
- RO2: Investigate frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to the scientifically designated phenomena of climate change and impacts; and
- RO3: Identify the specific agricultural media and information channels agricultural producers use for climate change information.

Based on findings in previous research, one hypothesis was developed:

 H1: Agricultural producers in the Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub will fall in the audience segment groups of the concerned and the cautious as identified in the Six America's (2012) study.

Design of the Study

The study focused on farmers, ranchers, and forestry landowners in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas. These three states were selected because of the geographical association with the SPRCH area. Internet surveys were used to gather the opinions of respondents in each state. Internet surveys are a type of quantitative research method. Quantitative methods are used when the researcher primarily uses post-positivist claims for developing knowledge, utilize methods of inquiry such as experiments or surveys, and collect data on a predetermined instrument that yields statistical data (Creswell, 2007). Surveys can be effective in gathering large amounts of data from populations that are unreasonable to reach through focus groups or interviews (Dillman, 2000). Web survey implementation procedures suggested by Dillman, Rossing, and Christian (2009) were followed to the best of the researchers' ability.

Surveys were distributed through the Kansas Association of Wheat Growers and the Texas Wheat Producers Association. The Oklahoma Wheat Growers Association was also contacted; however, they were unable to participate in the survey due to the lack of a director and the disbursement date of their quarterly newsletter was after the final closing date of the survey. The first invitation to participate in the Internet survey was emailed to members of wheat associations in Kansas (Appendix B) and Texas.

The Kansas Association of Wheat Growers and Texas Wheat Producers Association also posted a link to the survey on the organization's social-media accounts including Facebook and Twitter. A unique survey link was created for each organization and delivery medium. The goal of the unique link was to compare the differences, if any existed, between email and social media respondents. Although two unique links were provided, the Kansas Association of Wheat Growers only used a single, so responses between email respondents and social-media responses were not possible.

The wheat associations were selected because of existing relationships with the university and the Department of Communications and Agricultural Education. Email invitations were sent by the wheat associations through their official email accounts. Sponsorship by a legitimate authority has been shown to increase response rate to surveys (Dillman, 2007) and researchers hoped that the trust of association members had with their associations would increase response rates. Survey participation by members of the Texas Wheat Producers Association was less than one percent. Only responses from those that participated in the survey of the Kansas Association of Wheat Growers were analyzed for the study.

Independent Variables

Independent variables were studied including frames, preferred agricultural media and information sources, perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit. Perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit were operationalized as variables of issue salience in climate change. Control variables were also included in the survey design. Six demographic variables were used and included ownership/position on the operation, level of education, farm type, political party, age, gender, and ethnicity.

Frames were examined with gain, loss, and neutral messages in conjunction with four terms that were identified in the literature review as often used interchangeably in climate change. Gain, loss, and neutral frames were based on the survey instrument in Spence and Pidgeon (2010) which utilized a five point Likert type scale. This study did not utilize fear appeals to study the impact of framing. Spence and Pidgeon (2010) reported a reliability score of .75. A Cronbach's alpha reliability score of .80 was calculated for framing questions, indicating a strong reliability.

Distance frames were also examined within the study. Impacts of climate change were framed as currently occurring (near) or occurring in the future (distant). Distance frames had a Cronbach's alpha reliability of .93, which is a very high level of reliability. Cronbach (1951) stated that a reliability of .70 was acceptable and over .90 was a high reliability.

The four terms identified in the literature review to be studied were: climate change, extreme weather events, weather patterns, and weather variability. Climate change refers to any

significant change in the long term measurements of climate. Climate change includes major shifts in temperature, precipitation, and wind patterns amongst others, that occur over several decades or longer (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2013). Extreme weather events include heat waves, droughts, and tornadoes, all weather events that impact the survey region (NOAA, n.d.). Weather patterns are the daily variations observed in weather as a result of global patterns in the atmosphere caused by interactions of solar radiation, Earth's ocean, diverse landscapes, and motion in space (NOAA, 2011). Climate variability is defined in short term climate patterns that occur in cycles of months, years, and decades (NOAA, n.d.). Cronbach's alpha was .87, which is a high reliability score according to Cronbach (1951).

Agricultural media and information sources used by agricultural producers were also examined as an independent variable. Arbuckle et al. (2013b) found that trust in agricultural media sources and interests were linked to lower beliefs in climate change, especially climate change from anthropogenic causes. However, producers that expressed trust in environmentally oriented organizations were much more likely to believe climate change is occurring because of human actions. An exhaustive list of agricultural publications and environmental information sources was generated. The survey aimed to identify which sources producers use and how frequently they sought information for climate change information.

Issue salience, the perceived importance of an issue (Niemi & Bartels, 1985), of climate change served as one of the dependent variables for this study. Measures of perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit were operationalized as issue salience. Independent variables were based on the work of (Arbuckle et al., 2013b) and Loy et al. (2013), which found that perceived

Perceived risk is one measure that previous literature identifies as a variable that can impact beliefs about climate change. Perceived risk is measure by nine variables utilizing a five point Likert-type scale to determine concern for those risks. Cronbach's alpha was calculated and found to have a reliability of .86, which is a high reliability score based on the suggestions of Cronbach (1951) which states that .80 is a preferred level of reliability. After experiencing a climate-related impact, farmers are more likely to make changes on the management level of a farming operation, which are often variations of existing climate-risk management strategies (Howden et al., 2007). Experienced hazard is measured by five variables. Cronbach's alpha for experienced hazard variables was .78, which is a high reliability rating. Perceived benefit is the final independent variable examined in the study. Perceived benefits or positive experiences can impact beliefs about the causes and existence of climate change. Five variables were used to examine perceived benefits on a five point Likert-type scale. Cronbach's alpha was calculated for perceived benefit variables and found to have high reliability rating at .74.

The perceived benefit scale was created for this study. Previously, studies focused on loss or the potential to avoid loss when communicating climate-change risk with the goal of affecting behavior. Researchers in this study wanted to examine the potential impact of perceived benefits of climate change in agriculture in relation to climate change belief.

Demographic information was also gathered from survey participants, which described the respondent as well as the type of farming operation. Demographic information is an important aspect of applying successful audience segmentation (Hine et al., 2014). Variations in belief

about climate change have been found to exist within demographic groups (Leiserowitz et al., 2013). Demographic information will also be used as control variables.

Experimental Design of Gain and Loss Frames

The study utilized an experimental design to examine gain and loss frames in conjunction with the terminology identified in the literature review. Specifically a 4 (terminology: climate change, extreme weather events, weather patterns, and weather variability) x 3 (frame: gain, loss, and neutral) between subjects incomplete factorial design was used. Factorial design allows for the determination of the effect of two manipulated independent variables on the dependent variables and the interaction among variables (Shadish et al., 2002).

Dependent Variable

A question to examine climate-change belief was adapted from the Six America's surveys (Leiserowitz et al., 2013; Maibach et al., 2009; Maibach, Leiserowitz, Roser-Renouf, & Mertz, 2011) and the examination of farmer perspective of climate change in the Corn Belt (Arbuckle et al., 2014). The climate-change belief question utilized a Likert-type five point scale to examine producer beliefs, about the existence and causes of climate change. Cronbach's alpha was used to calculate the reliability of the scale used to examine climate-change belief. A reliability of 0.82 was found, which indicates a high reliability level based on (Arbuckle et al., 2013a).

Potential Limitations

Response rate to the survey is one potential limitation, since online surveys tend to have lower response rates than traditional mail surveys (Dillman, 2007). Length of the survey may also be a

limitation if participants experience survey fatigue and do not complete the survey in its entirety (Sheehan, 2001). Online surveys may pose a challenge for populations unfamiliar with navigating online survey platforms (Dillman, 2007). Survey responses were not forced within the study design, which resulted in missing data points in the survey. However, forcing responses may cause respondents to drop out of the survey (Dillman, 2007). The specific geographic area of focus may also impact the generalizability and transferability to a larger population of agricultural producers. The survey population was compared to USDA Ag Census Data (USDA, 2012) to examine transferability to a larger population.

Research design accounted for a number of internal and external threats to validity. Internal threats to validity could impact the inferences made from the survey (Shadish et al., 2002). The survey design and treatment of dependent variable to the outcome variables may not be causal, the relationship between variables could potentially exist without treatment (Shadish et al., 2002). Attrition was a concern in the research design, however, pretesting helped to determine the ease and time it took to complete the survey and aided in preventing attrition and fatigue. The threat of instrumentation was a concern in this study because of the multiple devices, Internet browsers, and operating systems on which the online survey could be completed. Question and survey design are compatible with mobile devices through Qualtrics software. The online survey tool was extensively tested to protect against this threat.

Threats to construct validity were also present due to the operationalizing of variables within the study. Construct validity threats were controlled through pretesting, pilot testing, and manipulation checks in the experiment. Mono-operation bias was controlled through the use of

gain and loss frames and the various terms to be tested. External validity threats may limit the generalizability of the findings to populations outside of the study area in the Southern Plains and agricultural producers who experience varying impacts from climate change.

Instrumentation

Online survey methods offer several advantages including the elimination of paper, postage, data entry costs, time required for survey implementation, and reducing the cost per correspondence in sample sizes (Dillman, 2007). Dillman (2007) suggests keeping online survey design simple so it is compatible with a number of web browsers and variable speed of Internet providers.

Survey questions were reviewed by a panel of experts for face and content validity. The panel of experts included one associate professor in agricultural communication, one assistant professor in journalism and mass communications, and one assistant professor in the agronomy department. To improve reliability of the survey, Cronbach' Alpha was used to analyze the data set for internal consistency of items (Cronbach, 1951). The questions from previous instruments already had acceptable levels of reliability at 0.86, indicating a highly acceptable level of internal consistency (Arbuckle et al., 2013). A similar study examining the impacts of gain and loss frames on attitudes towards climate change mitigation achieved a reliability of .83 (Spence & Pidgeon, 2010).

Independent variables studied included frames, preferred agricultural media and information sources, perceived risk, experienced hazard, perceived benefit and demographics of the audience segment. Frames were studied through gain and loss framings with four variations of terms for a

total of eight questions. A neutral frame group was included in the examination of framing to serve as a control. Preferred agricultural media and information sources were examined through questions asking respondents to identify all sources they seek out for climate change information and the frequency in which they do so. Questions examining frames and preferred agricultural media and information sources, a were based on a Likert-type style of questions which can be used to determine attitudes (Likert, 1932). Questions that examined perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit utilized a Likert-type scale and consisted of 19 questions.

Demographic questions utilized closed-ended questions with ordered response categories to describe the respondents of the survey and the farming operations. The dependent variable of issue salience was operationalized on the work of the Six America's (2009, 2012) and Arbuckle et al. (2013). One question examining issue salience aimed to help researchers to gain a better understanding of how agricultural producers differ and/or are similar in terms of their knowledge about climate change.

When accessing the online survey, respondents were greeted with a welcome screen that was motivational, emphasized the ease of responding, and instructed respondents about how to proceed to the next screen (Dillman, 2007). Providing a notice before the survey and a reminder notice to complete the survey can improve response rate in online surveys (Kaplowitz, Hadlock, & Levine, 2004). The wheat associations of each state were utilized since membership in each state can improve response rate through established rapport with the constituents because they have a vested interest and trust in the organization (Dillman, 2000).

Data Collection

Purposive sampling was used to identify the population for the survey from members of state wheat associations in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas. State wheat associations in the three state region were identified through the establishment of SPRCH (USDA Climate Hubs, 2015).

Purposive sampling was appropriate because the researcher sought to examine a certain cultural aspect of a group (Tongco, 2007). Randomization of survey type, with respondents either receiving a gain frame, loss frame, or control group, was administered through survey design in Qualtrics. Question order was also randomized for each survey administered. Audience segmentation has been identified as a way to communicate climate change information to various segments of the American public (Hine et al., 2014).

The survey instrument was submitted to the Kansas State University internal review board (IRB) and approval was obtained before the survey was conducted. IRB found the study was exempt based on the Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects under IRB number 8061 (Appendix A). Survey questions were delivered in an online based format through Qualtrics software with adaptation and consideration in question design for survey completion on mobile devices (Qualtrics, 2014). The survey was administered in an invitation-survey-reminder method, with the invitation and reminder delivered via email and the survey provided in an Internet link on both. Providing invitations before the survey is administered and reminders after the survey is opened can improve response rate (Dillman, 2007). Non responders were emailed an additional reminder. A closing date for the survey was given, which has been found to increase survey participation rates (Dillman, 2007).

Nonresponse error is a concern in survey data and occurs when a significant number of people in the survey sample do not respond to the questionnaire and have different characteristics of those who respond to the survey (Dillman, 2007). Acceptable response rates in Internet surveys are 5%-80% (Wimmer & Dominick, 2011). Based on the work of Arbuckle et al. (2014), 26% is an acceptable response rate given that no meaningful differences are found in a test for nonresponse bias. The survey was distributed to 585 email addresses within the Kansas Wheat Association email list. An invitation-survey-reminder method was used to distribute the survey, which was open from March 3 to March 14, 2016. There were 158 respondents to the email survey, resulting in a 27% response rate. Of the 158 responses, 142 were completed to a level that could be used for analysis. The instrument was also distributed to t 2,989 followers on Facebook, and 5,444 Kansas Wheat Twitter followers. Separate links were intended for use in the Internet and social media distribution channels, however, only one link was sent from Kansas Wheat.

Nonresponse bias was tested through the comparison of differences between respondents and non-respondents based on variables measuring farm enterprise and farmer characteristics. The comparison was made using the demographic information collected through the survey and USDA census data of farmers in Kansas (USDA, 2012). Within the study, 1.6% of the farms were non-family or corporate farms. This is similar to the USDA (2012) census data of Kansas which found that 3.26% of the farms in Kansas were corporations. The highest percentage (29.7%) of respondents to this study was between the ages of 56 and 60. This is slightly younger than the highest percentage group in the USDA (2012) census data which reported 18.8% of respondents were 65 and over. Females reported that 9.6% were owner/operators in this study, 10.98% of farms were owned by women according to the USDA census (2012). The study found

that 95.3% of respondents were Caucasian and 2.3% were Native American. The remaining 2.3% preferred not to answer. Ethnicity is where the largest discrepancy is within the demographics of the study and the USDA (2012) census data. This study does not represent Hispanic/Latino, African American, and Asian/Pacific Islanders, which all occur in minor percentages in the USDA census data.

Data Analysis

Data from completed surveys were downloaded into SPSS 19 (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY): for analysis. Basic statistics were explored for demographic information of respondents including age, gender, location, type and size of operation, and political affiliation. Initial means and correlations were calculated for perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit. Regression analysis was explored within variables to explain the amount of variance that the dependent variable explains within the independent variables. Further exploration was conducted to examine the differences between demographic groups and their climate-change beliefs. ANOVA analysis was conducted to determine if statistically significant differences existed between demographic groups. Additionally, correlation and regression analyses were conducted to examine causal relationships.

Means for issue salience, frames, and media preference were calculated. Initial correlations were conducted to determine if relationships existed between issue salience, preferred frames and messages, and communication sources. MANCOVA analysis was conducted to examine the impact of issue salience on frames and preferred media sources with frame assignment serving as

the covariate. ANOVA analysis was explored to determine significant issue salience variables in the MANCOVA analysis.

Summary

The purpose of this study was to explore the frames and messages, issue salience, and communication preferences agricultural producers in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas use and accept related to climate change and the impacts of a changing climate. It was of additional interest to explore the climate-change beliefs and preferred agricultural media sources for climate and climate change information. Low survey response rates from Texas Wheat Association members and timing challenges with the Oklahoma Wheat Commission limited the respondent data to Kansas Association of Wheat Growers members. Three independent variables were studied including frames, preferred agricultural media and information sources, and demographics of the audience segment. Frames were examined with gain and loss messages in conjunction with four terms that were identified in the literature review as often used interchangeably in climate change. Issue salience is the dependent variable that was studied in conjunction to the independent variables. An online survey was utilized to reach agricultural producers with consideration for potential limitations and threats to internal and external validity.

Chapter 4 - Results

Recognizing there is pressure for the agricultural industry to adapt to climate change, this study sought to understand the audience of agricultural producers by identification of appropriate frames, messages, and messengers with the greatest impact for climate-change communication (Moser & Dilling, 2011). Reaching audiences as an individual audience segment using terminology they accept and understand is one aspect of the needed climate-change communication (Shome et al., 2009). The purpose of this study was to investigate the frames and messages agricultural producers in Kansas use and accept related to climate change and the impacts of a changing climate.

The opinions, attitudes, and beliefs of respondents to this survey were examined through 38 items in three survey versions. A total of 178 responses were gathered with 145 responses from Kansas producers, which were used to answer the research objectives. Low response rates in Oklahoma and Texas prompted the researcher to exclude responses from those states. Incomplete responses that could not be utilized in analysis were also excluded. The findings of the survey will be presented in order of the following research objectives including a description of the demographics:

- RO1: Describe the level of issue salience agricultural producers have related to climate change;
- RO2: Investigate frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to the scientifically designated phenomena of climate change and impacts; and
- RO3: Identify the agricultural media and information channels agricultural producers use for climate change.

Based on findings in previous research, one hypothesis was developed:

 H1: Agricultural producers in the Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub area will be located within the audience segment groups of the concerned and the cautious as identified in the Six America's (2012) study.

Demographics

Basic statistics were explored for demographic information of respondents including location, education, farm type, political party, age, gender, and ethnicity (Table 4.1). It is important to note that not all respondents completed the demographic section of the survey. The total respondents to the survey were n = 145.

Table 4.1Frequency of Response to Demographic Items

Demographic	n
State	132
County	128
Education	130
Farm type	127
Political party	129
Age	128
Gender	129
Ethnicity	129

Location

Respondents to the survey were asked to provide the location of their operations by state and county. In Kansas, Morton and Rush counties had the highest number of respondents with six from each county. There were 27 counties in Kansas with one respondent each (Table 4.2). Two

respondents were from Oklahoma in Cimarron and Dewey counties, one respondent was from Texas in Childress County. While the data set was limited to respondents from Kansas, three respondents from other states were included in the data set. Although they were included in the data set, they are affiliated with Kansas Wheat Association and were considered to be a part of the Kansas respondents.

Table 4.2 *Number of Respondents per County in Kansas*

Kansas	respondents per	,			
6	5	4	3	2	1
Morton	Pratt	Bourbon	Barber	Barton	Brown
Rush	Rooks	Leavenworth	Doniphan	Elk	Butler
	Trego	Marion	Franklin	Ellsworth	Clay
		Marshall	Harper	Ford	Coffey
		Smith	Johnson	Gove	Decatur
		Wallace	Riley	Labette	Ellis
			Washington	McPherson	Grant
				Montgomery	Greeley
				Pottawatomie	Haskell
				Rice	Hodgeman
				Sedgwick	Kingman
				Thomas	Kiowa
				Wabaunsee	Lincoln
					Mitchell
					Norton
					Phillips
					Rawlins
					Reno
					Republic
					Saline
					Seward

Table 4.2, continued from page 65

Number of Respondents per County in Kansas

Kansas

6 5 4 3 2 1
Stanton
Stevens
Wilson

Education

Respondents were asked to provide their highest level of education. All respondents to the survey had at least a high school education or equivalent, with the highest level of respondents (n =72, 55.4%) reporting they had received a bachelor's degree (Table 4.3). Individuals reporting an associate's degree or trade/vocational training both had seven respondents (5.4%). The least reported education level was for the respondents with doctoral degrees (n =2, 1.5%)

 Table 4.3

 Education Level of Respondents

	n	%
Bachelor's degree	72	55.4
Master's degree	18	13.8
Some college credit	15	11.5
High school graduate or equivalent	9	6.9
Trade/technical/vocational training	7	5.4
Associate degree	7	5.4
Doctoral degree	2	1.5
Total	130	100

Farm Type

Respondents were also asked to report their farm type (Table 4.4). Description of the farm type is based on the 2012 USDA Census of Agriculture (Vilsack & Clark, 2012), which asks producers about their farm income as well as ownership and other reported occupations. Farm types are described in seven different ways in this study:

- *Limited-resource farm*: small farm with sales less than \$100,000, farm assets less than \$150,000, and total operator household income less than \$20,000. Operators may report any major occupation, except hired manager.
- Retirement farm: small farms whose operators report they are retired.
- Residential/lifestyle farm: small farms whose operators report a major occupation other than farming.
- Farming-occupation farms: small farms whose operators report farming as their major occupation.
- Large family farm: sales between \$250,000 and \$499,999.
- *Very large family farm*: sales of \$500,000 or more.
- *Non-family farm*: farms organized as nonfamily corporations or cooperatives, as well as farms operated by hired managers.

Large family farms were reported most often (n = 41, 32.3%) where farm sales were between \$250,000 and \$499,999. Non-family farms (n = 2, 1.6%), or farms organized as corporations or cooperatives, were reported least frequently in the study (Table 4.4).

Table 4.4Farm Type Based on USDA Census of Agriculture Classification

	n	%
Large family farm	41	32.3
Very large family farm	39	30.7
Residential/lifestyle farm	17	13.4
Farming-occupation farms	15	11.8
Limited-resource farm	11	8.7
Retirement farm	2	1.6
Non-family farm	2	1.6
Total	127	100.0

Political Party

The majority of respondents (n = 95, 73.6%) reported they identify themselves as part of the Republican Party. The fewest reported identifying themselves as Democrats (n = 7, 5.4%). One respondent who identified themselves as belonging to another political party specified they were, "a mix of libertarian and tea party." Another respondent stated they were not active in a political party, but still interested in politics (Table 4.5).

Table 4.5 *Political Party Identification*

	n	%
Republican	95	73.6
Independent	19	14.7
Democrat	7	5.4
Other	5	3.9
No party, not interested in politics	3	2.3
Total	129	100.0

Age

Age was reported in four-year intervals starting at age 18 and going to 60 (Table 4.6). Those 61 and above were reported together. Most respondents were between the ages of 56 and 60 (n = 38, 29.7%), and the fewest were 61 and above (n = 3, 2.3%).

Table 4.6 *Age of Respondents*

	n	%
18-24	11	8.6
25-30	17	13.3
31-35	15	11.7
36-40	10	7.8
41-45	5	3.9
46-50	7	5.5
51-55	22	17.2
56-60	38	29.7
61 and above	3	2.3

Gender

Respondents were also asked to report their gender (Table 4.7). The majority of respondents reported they were male (n = 100, 77.5%). Of the respondents, 25 (19.4%) reported being female. Four (3.1%) preferred not to provide their gender (Table 4.7).

Table 4.7 *Gender of Respondents*

	n	%
Male	100	77.5
Female	25	19.4
Prefer not to answer	4	3.1
Total	129	100.0

Ethnicity

Respondents to the survey were asked to report their ethnicity (Table 4.8). The majority reported their ethnicity as Caucasian (white) (n = 123, 95.3%). Native American (n = 1, 0.8%) was reported as the only ethnicity other than Caucasian. Of the "other" (n = 3, 1.6%) ethnicity respondents, one individual reported being "European American." Hispanic/Latino, African American, and Asian/Pacific Islanders ethnicities are not represented in this study. Of the total respondents, three (2.3%) preferred not to answer (Table 4.8).

Table 4.8 *Ethnicity of Respondents*

	n	%
Caucasian (white)	123	95.3
Other	3	1.6
Prefer not to answer	3	2.3
Native American	1	0.8

Role on Farm and/or Ranch

Researchers in this study wanted to specifically examine farmers and ranchers in the Southern Plains region. A demographic question asking respondents their specific role on the farming and/or ranching operation was included to ensure the desired audience was being reached (Table 4.9). The majority of respondents (n = 90, 69.8%) reported they were the owner/operator.

Table 4.9 *Respondent Role on Operation*

	n	%
Owner/operator	90	69.8
Manager/operator	11	8.5
Farmhand/laborer	6	4.7
Spouse of owner	6	4.7
Child of owner	6	4.7
Co-owner	4	3.1
Landlord	3	2.3
Tenant	3	2.3
Total	129	100.0

It was of additional interest to the researchers to compare the ownership of the operations to gender. Cross tabulation was used to explore the gender roles in farm ownership (Table 4.10). Males were reported as the highest percentage at 58.27% of owner/operators and females at 9.45% as owner/operators. Two (1.57%) females reported that they were spouses of operation owners. Nine (7.09%) of males reported that they were spouses of owners.

Table 4.10Respondent Role on Operation by Gender

	M	I ale	Fer	male	Prefer n	ot to answer
	n	%	n	%	n	%
Owner/operator	74	58.27	12	9.45	2	1.57
Spouse of owner	9	7.09	2	1.57	-	-
Child of owner	6	4.72	-	-	-	-
Manager/operator	3	2.36	-	-	-	-
Tenant	3	2.36	3	2.36	-	-
Farmhand/laborer	2	1.57	-	-	1	0.79
Landlord	1	0.79	3	2.36	-	-
Co-owner	-	-	5	3.94	1	0.79

RO1: Describe the Level of Issue Salience Agricultural Producers have Related to Climate Change

To examine RO1, "describe the level of issue salience agricultural producers have related to climate change," researchers included survey items to measure perceived risk, experienced hazard, perceived benefit, and belief in climate change. Perceived risk was measured by nine variables of concern for impacts of climate change; experienced hazard examined five levels of affect from different climate change related events; perceived benefit measured five variables of benefit related to climate change; and belief was measured by a single variable to measure belief in climate change and the causes. It was of additional interest to explore differences in issue salience between demographic groups.

Perceived Risk

Perceived risk was measured by nine variables on a five-point Likert-type scale including concerned (1), slightly concerned (2), somewhat concerned (3), moderately concerned (4), and extremely concerned (5) (Table 4.11). Respondents indicated their highest level of concern was for longer dry periods and drought with a mean of 4.06 (SD = 1.04). The lowest level of concern was for increased flooding (M = 2.24, SD = 1.21). Summative average concern for all nine measures was 3.10 (SD = 0.78). Average concern for perceived risks was slightly above the somewhat concerned level (Table 4.11).

Table 4.11Perceived Risk of Climate Related Events

Experienced Hazard

Experienced hazard (Table 4.12) was measured by five variables on a Likert-type scale.

Experienced hazard variables asked respondents to describe the level of effect on their operations that various climate related events have had in the past five years. Respondents rated their experienced hazard impact from no impact (1), minor impact (2), moderate impact (3), moderate impact (4), and major impact (5). Experience of significant drought had the highest level of impact (M = 3.73, SD = 0.97). Significant drought had slightly more than a moderate impact. Stream and/or river flooding had the lowest mean impact of 1.57 (SD = 0.79), indicating respondents considered flooding to have no to minor impact on their operations. Overall, the mean for average experienced hazard was 2.22 (SD = 0.55) (Table 4.12).

Table 4.12 *Experienced Hazard*

	Mean	SD
Significant drought	3.73	0.97
Land farmed has experienced significant erosion	2.21	0.90
Saturated soils or ponding	1.82	0.85
Creeks, streams, rivers, or running through farmland	1.75	0.89
Stream/river flooding	1.57	0.79
Aggregate experienced hazard	2.22	0.58

Perceived Benefits

Five variables were used to determine an aggregate score for perceived benefits of climate-related impacts over the last five years (Table 4.13). Respondents completed a five point Likert-type scale to indicate their perceived level of benefit on each variable from no benefit (1), minor benefit (2), some benefit (3), moderate benefit (4), and major benefit (5). The highest individual perceived benefit was increased options in crop variety (M = 2.99, SD = 1.24) and the lowest perceived benefit was longer pasture season (M = 2.19, SD = 1.06). The aggregate perceived benefit of climate related events in the last five years was 2.48 (SD = 0.84). All measures for perceived benefits fell in the range of minor benefit to some benefit (Table 4.13).

Table 4.13Perceived Benefit

	Mean	SD
Increased options in crop variety	2.99	1.24
Longer growing season	2.63	1.06
Milder, shorter winter	2.35	1.20
Ability to plant double crops	2.3	1.30
Longer pasture season	2.19	1.14
Aggregate perceived benefit	2.43	0.90

Climate-Change Belief

Climate-change belief was measured by one variable in the instrument. Respondents were asked to select the response that reflected their belief about climate change. Responses were assigned a value on a five point Likert-type scale where a one (1) indicated the respondent did not believe that climate change was occurring and a five (5) indicated the respondent believed that climate change was occurring and was caused mostly by human actions. Possible responses to the variable were:

- a. Climate change is not occurring (1).
- b. There is not sufficient evidence to know with certainty whether climate change is occurring or not (2).
- c. Climate change is occurring, and it's caused by mostly natural changes in the environment (3).
- d. Climate change is occurring, and is caused more or less equally by natural changes in the environment and human activities (4).
- e. Climate change is occurring, and is caused mostly by human activities (5).

Respondents indicated a wide variety of beliefs in climate change and the causes (Table 4.14). The majority of respondents believed in climate change, but had varying views on the causes. Most respondents (n = 45, 33.58%), believed climate change is occurring and is caused more or less equally by natural changes in the environment and human activities. A minority of respondents indicated they believed climate change was occurring and was caused mainly by human actions (n = 11, 8.21%). A small minority also indicated they believed climate change was not occurring at all (n = 6, 4.48%) (Table 4.14). The mean response for respondents was 3.19 (SD = 1.02). A mean score of 3.19 indicates that most respondents believed the climate was changing, and was caused by mostly natural changes in the environment.

Table 4.14 *Climate-change belief Frequencies*

	n	%
Climate change is occurring, and is caused more or less equally by natural changes in the environment and human activities.	45	33.58
Climate change is occurring, and it's caused by mostly natural changes in the environment.	42	31.34
There is not sufficient evidence to know with certainty whether climate change is occurring or not	30	22.39
Climate change is occurring, and is caused mostly by human activities.	11	8.21
Climate change is not occurring	6	4.48
Total	134	100

Demographic Differences in Climate-change belief and Issue Salience

Demographic difference in climate-change belief and issue salience was explored within self-identified gender, political party, education level, role on the operation, commodity, and preferred agricultural media source. An ANOVA analysis was conducted for each demographic variable. Descriptive demographic information can be found under the "demographics" section earlier in Chapter Four.

Education Level

ANOVA analysis with post-hoc testing was conducted to explore the difference in political party and climate-change belief. Respondents were divided into seven groups; Group 1 (high school graduate or equivalent), Group 2 (some college credit), Group 3 (trade/technical/vocational training), Group 4 (associate's degree), Group 5 (bachelor's degree), Group 6 (master's degree),

and Group 7 (doctoral degree) (Table 4.15). There was a statistically significant difference at the p < .01 level for the six education levels: F(6, 123) = 3.18, p = .006. The effect size of .13, using eta squared, was considered to be a medium effect.

Table 4.15 *Climate-change belief Means by Education Level*

	Mean	SD
Doctoral degree	4.50	0.17
Master's degree	3.39	1.04
Bachelor's degree	3.28	1.00
Some college credit	3.27	0.78
Associate's degree	3.14	0.69
Trade/technical	2.57	0.98
High school	2.11	1.05

Post-hoc comparisons using the Tukey HSD test indicated the mean score for Group 1 (M =2.11, SD = 1.05) was statistically different from Group 5 (M =3.28, SD = 1.0), Group 6 (M =3.39, SD = 1.04), and Group 7 (M =4.50, SD = 0.17). Group 2 (M =3.27, SD = 0.78), Group 3 (M =2.57, SD = 0.98), and Group 4 (M =3.14, SD = 0.69) did not differ significantly from any other group.

Farm Type

ANOVA analysis with post-hoc testing was conducted to explore the difference in farm type and climate-change belief. Respondents were divided into six groups; Group 1 (limited-resource farm): Group 3 (Retirement farm), Group 2 (residential/lifestyle farm), Group 3 (farming-occupation farms), Group 4 (large family farm), Group 5 (very large family farm), and Group 6 (non-family farm). There was no statistically significant difference between farm type groups.

Political Party

ANOVA analysis with post-hoc testing was conducted to explore the difference in political party and climate-change belief. Respondents were divided into five groups; Group 1 (Republican), Group 2 (Democrat), Group 3 (Independent), Group 4 (Other), and Group 5 (no party, not interested in politics). There was a statistically significant difference at the p < .001 level for the five political party identifications: F(4, 124) = 4.98, p = .001. The effect size of .14, using eta squared, was considered to be a large effect (Table 4.16).

Table 4.16Climate-change belief by Political Party

	Mean	SD
Democrat	4.14	1.07
Independent	3.47	1.17
Republican	3.13	0.90
Other	2.40	1.14
No party	1.67	0.56

Post-hoc comparisons using the Tukey HSD test indicated the mean score for Group 2 (M =4.14, SD =1.07) was statistically different from Group 4 (M =2.40, SD = 1.14) and Group 5 (M =1.67, SD = 0.56). Group 3 (M =3.47, SD = 1.17) was only significantly different from Group 5. Group 1 was not significantly different from any group.

Age

ANOVA analysis with post-hoc testing was conducted to explore the difference in age group and climate-change belief. Respondents were divided into nine groups; Group 1 (18-24), Group 2 (25-30), Group 3 (31-35), Group 4 (36-40), Group 5 (41-45), Group 6 (46-50), Group 7 (51-55), Group 8 (56-60), and Group 9 (61 and above). There was no statistically significant difference between age groups.

Gender

ANOVA analysis with post-hoc testing was conducted to explore the difference in gender group and climate-change belief. Respondents were divided into three groups; Group 1 (male), Group 2 (female), and Group 3 (prefer not to answer). There was no statistically significant difference between gender groups.

Ethnicity

Because of the homogeneity of respondents in ethnicity, ANOVA analysis could not conducted to determine if significant differences existed in climate-change belief between groups. An overwhelming majority of respondents indicated they were Caucasian (n = 123, 95.3%). Native American (n = 1, 0.8%) was reported as the only ethnicity other than Caucasian. Table 4.8 earlier in Chapter Four provides full details of the ethnicity of respondents.

Role on Farm

ANOVA analysis with post-hoc testing was conducted to explore the difference in political party and climate-change belief. Respondents were divided into eight groups; Group 1 (owner/operator), Group 2 (landlord), Group 3 (tenant), Group 4 (manager/operator), Group 5 (farmhand/laborer), Group 6 (spouse of owner), Group 7 (co-owner), and Group 8 (child of owner). There was no statistically significant difference found to exist between the various reported roles of respondents.

Correlations and Regression Analysis

Researchers were interested in examining the relationship between perceived risk, experienced hazard, perceived benefits, and the belief in climate change. Correlation and multiple regression analyses were conducted to explore the relationship between the variables of interest. Initial bivariate correlation analysis was conducted for each of the independent variables and the dependent variable of climate-change belief. The bivariate correlations were examined to eliminate multicollinearity, which is a concern in regression analysis. None of the correlations were considered to be high, with all correlations at *r* values of .63 or less.

After eliminating multicollinearity, correlations between the dependent variable of climate-change belief and the independent variables were explored. Each of the independent variables was significantly correlated with climate-change belief (Table 4.17). Perceived risk (r = .42) was significant at the p < .01 level. Experienced hazard (r = .20) and perceived benefit (r = .19) were significant at the p < .05 level.

Table 4.17 *Correlation Between Climate-change belief and Independent Variables*

	r
Perceived risk	.42**
Experienced hazard	.20*
Perceived benefit	.19*

Note: ** p < .01, *p < .05

Simple regression analysis was conducted to determine if each independent variable should be included in a full regression model. Perceived risk resulted in the models $R^2 = .17$, F(1,132) = 27.61, p < .0005. The analysis indicated perceived risk is significant and explains 17% of the

variance in climate-change belief. Experienced hazard produced R^2 = .04, F(1,132) = 5.43, p <.05, indicating experienced hazard is significant and explains 4% of the variance in climate-change belief. Perceived benefit resulted in R^2 = .04, F(1,132) = 4.89, p <.05, which indicates perceived risk is significant and explains 4% of the variance in climate-change belief.

Because all of the independent variables explained some level of variance in the dependent variable of climate-change belief, multiple regression was used to explore the relationship further. Independent variables were entered into the model by R^2 value. The multiple regression model with all independent variables included resulted in $R^2 = .18$, F(3, 130) = 9.70, p < .0005. The multiple regression model with all three predictors explains 18% of the variance in climate-change belief. Perceived risk had a significant regression weight, after controlling for other variables in the model. Experienced hazard and perceived benefit were not significant in the model and did not contribute to the regression model (Table 4.18).

Table 4.18 *Regression Analysis with Climate-change belief and Independent Variables*

	b	В
Perceived risk	0.60	0.47**
Experienced hazard	-0.20	-0.12
Perceived benefit	0.08	0.10

Note: ** *p* <.0005

It was of additional interest to researchers to explore the impact of demographic variables on climate-change belief. Bivariate correlations were conducted for all demographic variables. Each of the demographic variables was significantly correlated with climate-change belief (Table

4.19). Gender (r = -.25), ethnicity (r = -.23), and education (r = .28) were all significantly correlated at the p < .01 level.

Table 4.19Correlation Between Climate-change belief and Demographic Variables

	r
Education	.28**
Ethnicity	25**
Gender	23**

Note: ** *p* <.01

Simple regression analysis was conducted to determine if each demographic variable should be included in a full regression model. Education level resulted in the model R^2 = .08, F(1, 128) = 10.50, p <.005. The analysis indicated education level is significant and explains 8% of the variance in climate-change belief. Gender produced R^2 = .25, F(1, 127) = 8.59, p <.005, indicating gender is significant and explains 25% of the variance in climate-change belief. Ethnicity resulted in R^2 = .23, F(1,127) = 7.37, p <.01, which indicates ethnicity is significant and explains 23% of the variance in climate-change belief.

Because all of the demographic variables explained some level of variance in the dependent variable of climate-change belief, multiple regression was used to explore the relationship further. The multiple regression model with all independent variables included resulted in $R^2 = .38$, F(3, 123) = 7.06, p < .0005. The multiple regression model, with all three predictors, explains 38% of the variance in climate-change belief. Education had a significant regression weight, after controlling for other variables in the model. Gender and ethnicity were not significant and did not contribute to the regression model (Table 4.20).

Table 4.20Regression Analysis with Climate-change belief and Demographic Variables

	b	В
Education	0.18	0.06*
Gender	-0.30	-0.18
Ethnicity	-0.09	-0.11

Note: * *p* < .001

Seeing the significant, unique effect of education, researchers were interested in the impact of combing the two regressions models exploring the impacts of issue salience and the demographic variables of education, gender, and ethnicity. Because each of the variables explained some amount of the variance in climate-change belief, they were entered into a regression model by the R^2 value. The multiple regression model resulted in R^2 = .32, F(6, 120) = 9.21, p <.0005. The multiple regression model, with all predictors of issue salience and demographic variables, explains 32% of the variance in climate-change belief. Perceived risk and education had significant regression weights after controlling for the other variables. Experienced hazard, perceived benefit, gender, and ethnicity were not significant (Table 4.21).

Table 4.21 *Regression Analysis with Climate-change belief, Issue Salience, and Demographic Variables*

	0 0	. 0 1	
	b	В	
Perceived risk	0.5	0.46	**
Experienced hazard	-0	-0.16	5
Perceived benefit	0.1	0 0.78	
Education	0.1	7 0.26	*
Gender	-0	-0.19	9
Ethnicity	-0.0	-0.07	7

Note: ** *p* <.0005, * *p* <.001

Correlations between variables in the regression model were examined to describe the relationship between independent variables (Table 4.22). Education and perceived benefits were negatively correlated (r = -.08). Perceived benefit was negatively correlated with perceived risk (r = -.18), experienced hazard (r = -.16) and gender (r = -.22). Perceived risk was also negatively correlated with experienced hazard (r = -.56) (Table 4.22).

Table 4.22Correlation Table of Regression Analysis

	Ethnicity	Education	Perceived benefit	Perceived risk	Experienced hazard	Gender
Ethnicity	1.00	.01	.16	02	.04	66
Education	.01	1.00	08	.01	.00	.00
Perceived benefit	.16	08	1.00	18	16	22
Perceived risk	02	.01	18	1.00	56	.05
Experienced hazard	.04	.00	16	56	1.00	.05
Gender	66	.00	22	.05	.05	1.00

MANOVA

A one-way between groups multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was performed to explore climate-change belief differences in issue salience. Three variables were used in analysis: perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit. The grouping variable was climate-change belief, with five unique groups. Climate-change belief group descriptions can be found in under research objective one in the exploration of climate-change beliefs. Preliminary assumption and validity test were conducted to check for normality, linearity, univariate and

multivariate outliers, homogeneity of variance-covariance matrices, and multicollinearity, with no violations found.

There was a statistically significant difference in climate-change belief groups on the combined variables, F(12, 336) = 3.36, p < .0005; Wilks' Lambda = .74; partial eta squared = .10. The partial eta squared value indicates that 10% of the variance in issue salience is explained by the grouping variable of climate-change belief. When the results for the issue salience variables were considered separately, perceived risk and perceived benefit were statistically significant and experienced hazard was not. Perceived risk was significant at F(4, 129) = 7.08, p < .0005, partial eta squared = .18. Perceived benefit was significant at F(4, 129) = 4.29, p < .01.

Further inspection of perceived risk and climate-change belief mean scores revealed respondents who believed climate change was occurring and mostly caused by human activities had the highest mean (M = 3.58, SD = 0.22) for perceived risk (Table 4.23). A mean score of 3.58 indicated those respondents were somewhat to moderately concerned about the impacts of climate change. Those who believed climate change was occurring and caused by natural and human impacts equally, had the second highest mean score (M = 3.41, SD = 0.11) (Table 4.23).

 Table 4.23

 Perceived Risk Mean Scores by Climate-change belief Group

	Mean	SD	
Occurring, mostly caused by human impacts	3.58	0.22	
Occurring, natural causes and human impacts equally	3.41	0.11	
Occurring, natural causes	2.99	0.11	
Not sufficient evidence	2.77	0.13	
Not occurring	2.24	0.30	

Those who believed climate change was occurring and was caused by both natural and human impacts equally, had the highest mean score for perceived benefit (M = 2.81, SD = 0.12) (Table 4.24). A mean score of 2.81 indicated that respondents perceived minor to some benefit from climate change on their operation. The lowest mean score was for those who believed climate change was not occurring (M = 1.90, SD = 0.32) (Table 4.24).

Table 4.24Perceived Benefit Mean Scores by Climate-change belief Group

	Mean	SD	
Occurring, natural causes and human impacts equally	2.81	0.12	
Occurring, natural causes	2.38	0.12	
Not sufficient evidence	2.25	0.14	
Occurring, caused by human impacts	2.09	0.24	
Not occurring	1.90	0.32	

ANOVA of Significant Issue Salience Variables in MANOVA Analysis

Follow up analyses of the significant issue salience variables in the MANOVA analysis was conducted to identify where significant differences existed within the groups. A one-way between-groups analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to explore the impact of climate-change belief on perceived risks of climate related impacts, as a part of the measurement of issue salience. As described in Chapter 3, respondents were divided into five groups based on their climate-change belief. Within perceived risk, there was a statistically significant difference between the five climate-belief groups: F(4, 129) = 7.08, p < .0005. The effect size, calculated using eta squared, was .18. This is a large effect size according the guidelines established by Cohen (1988), which indicated the effects of perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit, on climate-change belief are a substantive finding.

Post-hoc comparisons using the Tukey HSD test indicated the mean score for Group 1 (M = 2.24, SD = 1.03) was significantly different from Group 4 (M = 3.41, SD = 0.73) and Group 5 (M = 3.58, SD = .56). Group 2 (M = 2.77, SD = 1.3) was also significantly different from Group 4 and Group 5. Group 3 (M =2.99, SD = .78) did not differ significantly from any group. Group 1 and Group 2 did not differ significantly from each other.

ANOVA analysis with post-hoc testing was also conducted on perceived benefit. Within perceived benefit there was a statistically significant difference between the five climate-belief groups: F(4, 129) = 4.29, p < .005. The effect size, calculated using eta squared, was .12. This was considered to a medium effect (Cohen, 1988). Post-hoc comparisons using the Tukey HSD test indicated that only Group 2 (M = 2.25, SD = 0.71) and Group 4 (M = 2.81, SD = 0.74) differed on a statistically significant level.

RO2: Investigate frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to the scientifically designated phenomena of climate change and impacts;

To gather information related to RO2 "Investigate frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to the scientifically designated phenomena of climate change and impacts," a quasi-experimental question design was utilized. Each respondent to the survey was randomly assigned to one of three questions groups with gain, loss, or neutral frames. Within each question group, respondents were asked to respond to eight questions testing four terms and distant and near frame impacts. Responses to framing questions asked respondents to rate how strongly they agreed or disagreed with impacts that occurred on their operations. A five-point Likert-type scale

was used where one (1) was strongly disagree, two (2) somewhat disagree, three (3) neither strongly agreed nor disagreed, four (4) agree, and five (5) strongly agreed.

Outcome Frames (Gain, Loss, and Neutral)

Mean and standard deviations were calculated for the gain, loss, and neutral frame question groups (Table 4.25). Gain frames had the highest mean score (M = 2.73, SD = 0.42). Loss frames had the second highest mean (M = 2.84, SD = 0.63), and the neutral or control frame had the lowest (M = 2.48, SD = 0.86) (Table 4.25).

Table 4.25Gain, Loss, and Neutral Frame Scores

	Mean	SD
Loss frame, $n = 47$	2.84	0.63
Gain frame, $n = 46$	2.73	0.42
Neutral frame, $n = 45$	2.48	0.86

Distant and Near Frames

Distant and near frames were compared between respondents. Each respondent to the survey responded to four questions framed with future (distant) impacts and four questions framed with currently occurring (near) impacts. Distant frames had a mean of 2.66 (n = 138, SD = 0.68). Near frames had a mean of 2.76 (n = 136, SD = 0.75) (Table 4.26).

Table 4.26Distant and Near Frames

	Mean	SD
Distant frame	2.66	0.68
Near frame	2.76	0.75

Terminology Framing

Each of the four terms used within the framing manipulation were studied individually. The four terms examined in the study were extreme weather, weather pattern, weather variability, and climate change. Means were calculated for each term (Table 4.27). Weather pattern had the highest mean score (M = 2.81, SD = 0.82). Extreme weather had the lowest mean score (M = 2.08, SD = 0.92) (Table 4.27).

Table 4.27 *Framing Terminology*

	n	Mean	SD
Weather pattern	138	2.81	0.82
Extreme weather	137	2.08	0.92
Climate change	137	2.33	0.92
Weather variability	135	2.21	0.91

MANCOVA

A one-way between groups multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) was used to explore the impact of framing manipulation on climate-change belief. Three dependent variables were used: outcome (gain, loss, and neutral), distance (current and future), and terminology (extreme weather, weather pattern, weather variability, and climate change) frames. Outcome frame assignment was used as a covariate. Preliminary assumption testing was conducted to check for normality, linearity, univariate and multivariate outliers, homogeneity of variance-covariance matrices, and multicollinearity, with no serious violations found. There was not a statistically significant difference between climate-change belief groups on the combined dependent variables.

ANOVA

A one-way between-groups analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to explore the impact of gain, loss, and neutral frames on perceived impact of climate and weather events on the respondents farming or ranching operation. Respondents were assigned into three groups via random assignment (Group 1: gain frame; Group 2: loss frame; Group 3: neutral frame). The groups were based on the quasi-experimental design of the survey to examine frame treatments.

There was a statistically significant difference at the p < .05 level in total score for the three framing treatment groups: F(2, 135) = 3.57, p = .031. The effect size, calculated by eta squared, was .07. The effect size was considered to have a medium effect based on the guidelines of Cohen (1988). Post-hoc comparisons, using the Tukey HSD test, were made for mean scores between groups to test for significant differences. The loss frame group (M = 2.84, SD = 0.42) differed significantly from the neutral frame (M = 2.48, SD = 0.86). There was not a significant difference between the gain and loss frame groups or the gain and neutral frame groups.

An ANOVA analysis was conducted to determine if there was an impact of gain, loss, and neutral frames on climate-change belief. Finding no statistical significance, the conclusion can be made that there is no statistically significant difference between the frame scores. An ANOVA analysis was conducted to determine if there was an impact of terminology on climate-change belief. Finding no statistical significance, the conclusion can be made that there is no statistically significant difference between the two frame scores.

RO3: Identify the agricultural media and information channels agricultural producers use for climate change.

Respondents to the survey were asked to identify which agricultural media sources they used when thinking about climate and climate change. Most producers (n = 86, 61%) indicated that they used regional agricultural publications for climate and climate-change information. Business reports were used the least (n = 25, 18%), and eight respondents indicated that they did not use any of the listed agriculture publications for climate and climate change information (Table 4.28).

Table 4.28Agricultural Publication Use for Climate and Climate Change

	n	%
Regional agricultural publications	86	61
University publications	76	54
Radio broadcasts	72	51
Industry professional magazines	71	50
Research publications	59	42
Commodity specific magazines	55	39
Commodity organization publications	53	37
TV broadcasts	50	35
Ag expos and/or farm shows	42	30
Business reports	25	18
None of the above	8	6

Respondents were then asked to identify which specific publications within each agricultural publication category they used. A list of publications within each category was provided, and respondents were asked to select each publication they used. *Kansas Farmer* (n = 73, 85%) and

High Plains Journal (n = 71, 83%) were used most by those respondents who indicated they used regional agricultural publications (Table 4.29).

Table 4.29 *Regional Agricultural Publications*

	n	%
Kansas Farmer	73	85
High Plains Journal	71	83
Kansas Stockman	28	33
Farm Progress Daily Newsletter	14	16
Western Farm Press	12	14
Farm Talk Newspaper	8	9
The Farmer	6	7
Prairie Farmer	5	6
American Agriculturalist	2	2
None	1	1

University publications were the second highest source respondents indicated they used for climate and climate-change information (Table 4.28). Of the provided options, the K-State Research and Extension (KSRE) Bookstore (n = 45, 63%) and extension fact sheets (n = 36, 50%) were used the most (Table 4.30).

Table 4.30 *University Publications*

	n	%	
KSRE Bookstore	45	63	
Extension Fact Sheets	36	50	
Ag Report	19	26	
None of the provided university publications	11	15	
OSU Ag Communications	4	6	
AgMRC	3	4	
SUNUPtv	3	4	
Agri Leader	3	4	
Agri Life Today	2	3	

Respondents indicated that radio was the third preferred media source for information about climate and climate change (Table 4.28). Those that indicated they used radio were asked to select which specific sources they used. KFRM 550 AM (n = 49, 68%) was used the most, followed by AgriTalk (n = 30, 42%) (Table 4.31).

Table 4.31Agricultural Radio Broadcasts

	n	%
KFRM 550AM	49	68
AgriTalk	30	42
Successful Farming Radio	16	22
Max Armstrong's Midwest Digest	14	19
None of the provided radio broadcasts	10	14
Farm Progress America	8	11
KLA Radio	4	6
Radio Oklahoma Agricultural Network	2	3
Down on the Farm Radio Network	2	3
WGN Radio Saturday Morning Show	1	1
Texas Ag Radio Network	1	1

Other media sources included industry professional magazines, research publications, commodity specific magazines, commodity organization publications, television broadcasts, agriculture expos and/or farm shows, and business reports. Respondents were asked to report which specific sources they used in each category (Table 4.32).

Table 4.32 *Other Agricultural Publications*

Industry professional magazines		n	%
	None of the provided industry magazines	50	70
	AgProfessional.com	9	13
	Feedstuffs	8	11
	Bovine Veterinarian	4	6
	BEEF Vet	3	4
Research publications			
	USDA Agricultural Research Service	30	51
	None of the provided research publications	24	41
	Agriculture Week	10	17
	Journal Of Agricultural Science	6	10
	Journal of Agricultural and Food Economics	4	7
	Journal of Animal Science and Technology	4	7
	Chemical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture	3	5
	Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology	3	5
	Agriculture and Food Security	1	2
	Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Systems	1	2
	Journal of Plant Pathology	1	2
	International Journal on Advances in Precision Agriculture	1	2
	International Organization for Biological Control	0	0
	International Society of Organic Agriculture Research	0	0

Table 4.31Continued from page 85
Commodity specific magazines

	n	%
Farm Journal	42	76
Corn Soybean Digest	29	53
BEEF	18	33
Drovers Cattle Network	15	27
Beef Producer	14	25
Beef Today	13	24
Drover Cow Calf	10	18
National Cattlemen	10	18
Angus Journal	8	15
Western Farmer Stockman	7	13
None of the provided commodity specific magazines	5	9
National Hog Farmer	2	4
Pork Network	1	2
Calf News	1	2
Feedlot Magazine	1	2
Dairy Herd Management	0	0
The Packer	0	0
Farm Journals Milk	0	0
Dairy Today	0	0

Table 4.31

	n	%
Kansas Stockman	21	40
None of the provided commodity organization publications	20	38
Kansas Soybean	16	30
Oklahoma Wheat	1	2
OK Cowman	1	2
Pig Tales	1	2
RFD Tv	21	42
None of the provided TV broadcasts	21	42
This Week in Agribusiness	17	34
3iShow	21	50
Topeka Farm Show	14	33
Great Bend Farm and Ranch Show	14	33
Husker Harvest Days	14	33
Wichita Farm Ranch Show	11	26
Commodity Classic	9	21
Mid America Farm Show	8	19
Western Farm Show	5	12
	None of the provided commodity organization publications Kansas Soybean Oklahoma Wheat OK Cowman Pig Tales RFD Tv None of the provided TV broadcasts This Week in Agribusiness 3iShow Topeka Farm Show Great Bend Farm and Ranch Show Husker Harvest Days Wichita Farm Ranch Show Commodity Classic Mid America Farm Show	Kansas Stockman None of the provided commodity organization publications Kansas Soybean Oklahoma Wheat OK Cowman Pig Tales 1 RFD Tv None of the provided TV broadcasts This Week in Agribusiness 17 3iShow 21 Topeka Farm Show 44 Husker Harvest Days Wichita Farm Ranch Show 11 Commodity Classic 9 Mid America Farm Show 8

Table 4.31

Continued from page 87		n	%
	None of the provided ag expos/farm shows	4	10
	Four State Farm Show	2	5
	Cattle Raisers Convention Expo	2	5
	Fort Worth Stock Show and Rodeo	2	5
	Tulsa Farm Show	2	5
	Farm Progress Show	2	5
	Hay Forage Expo	1	2
Business reports			
	Successful Farming	23	92
	Farm Futures	18	72
	US Farm Report	12	48
	Ag Professional	4	16
	Farm Progress Data Solutions	4	16
	Doane	3	12
	Weekly Livestock Reporter	2	8
	None of the provided business reports	1	4

Exploration of Climate-change belief Means by Publication Use

Initial means and standard deviations were calculated for climate-change belief based on reported use of agricultural media sources (Table 4.33). Respondents that reported using business reports for information about climate and climate change, had the highest climate-change belief score (M = 3.68, SD = 0.99). The lowest climate-change belief score (M = 2.38, SD = 0.92) was for those who reported not using any of the media sources for climate or climate change information (Table 4.33).

Table 4.33 *Climate-change belief Mean by Publication Use*

	n	Mean	SD
Business reports	25	3.68	0.99
TV broadcasts	50	3.46	0.91
Research publications	59	3.41	1.05
University publications	76	3.37	0.96
Industry professional magazines	71	3.37	0.90
Ag expos and/or farm shows	42	3.36	0.93
Commodity specific magazines	55	3.33	0.96
Radio broadcasts	72	3.25	0.96
Regional ag publications	85	3.25	1.02
Commodity organization publications	53	3.19	1.00
None of the above	8	2.38	0.92

Initial means and standard deviations were also calculated for issue salience variables (Table 4.34). Television broadcast viewers had the highest mean (M = 3.32, SD = 0.77) for perceived risk of climate-change impacts. Respondents who reported using business reports had the highest mean (M = 2.34, SD = 0.61) for reported experienced climate-change related hazards. Television viewers also reported the highest mean (M = 2.62, SD = 0.77) for perceived benefits of climate-change impacts (Table 4.34).

Table 4.34Issue Salience Variables by Publication Use

	Perceived risk		Experienced hazard		Perceive	ed benefit
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
TV broadcasts	3.32	0.77	2.32	0.64	2.62	0.77
Ag expos/farm shows	3.20	0.83	2.32	0.67	2.59	0.87
Radio broadcasts	3.17	0.84	2.30	0.69	2.53	0.85
Business reports	3.16	0.78	2.34	0.61	2.42	0.65
Commodity specific magazines	3.15	0.80	2.27	0.72	2.45	0.84
University publications	3.14	0.75	2.26	0.60	2.47	0.83
Industry profession magazines	3.13	0.76	2.21	0.61	2.44	0.83
Research publications	3.12	0.81	2.27	0.60	2.45	0.81
Regional ag publications	3.11	0.82	2.26	0.63	2.46	0.78
Commodity org. publications	3.09	0.79	2.26	0.68	2.30	0.75
No listed publications	2.51	0.77	1.88	0.28	2.05	0.85

To further explore the mean differences for climate-change belief and issue salience variables, independent-samples t-tests were conducted to compare the mean scores for those who reported using each media type, and those that did not (Table 4.35). Several significant differences for users and non-users were found throughout the variables. A significant difference existed in climate-change belief for users (M = 3.41, SD = 1.05) and non-users (M = 3.01, SD = 0.97) of research publications: t (132) = -2.25, p <.05. A significant mean difference in climate-change belief also existed for users (M = 3.37, SD = 0.90) and non-users (M = 2.98, SD = 1.40) of industry professional magazines: t (132) = -2.20, p <.05. Climate-change belief means also had a statistically significant difference between users (M = 3.68, SD = 0.99) and non-users (M = 3.07, SD = 1.0) of business reports: t (132) -2.75, p <.01. Users (M = 3.37, SD = 0.96) and non-users (M = 2.95, SD = 1.05) of university publications also differed significantly on climate-change belief: t (132) = 2.36, p <.05. Users (M = 3.46, SD = 0.91) and non-users (M = 3.02, SD = 1.05)

of television broadcasts had statistically significant differences in climate-change belief: t (132) - 2.44, p < .05. Significant differences were also found in climate-change belief for overall users (M = 3.24, SD = 1.0) and non-users (M = 2.38, SD = .91) of provided media source types: t (132) 2.36, p < .05 (Table 4.35).

Table 4.35 *Climate-Change Belief T-Test for Media Type Users and Non-users*

	Users		Non-users		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	t
Research publications	3.41	1.05	3.01	0.97	-2.25*
Industry professional magazines	3.37	0.90	2.98	1.40	-2.20*
Business reports	3.68	0.99	3.07	1.00	-2.75*
University publications	3.37	0.96	2.95	1.05	2.36*
Television broadcasts	3.46	0.91	3.02	1.05	-2.44*
Overall use	3.24	1.00	2.38	0.91	2.36*

Note: *p <.05

Users (M = 3.32, SD = 0.77) and non-users (M = 2.98, SD = 0.79) of television broadcasts had statistically significant differences on perceived risk: t (140) -2.48, p < .05) (Table 4.36). Statistically significant differences also existed in means for those who reported they used none of the provided media sources for climate and climate change information, and those that did. Significant differences were found for users (M = 3.13, SD = 0.78) and non-users (M = 2.51, SD = 0.77) on perceived risk means: t (140) 2.19, p < .05 (Table 4.36).

Table 4.36Perceived Risk T-Test for Media Type Users and Non-Users

	Users		Non-users		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	t
Television broadcast	3.32	0.77	2.98	0.79	-2.48
Overall use	3.13	0.78	2.51	0.77	2.19

Regression Analysis of Preferred Agricultural Media Source

Analyses of bivariate correlations were conducted for preferred media type and climate-change belief (Table 4.36). Significant correlations were found for research publications (r = .19), industry professional magazines (r = .19), business reports (r = .23), TV broadcasts (r = .21) and university publications (r = .21), all at the p < .05 level. A significant negative correlation was found to exist between climate-change belief and the non-use of provided media sources (Table 4.37).

Table 4.37 *Correlation Between Publications and Climate-Change Belief*

	r	
Business reports	.23*	
TV broadcasts	.21*	
University publications	.21*	
No listed publications	20*	
Research publications	.19*	
Industry professional magazines	.19*	

^{*}Note: significant at the p < .05 level

Publications with significant bivariate correlations were entered into a multiple regression model (Table 4.38). The regression model with the independent variables of research publications, industry professional magazines, business reports, television broadcast, university publications, and no listed publications resulted in $R^2 = .39$, F (6, 133) = 3.72, p < .005. The regression model explains 39% of the variation in climate-change belief. Television broadcasts were the only significant variable in the regression model (Table 4.38).

Table 4.38Regression Analysis with Preferred Media Source and Climate-Change Belief

	В	Beta	
TV broadcasts	.41	.20*	
Business reports	.40	.15	
University publications	.21	.10	
Research publications	.21	.10	
Industry professional magazines	.20	.10	
No listed publications	28	07	
Note: *significant at the $p < .05$ level			

H1: Agricultural producers in the Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub area will be located within the audience segment groups of the concerned and the cautious as identified in the Six America's (2012) study.

One question was used to investigate which audience segment respondents fit into within the Six America's spectrum. It was hypothesized that the majority of the respondents would be located within two segment groups, the concerned and the cautious. Based upon the climate-change belief question, the majority of respondents fell into the segment groups of the concerned (n = 45, 33%) and cautious (n = 42, 31.3%) (Table 4.38). The comparison of the two groups indicates that the predicted hypothesis was true.

Table 4.39 *Climate-Change Belief Frequencies*

	n	%
The concerned: climate change is occurring, and is caused more or less equally by natural changes in the environment and human activities.	45	33.6
The cautious: climate change is occurring, and it's caused by mostly natural changes in the environment.	42	31.3
The doubtful: there is not sufficient evidence to know with certainty whether climate change is occurring or not	30	22.4
The alarmed: climate change is occurring, and is caused mostly by human activities.	11	8.2
The dismissive: climate change is not occurring	6	4.5
Total	134	100

Summary

An Internet survey was used to explore agricultural producers level of issue salience in climate change; the frames and messages agricultural producers in Kansas use and accept related to climate change and the impacts of a changing climate; identify preferred agricultural media sources; and compare agricultural producer audience segments to the segments of the Six America's study (Leiserowitz et al., 2013). The study included a purposive sample of agricultural producers in Kansas who were contacted through the Kansas Association of Wheat Growers. Researchers discovered the impacts of issue salience on climate-change belief, differences between demographic and belief groups, the impact of framing on climate-change belief, and preferred agricultural media sources.

General demographics are described in the beginning of the chapter to provide a profile of the respondents. Respondents were from 58 counties within Kansas. The majority of respondents (n

= 72, 55.4%) had a bachelor's degree. Large family farms (n = 41, 32.3%) and very large family farms (n = 39, 30.7%) were the most common type of operation. A vast majority of respondents were Republican (n = 95, 73.6%), Caucasian (n = 123, 95.3%), and male (n = 100, 77.5). The largest group of respondents reported their age between 56 and 60 (n = 38, 29.7%). Over half (n = 90, 69.8%) of respondents indicated they were the owner/operator of their operation.

In addressing RO1, the level of issue salience related to climate-change belief, the chapter provided findings related to perceived risk, experienced hazard, and climate-change belief. In response to concern for risk of climate-related events, respondents indicated their summative average concern for all nine measures of perceived risk was $3.10 \ (SD = 0.78)$. Average concern for perceived risks was slightly above the somewhat concerned level. Respondent indicated their average experienced hazard was $2.22 \ (SD = 0.55)$. The aggregate perceived benefit of climate related events in the last five years was $2.48 \ (SD = 0.84)$. All measures for perceived benefits fell in the range of minor benefit to some benefit. Additionally, the mean response for respondent climate-change belief was $3.19 \ (SD = 1.02)$. A mean score of $3.19 \ \text{indicated}$ most respondents believed the climate was changing, and was caused by mostly natural changes in the environment.

Demographic differences were compared against climate-change belief to explore the differences. ANOVA analysis was used to determine if there were statistically significant differences between groups. Statistically significant differences in groups were found for education, political party, gender, and ethnicity.

Each of the independent variables of issue salience was significantly correlated with climate-change belief. Perceived risk (r = .42) was significant at the p <.01 level. Experienced hazard (r = .20) and perceived benefit (r = .19) were significant at the p <.05 level. The multiple regression model with all independent variables included resulted in R^2 = .18, F(3, 130) = 9.70, p <.0005. The multiple regression model with all three predictors explained 18% of the variance in climate-change belief. Perceived risk had a significant regression weight, after controlling for other variables in the model.

Each of the demographic variables was examined for significant correlations with climate-change belief. Education (r = .28), gender (r = -.23), and ethnicity (r = -.25) all had statistically significant correlations with climate-change belief at the p < .01 level. The multiple regression model with all independent variables included resulted in R^2 = .38, F(3, 123) = 7.06, p < .0005. The multiple regression model, with all three predictors, explained 38% of the variance in climate-change belief.

Significantly correlated issue salience and demographic variables were entered into a regression model to explore the impact on climate-change belief. The multiple regression model resulted in $R^2 = .32$, F(6, 120) = 9.21, p < .0005. The multiple regression model, with all predictors of issue salience and demographic variables, explained 32% of the variance in climate-change belief. Perceived risk and education had significant regression weights after controlling for the other variables. Experienced hazard, perceived benefit, gender, and ethnicity were not significant.

A MANCOVA analysis revealed there was a statistically significant difference in climate-change belief groups on the combined variables, F(12, 336) = 3.36, p < .0005; Wilks' Lambda = .74; partial eta squared = .10. The partial eta squared value indicated that 10% of the variance in issue salience was explained by the grouping variable of climate-change belief. When the results for the issue salience variables were considered separately, perceived risk and perceived benefit were statistically significant and experienced hazard was not.

In addressing RO2, the frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to climate change and impacts, MANCOVA analysis revealed there was not a statistically significant difference between climate-belief groups and the three dependent frame manipulations. ANOVA analysis revealed statistically significant differences for climate-change belief between loss and neutral frame groups. There was a statistically significant difference at the p < .05 level in total score for the three framing treatment groups: F(2, 135) = 3.57, p = .031. The effect size, calculated by eta squared, was .07. The loss frame group (M = 2.84, SD = 0.42) differed significantly from the neutral frame (M = 2.48, SD = 0.86). There was not a significant difference between the gain and loss frame groups or the gain and neutral frame groups. Further ANOVA analysis revealed no significant differences for distance or terminology framing.

For RO3, preferred agricultural media sources, producers (n = 86, 61%) indicated they used regional agricultural publications for climate and climate-change information. Business reports were used the least (n = 25, 18%). Eight respondents indicated that they did not use any of the listed agricultural publications for climate and climate-change information.

In addressing H1, the prediction that agricultural producers will fall into the segment groups of concerned and cautious, the majority of respondents fell into the segment groups of the concerned (n = 45, 33%) and cautious (n = 42, 31.3%) (Table 4.26). The comparison of the two groups indicated the predicted hypothesis was true. The doubtful (n = 30, 22.4%) were also a group of considerable size in the analysis.

Chapter 5 - Discussion and Conclusions

The agricultural industry is vulnerable to the impacts of climate change, as well as a significant contributor to the amount of greenhouse gasses (IPCC, 2007b) in the atmosphere. Without adaptation to climate change, further impacts are expected to have a substantial impact on agriculture (Field et al., 2014). While there is a scientific majority that agrees climate change is occurring (Cook et al., 2013), a portion of the agricultural population does not believe, acknowledge, or understand climate change and how it is happening (Arbuckle et al., 2013a; Barnes & Toma, 2012; Haden et al., 2012; Hamilton et al., 2007).

Communicators and educators have been tasked with delivering science-based information on climate change. In a collaborative effort to deliver science-based information to agricultural producers, the Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub (SPRCH) was established to serve Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas (USDA Climate Hubs, 2015). However, agricultural producers in the Midwest and Southern Plains still have widely varied perceptions of climate change and tend to doubt its existence (Dunlap & McCright, 2008; Hamilton et al., 2007; Nisbet & Myers, 2007). Agricultural producers that perceive climate change to be a risk with negative impacts are more likely to embrace adaptive actions (Arbuckle et al., 2013b; Howden et al., 2007). Audience segmentation and trust in media sources, have been suggested to impact agricultural producers perception of climate change and are possible avenues for communication strategy (Arbuckle et al., 2013).

Improving understanding and acceptance of climate change is still necessary, however, the need for agricultural producers to embrace adaptive measures through framing and risk perception has

become an important goal of the current federal administration and is necessary to maintain a productive agricultural system in the United States (Executive Office of the President, 2013). Little research exists on agricultural audiences specific climate-change communication needs and perceptions. The purpose of this Internet survey was to expand the existing research body related to agricultural audiences communication needs, specifically related to climate-change frames and messages agricultural producers use and accept related to climate change. It was of additional interest to explore the climate-change beliefs and preferred agricultural media sources for climate and climate change information.

Development of the instrument was guided by agenda-setting theory which includes issue salience and framing. Audience segmentation, as a communication strategy, also guided the development of the instrument. The study examined a purposive sample of 142 agricultural producers in Kansas which were recruited for participation through the Kansas Association of Wheat Growers. The instrument was administered through an Internet survey distributed via email to 585 recipients, 2,989 followers on Facebook, and 5,444 Kansas Wheat Twitter followers. An invitation-survey-reminder method was used to distribute the survey, which was open from March 3 to March 14, 2016.

Specific research objectives guided this study:

- RO1: Describe the level of issue salience agricultural producers have related to climate change;
- RO2: Investigate frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to the scientifically designated phenomena of climate change and impacts; and

 RO3: Identify the agricultural media and information channels agricultural producers use for climate change.

Based on findings in previous research, one hypothesis was developed:

H1: Agricultural producers in the Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub area will be located within the audience segment groups of the concerned and the cautious as identified in the Six America's (2012) study.

Conclusions

An Internet survey was used to explore the level of issue salience in climate change; the frames and messages agricultural producers use and accept related to climate change and the impacts of a changing climate; identify preferred agricultural media sources; and compare agricultural producer audience segments to the segments of the Six America's study (Leiserowitz et al., 2013). The study included a purposive sample of agricultural producers in Kansas who were contacted through the Kansas Association of Wheat Growers. Researchers explored the impacts of issue salience on climate-change belief, differences between demographic and belief groups, the impact of framing on climate-change belief, and preferred agricultural media sources.

General demographics of the study respondents are described in the beginning of Chapter Four. Respondents were from 58 counties within Kansas. Two respondents were from Oklahoma and one was from Texas. It was assumed that the respondents from Oklahoma and Texas were associated with the Kansas Association of Wheat Growers through membership or land ownership. The majority of respondents (n = 72, 55.4%) had a bachelor's degree, 18 (13.8%) had a master's degree, 15 (11.5%) had some college credit, 9 (6.9%) graduated high school or had an equivalent completion, 7 (5.4%) had trade, technical or vocational training, 7 (5.4%) had an

associate's degree, and 2 (1.5%) had a doctoral degree. Large family farms (n = 41, 32.3%) and very large family farms (n = 39, 30.7%) were the most common type of operation. Other types of farming operations included residential or lifestyle farms (n = 17, 13.4%), farming-occupation farms (n = 15, 11.8%), limited-resource farms (n = 11, 8.7%), retirement farms (n = 2, 1.6%), and non-family farms (n = 2, 1.6%).

A vast majority of respondents identified themselves as being Republican (n = 95, 73.6%) in their political identity. Independents comprised the second largest group (n = 19, 14.7%). Democrats made up 5.4% of the population (n = 7). Five respondents (3.9%) identified with another party not listed. Three (2.3%) respondents did not affiliate themselves with any party and were not interested in politics.

Age of the respondents was also reported. Age was classified in six-year increments. The population was made up of 11 (8.6%) 18-24 year olds, 17 (13.3%) in the age range of 25-30, 15 (11.7%) in the age range of 31-35, 10 (7.8%) in the age range of 36-40, 5 (3.9%) in the age range of 41-45, 7 (5.5%) in the age range of 46-50, 22 (17.2%) in the age range of 51-55. The largest group of respondents reported their age between 56 and 60 (n = 38, 29.7%), and three (2.3%) that were 61 and above.

Respondents were asked to identify their gender as part of the demographic information gathered. Males comprised 77.5% (n = 100) of the population. Females made up 19.4% (n = 25) and 3.1% (n = 4) preferred not to answer.

The ethnicity of respondents was also of interest to researchers. A large majority of respondents reported their race as Caucasian (n = 123, 95.3%). One respondent (0.8%) indicated they were Native American. Three respondents (2.3%) preferred not to provide their ethnicity. Three respondents (2.3%) identified their ethnicity as being "other." Of those that identified their ethnicity as "other," one individual reported being "European American." Hispanic/Latino, African American, and Asian/Pacific Islanders ethnicities were not represented in this study.

Since the focus of the study was on farmers and ranchers in Kansas, researchers asked respondents to identify their role on the operation. Over half (n = 90, 69.8%) of respondents indicated they were the owner/operator of their operation. Managers/operators comprised 8.5% (n = 11) of the population. Farmhands/laborers, spouses of owners, and children of owners, each had six respondents, or 4.7% of the population each. Four respondents (3.1%) identified themselves as being co-owners of the operation. Landlords made up 2.3% (n = 3) of the population as did tenants (n = 3).

In addressing RO1, the level of issue salience related to climate-change belief, the study provided findings related to issue salience, the combination of perceived risk, experienced hazard, perceived benefit, and climate-change belief. In response to concern for perceived risk of climate related events, respondents indicated their summative average concern for all nine measures of perceived risk was 3.10 (SD = 0.78) on a five point scale. Average concern for perceived risks was slightly above the somewhat concerned level. The highest level of concern was for longer dry periods and drought (M = 4.06, SD = 1.04). A mean of 4.06 indicated respondents were slightly more than moderately concerned. The lowest perceived risk was for

increased flooding (M = 2.24, SD = 1.21), indicating that respondents were slightly concerned. Respondent indicated their average experienced hazard was 2.22 (SD = 0.55). Significant drought (M = 3.73, SD = 0.97) was the experienced hazard with the reported highest impact, with an impact between moderate and major. The aggregate perceived benefit of climate related events in the last five years was 2.48 (SD = 0.84). Increased options in crop variety had the highest mean score (M = 2.99, SD = 1.24). All measures for perceived benefits fell in the range of minor benefit to some benefit.

Additionally, the mean response for respondent climate-change belief was 3.19 (SD = 1.02). A mean score of 3.19 indicated most respondents believed the climate was changing, and was caused by mostly natural changes in the environment. Respondents indicated a wide range of climate-change beliefs. Most respondents (n = 45, 33.6%) indicated they believed climate change has occurred and was caused more or less equally by natural changes in the environment and human activities. A smaller portion of the population (n = 42, 31.3%) believed that climate change has occurred, and is caused mostly by natural changes in the environment. Other respondents (n = 30, 22.4%) indicated they believed there is not sufficient evidence to know with certainty whether climate change was occurring or not. A small portion (n = 11, 8.2%) believed that climate change was occurring, and was caused mostly by human activities. The smallest section of respondents (n = 6, 4.5%) believed climate change was not occurring.

Demographic differences were compared against climate-change belief to explore the differences. ANOVA analysis was used to determine if there were statistically significant differences between groups. Statistically significant differences in groups were found for

education (p <.01), political party (p <.001), and gender (p <.005). Demographics with non-significant differences were farm type, age, and role on farm. No differences were explored by ethnicity because of the homogeneous sample in the study.

ANOVA analysis with post-hoc testing was conducted to explore the difference in educational and climate-change belief. Respondents were divided into seven groups for educational levels; Group 1 (high school graduate or equivalent), Group 2 (some college credit), Group 3 (trade/technical/vocational training), Group 4 (associate's degree), Group 5 (bachelor's degree), Group 6 (master's degree), and Group 7 (doctoral degree). There was a statistically significant difference at the p < .01 level for the six education levels: F (6, 123) = 3.18, p = .006. The effect size of .13, using eta squared, was considered to be a medium effect. Post-hoc comparisons using the Tukey HSD test indicated the mean score for Group 1 (M = 2.11, SD = 1.05) was statistically different from Group 5 (M = 3.28, SD = 1.0), Group 6 (M = 3.39, SD = 1.04), and Group 7 (M = 4.50, SD = 0.17). Group 2 (M = 3.27, SD = 3.27), Group 3 (M = 2.57, SD = 0.98), and Group 4 (M = 3.14, SD = 0.69) did not differ significantly from any other group.

ANOVA analysis with post-hoc testing was conducted to explore the difference in political party and climate-change belief. Respondents were divided into five groups; Group 1 (Republican), Group 2 (Democrat), Group 3 (Independent), Group 4 (Other), and Group 5 (no party, not interested in politics). There was a statistically significant difference at the p <.001 level for the five political party identifications: F (4, 124) = 4.98, p = .001. The effect size of .14, using eta squared, was considered to be a large effect. Post-hoc comparisons using the Tukey HSD test indicated the mean score for Group 2 (M = 4.14, SD = 1.07) was statistically different from

Group 4 (M = 2.40, SD = 1.14) and Group 5 (M = 1.67, SD = 0.56). Group 3 (M = 3.47, SD = 1.17) was only significantly different from Group 5. Group 1 was not significantly different from any group.

ANOVA analysis with post-hoc testing was conducted to explore the difference in gender group and climate-change belief. Respondents were divided into three groups; Group 1 (male), Group 2 (female), and Group 3 (prefer not to answer). There was a statistically significant difference at the p < .005 level for the three gender groups: F(2, 226) = 6.13, p = .003. The effect size of .09, using eta square, was considered to be a medium effect. Post-hoc comparisons using the Tukey HSD test in indicated the mean score for Group 1 (M = 3.25, SD = 1.02) was statistically different from Group 4 (M = 1.50, SD = 0.56). Group 2 (M = 3.16, SD = 0.85) was also statistically different from Group 2. Group 1 and Group 2 were not statistically different from each other.

Bivariate correlation was used to examine the relationship between issue salience and climate-change belief. Each of the independent variables of issue salience, perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit, was significantly correlated with climate-change belief. Perceived risk (r =.42) was significant at the p <.01 level. Experienced hazard (r =.20) and perceived benefit (r =.19) were significant at the p <.05 level. Finding significant bivariate correlations for each independent variable, a regression model was calculated. The multiple regression model with all independent variables included resulted in R^2 = .18, F(3, 130) = 9.70, p <.0005. The multiple regression model with all three predictors explained 18% of the variance in climate-

change belief. Perceived risk had a significant regression weight (B = .47), after controlling for other variables in the model.

Each of the demographic variables was examined for significant correlations with climate-change belief. Education (r = .28), gender (r = -.23), and ethnicity (r = -.25) all had statistically significant correlations with climate-change belief at the p < .01 level. Finding significant correlations for the three demographic variables, a regression model was calculated. The multiple regression model with all independent variables included resulted in R^2 = .38, F(3, 123) = 7.06, p < .0005. The multiple regression model, with all three predictors, explained 38% of the variance in climate-change belief. Education had a significant regression weight (B = .06, p < .001), after controlling for gender and ethnicity.

Seeing the significance of issue salience and demographic variables, researchers were interested in further exploring the relationship. Significantly correlated issue salience and demographic variables were entered into a regression model to explore the impact on climate-change belief. The multiple regression model resulted in $R^2 = .32$, F(6, 120) = 9.21, p < .0005. The multiple regression model, with all predictors of issue salience and demographic variables, explained 32% of the variance in climate-change belief. Perceived risk (B = .46, p < .0005) and education (B = .26, p < .0001) had significant regression weights after controlling for the other variables. Experienced hazard, perceived benefit, gender, and ethnicity were not significant in the regression model.

A one-way between-groups multivariate analysis of variance (MANVOA) was used to explore issue salience differences between the five climate-change belief groups. The MAOVA analysis revealed there was a statistically significant difference in climate-change belief groups on the combined variables, F(12, 336) = 3.36, p < .0005; Wilks' Lambda = .74; partial eta squared = .10. The partial eta squared value indicated that 10% of the variance in issue salience was explained by the grouping variable of climate-change belief. The 10% of variance was considered to be a medium effect size. When the results for the issue salience variables were considered separately, perceived risk and perceived benefit were statistically significant and experienced hazard was not. Perceived risk was significant at F(4, 129) = 7.08, p < .0005, partial eta squared = .18. Perceived benefit was significant at F(4, 129) = 4.29, p < .01.

Overall, the regression model comparing agricultural producers issue salience and climate-change belief indicated issue salience explained 18% of the variance in climate-change belief. Perceived risk had a significant regression weight (B = .47), after controlling for other variables, indicating perceived risk had the greatest impact on climate-change belief. When demographic variables are added to the regression model, the variance explained by the model increased to 32%. Perceived risk and education were significant in the regression model, which indicated the variables had the most power in explaining climate-change belief. Significant differences in climate-change belief existed within education, political party, and gender.

In addressing RO2, the frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to climate change and impacts, a quasi-experimental design was used within the survey instrument. Respondents were randomly assigned to one of three question groups with gain, loss, or neutral framed climate and

weather impacts and events that may or may not impact the farming and/or ranching operation. Items in each frame group asked respondents to reply to eight questions testing distant (future) and near (current) frame impacts and four terms. The four terms examined were extreme weather, weather pattern, weather variability, and climate change.

Initial means and standard deviations were calculated for each frame manipulation for basic comparison. Within gain, loss, and neutral frames, loss frames had the highest mean score (M = 2.73, SD = 0.42). Gain frames had the second highest mean score (M = 2.73, SD = 0.42). Neutral frames had the lowest mean score (M = 2.48, SD = 0.86).

Means and standard deviations were also calculated for each term used within the frame manipulations. Weather pattern had the highest mean score (M = 2.81, SD = 0.82), followed by climate change (M = 2.33, SD = 0.92). Weather variability had the third lowest mean (M = 2.21, SD = 0.91). Extreme weather had the lowest mean (M = 2.08, SD = 0.92).

A one-way between-groups multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) was used to explore the impact of framing manipulations on clime-change belief. Three dependent variables were used: outcome (gain, loss, and neutral frames), distant (current and future), and terminology (extreme weather, weather pattern, weather variability, and climate change). The outcome frame assignment was used as the covariate. MANCOVA analysis revealed there was not a statistically significant difference between climate-change belief groups and the three dependent frame manipulations.

To explore the impact of gain, loss, and neutral frames on climate-change belief, an ANOVA analysis was used. The ANOVA revealed statistically significant differences for climate-change belief between gain, loss, neutral, and frame groups. There was a statistically significant difference at the p < .05 level in total score for the three framing treatment groups: F(2, 135) = 3.57, p = .031. The effect size, calculated by eta squared, was .07. The loss frame group (M = 2.84, SD = 0.42) differed significantly from the neutral frame (M = 2.48, SD = 0.86). There was not a significant difference between the gain and loss frame groups or the gain and neutral frame groups.

ANOVA analysis was conducted to explore the impact of near and distant frames on climate-change belief. The ANOVA did not produce significant differences between the two groups of respondents. Further ANOVA analysis to explore terminology framing and climate change also revealed there were not significant differences for the various terms. Analysis of message framing indicated loss frames differed significantly (p < .05) from neutral frames. Significant differences in distance and terminology framing were not found. Results suggest that loss framing had the largest impact on climate-change belief.

For RO3, preferred agricultural media sources, respondents were asked to identify which agricultural based media sources they used when seeking information about climate and climate change. Most producers (n = 86, 61%) indicated they used regional agricultural publications for climate and climate-change information. University publications were used by 54% (n = 76) of the respondents. Radio broadcasts were used by 51% (n = 72) of respondents. Industry professional magazines were used by 50% (n = 71) of respondents. Slightly less than half (n = 71) of respondents.

59, 42%) of respondents used research publications. Commodity specific magazines were used by 39% (n = 55) of respondents. Commodity organization publications were used by 37% (n = 53) of survey respondents. Television broadcasts were used by 35% (n = 50) respondents. Agricultural expos and farm shows were used for climate and climate-change information by 30% (n = 42) respondents. Business reports were used the least (n = 25, 18%). Eight respondents indicated they did not use any of the listed agricultural publications for climate and climate-change information.

After identifying which media sources respondents preferred for information about climate and climate change, respondents were asked to identifying specific publications within each category. Within regional agricultural publications, Kansas Farmer (n = 73, 85%) and High *Plains Journal* (n = 71, 83%) were the publications the majority of respondents said they used. The K-State Research and Extension Bookstore (n = 45, 63%) and Extension fact sheets (n = 36, 50%) were the university publications used by the majority of respondents who indicated use of university publications. Radio was the third most preferred agricultural media source with the majority (n = 49, 68%) of respondents indicating they used KFRM 550 AM. Respondents indicated that the majority (n = 50, 70%), did not used any of the provided industry professional magazines which included: AgProfessionals.com (n = 9, 13%), Feedstuffs (n = 8, 11%), Bovine Veterinarian (n = 4, 6%), and BEEF Vet (n = 3, 4%). The most frequently used research publication was the USDA Agricultural Research Service (n = 30, 51%). Forty-one percent (n = 30, 51%). 24) of respondents indicated they did not use any of the provided research publication. All other publications were used by less than ten (17%) respondents. Full results for the remaining media types can be found in Chapter Four.

Since researchers were interested in providing the most complete audience segment profile possible, respondents' climate-change belief scores were examined by the grouping variable of reported use of media type. Those who reported using business reports had the highest (M = 3.68, SD = 0.99) mean score for climate-change belief. Respondents that used television broadcasts for climate and climate-change information had the second highest mean score (M = 3.46, SD = 0.91). Research publication users had a mean of 3.41 (SD = 1.05), university publications (M = 3.37, SD = 0.96), industry profession magazines (M = 3.37, SD = 0.90), agricultural expos/farm shows (M = 3.36, SD = 0.93), commodity specific magazines (M = 3.33, SD = 0.96), radio broadcasts (M = 3.25, SD = 0.96), regional agriculture publications (M = 3.25, SD = 1.02), and commodity organization publications (M = 3.19, SD = 1.00). Those respondents that reported using none of the provided media types (M = 2.38, SD = 0.92) for information on climate and climate change had a mean score lower than 3.0.

Initial means and standard deviations were also calculated for issue salience variables. Television broadcast viewers had the highest mean (M = 3.32, SD = 0.77) for perceived risk of climate-change impacts. Respondents who reported using business reports had the highest mean (M = 2.34, SD = 0.61) for reported experienced climate-change related hazards. Television viewers also reported the highest mean (M = 2.62, SD = 0.77) for perceived benefits of climate-change impacts.

To further explore the mean differences for climate-change belief and issue salience variables, independent-samples t-tests were conducted to compare the mean scores for those who reported

using each media type, and those that did not. Several significant differences for users and non-users were found throughout the variables. A significant difference existed in climate-change belief for users (M = 3.41, SD = 1.05) and non-users (M = 3.01, SD = 0.97) of research publications: t (132) = -2.25, p < .05. A significant mean difference in climate-change belief also existed for users (M = 3.37, SD = 0.90) and non-users (M = 2.98, SD = 1.40) of industry professional magazines: t (132) = -2.20, p < .05. Climate-change belief means also had a statistically significant difference between users (M = 3.68, SD = 0.99) and non-users (M = 3.07, SD = 1.0) of business reports: t (132) -2.75, p < .01. Users (M = 3.37, SD = 0.96) and non-users (M = 2.95, SD = 1.05) of university publications also differed significantly on climate-change belief: t (132) = 2.36, p < .05. Users (M = 3.46, SD = 0.91) and non-users (M = 3.02, SD = 1.05) of television broadcasts had statistically significant differences in climate-change belief: t (132) - 2.44, p < .05). Significant differences were also found in climate-change belief for overall users (M = 3.24, SD = 1.0) and non-users (M = 2.38, SD = 0.91) of provided media source types: t (132) 2.36, p < .05.

Users (M = 3.32, SD = 0.77) and non-users (M = 2.98, SD = 0.79) of television broadcasts had statistically significant differences on perceived risk: t (140) -2.48, p < .05). Statistically significant differences also existed in means for those who reported they used none of the provided media sources for climate and climate-change information, and those that did. Significant differences were found for users (M = 3.13, SD = 0.78) and non-users (M = 2.51, SD = 0.77) on perceived risk means: t (140) 2.19, p < .05.

Analyses of bivariate correlations were conducted for preferred media type and climate-change belief. Significant correlations were found for research publications (r = .19), industry professional magazines (r = .19), business reports (r = .23), TV broadcasts (r = .21) and university publications (r = .21), all at the p < .05 level. A significant negative correlation was found to exist between climate-change belief and the non-use of provided media sources at the p < .05 level.

Regional agricultural publications were used by most (n = 86, 61%) of respondents when seeking climate and climate-change information. *Kansas Farmer* (n = 73, 85%) and *High Plains Journal* (n = 71, 83%) were the top two regional agricultural publications used by respondents. Respondents who used business reports had the highest mean score (M = 3.68, SD = 0.99) for climate-change belief. Respondents that did not use any type of agricultural media for climate or climate-change information reported the lowest means score (M = 2.38, SD = 0.92) for climate-change belief.

In addressing H1, the prediction that agricultural producers will fall into the segment groups of the concerned and the cautious, the majority of respondents fell into the segment groups of the concerned (n = 45, 33%) and cautious (n = 42, 31.3%). The comparison of the two groups indicated the predicted hypothesis was true. The doubtful (n = 30, 22.4%) was also a group of considerable size in the analysis.

Discussion

Issue Salience Related and Climate-Change Belief of Respondents

A significant area of exploration in this study was the level of issue salience, or the perceived importance individuals place on an issue or subject (Niemi & Bartels, 1985). Issue salience was operationalized in this study as the combination of perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit, in relation to climate and climate related impacts, which impact a farming and/or ranching operation. Individual producer's climate-change beliefs were also of interest to researchers.

Perceived Risk

In response to concern for perceived risk of climate related events, respondents indicated their summative average concern for all nine measures of perceived risk was 3.10 (SD = 0.78). The aggregate mean for perceived risk of 3.10 indicates that respondents have a level of concern slightly above the somewhat concerned level. The highest level of concern for perceived risk factors was for longer dry periods and drought (M = 4.06, SD 1.04). A mean of 4.06 indicated respondents were slightly more than moderately concerned. Drought and longer dry periods has been a significant issue in the Southern Plains and is expected to occur more frequently in the future (Shafer et al., 2014). Since producers have experienced drought and longer dry periods most frequently, it stands to reason they would report it as the highest level of concerned risk. Expected impacts of climate change in the Southern Plains include a higher frequency of days over 100° F and nights with minimum temperatures higher than 80° F (Kunkel et al., 2013). Surface water loss, heat stress on animals and crops, and overwintering insect populations as a result of increasing annual temperatures and significant heat waves will have a significant

negative impact on agriculture (Kunkel et al., 2013). Increases in extreme heat will have far more negative impact on agriculture in the Southern Plains than benefits, partially explaining why perceived risk is highest for drought and longer dry periods.

The lowest perceived risk was for increased flooding (M = 2.24, SD = 1.21), indicating that respondents were slightly concerned. More intense rainfall and flooding events are expected for the Southern Plains (Shafer et al., 2014). Low perceived risk for increased flooding suggests that producers have not seen or experienced the negative impacts of flooding on their operations or flooding has had minimal or normal impact. Flooding, unlike drought, may impact isolated aspects of an agricultural operation.

Perceived risk had the highest mean score of all the issue salience variables. Perceived risk plays a large role in producer willingness to implement and accept adaption and mitigation practices in relationship to climate change (Arbuckle et al., 2013a). Leiserowitz (2005) explained risk perceptions are socially constructed, with varying communities predisposed to fear and social amplification of some risks, while ignoring, discounting or attenuating other risk. The variation in perceived risk is evident within the survey population.

Experienced Hazard

Respondents indicated their average experienced hazard was 2.22 (SD = 0.55). Experienced hazard was the lowest mean score of issue salience variables, indicating that producers had perceived minor to moderate effect on their productions. Significant drought (M = 3.73, SD = 0.97) was the experienced hazard with the reported highest impact, with an impact between

moderate and major. Knowing that producers highest level of perceived risk is for drought and longer dry periods (M = 4.06, SD = 1.04), it was expected for drought to also be their highest level of experienced hazard. The low mean for experienced hazard may be related to the perception of risk held by producers. Previous studies found Americans tend to believe the impacts of climate change will have moderate severity and most likely impact people in geographically different regions and at other times (Leiserowitz, 2005). A similar trend of thought could be present among agricultural producers who perceive climate hazards as an expected occurrence in their operations or who perceive other regions of the United States, or world, as experiencing more hazards through portrayal in the media.

Individuals that perceive a relatively high likelihood of negative events are more likely to take personal mitigation actions and support government initiatives to do the same (O'Connor et al., 1999). Many producers are already making changes within their agricultural production practices in response to current weather conditions (Campbell Hibbs et al., 2014). Producers have made changes in farming and livestock production to adapt to changing weather and weather variability (Arbuckle et al., 2013a, 2013b; Campbell Hibbs et al., 2014). Adaption to current changing weather and weather variability may be lowering producer's level of perceived experienced hazards since they view the hazard as manageable and of lower risk to their operations. The variation in type of hazard and agricultural operations may contribute to low experienced hazard. Three of the hazard ratings involved flooding, saturated soils, or ponding of water. Ranching or feedlot operations may not experience those hazards. Another possible explanation for overall low experienced hazard is the significant drought that occurred within recent years in the study area.

Perceived Benefit

The aggregate perceived benefit of climate related events in the last five years was 2.48 (SD = 0.84), indicating producers experienced minor to some benefit. All measures for perceived benefits fell in the range of minor benefit to some benefit. This is a reasonable finding for the study since experienced hazard had the lowest mean score for issue salience variables. Producers may view changes in climate as beneficial, instead of a hazard, explaining the difference in aggregate scores.

Increased options in crop variety had the highest mean score (M =2.99, SD = 1.24). While shifts in favorable climatic conditions have been reported in maize and soybean production for the Northern Plains (Hatfield, 2013), it is possible that producers in Kansas are experiencing some of the same opportunities. It is also likely that seed companies are producing a wider variety of hybrid seed options in reaction to drought conditions, allowing producers wider options in crop selection.

Longer pasture season received the lowest mean score (M =2.19, SD = 1.14) for perceived benefit in the study. The low mean score could be explained by the significant drought event and the negative effects on native grasses used for cattle grazing in recent years (Raz-Yaseef & Billesbach, 2015). The drought event in the Southern Plains created a shortage of forage for livestock and had negative impacts on feed yards. Negative impacts of drought may explain the low perceived benefit of longer pasture seasons.

Climate-Change Belief

Respondents indicated a wide range of climate-change beliefs. Most respondents (n = 45, 33.6%) indicated they believed climate change has occurred and was caused more or less equally by natural changes in the environment and human activities. A smaller portion of the population (n = 42, 31.3%) believed that climate change has occurred, and is caused mostly by natural changes in the environment. Other respondents (n = 30, 22.4%) indicated they believed there is not sufficient evidence to know with certainty whether climate change is occurring or not. The smallest section of respondents (n = 6, 4.5%) believed climate change was not occurring. The mean response for respondent climate-change belief was 3.19 (SD = 1.02), indicating that most respondents believed the climate was changing, and was caused by mostly natural changes in the environment.

The variation of climate-change belief in this study marked a shift in belief from previous research. The varied belief in climate change and the causes is a direct contradiction from the scientific majority that agrees climate change is happening (Cook et al., 2013), and is caused by anthropogenic actions (USGCRP, 2009). A small portion of respondents in this survey (n = 11, 8.2%) believed climate change was occurring, and was caused mostly by human activities. The variations of climate-change belief and its causes by agricultural producers in this study mirror the beliefs of the general public of the United States, who do not fully understand the causes and impacts of climate change (Ding et al., 2011; Maibach et al., 2009; Weber & Stern, 2011). Variation in perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit within the study may partially explain the variation in climate-change belief. If producers did not perceive the impacts of climate change, they may be less likely to believe climate change is occurring.

Agenda setting and organized climate-change denial may also explain the variation in climate-change belief among respondents. Even though most experts agree that carbon dioxide emissions and other greenhouse gases are causing ACC, public concern for the issue has been declining (Lewandowsky et al., 2012). Decline in public concern, and climate-change belief in the study, may be a result of media coverage through agenda setting. Environmental issues are more open to media influence because individuals do not experience the impacts of environmental issues on a daily basis (Soroka, 2002). Furthermore, environmental issues are often covered in cycles (Shih et al., 2008) which may help to explain the increase in climate-change belief. It is possible at the time the survey was sent to producers, the coverage cycle for climate change may have been at a peak, increasing climate-change belief among respondents.

Declining interest and belief in climate change in the study can be partially explained through the creation of doubt by political and vested interests, which often challenge the existence of scientific consensus in climate change (Lewandowsky et al., 2012). Weber and Stern (2011) also found that the issue of climate change and global warming is highly contested in the United States, with various actors in private industry and politics seeking to frame the issue and public response in a way that favors their interests. Vested interests that frame the issue of climate change include the agricultural and fossil fuel industries. The fossil fuel industry often depicts the scientific consensus that climate change is occurring as controversial and theoretical. This industry continually presents ideas that proposals for government regulations to mitigate climate change would only result in economic restrictions that would hurt the U.S. economy (Dispensa & Brulle, 2003). Since financial success of agricultural operations is highly dependent upon the

fossil fuel industry, it stands to reason that producers in the study would be influenced by the agenda setting efforts of the industry.

Agricultural producers in the study were also subject to the overwhelming amount of media coverage on many topics. Brechin and Freeman (2004) partially attribute the inability of the public to focus on environmental issues due to the supremacy of media coverage to other specific political issues. The timing of the survey amongst a presidential election year, increased reporting of terrorism and terrorist attacks, and continued U.S. military involvement in the Middle East may have resulted in a lessening of coverage for environmental and climate-change issues. It has also been suggested that the corporate influence, ownership and interests in the American media influence the amount of coverage given to news stories covering climate change and global warming (Dispensa & Brulle, 2003). Media controllers in the United States have ties to industries, such as the fossil fuel industry, that rely on the lack of regulations in their industries to profit and therefore present information to the public that undermines the scientific consensus that climate change is occurring because of human causes (Dispensa & Brulle, 2003).

Relationship of Issue Salience to Climate-Change Belief

All issue salience variables were correlated to climate-change belief. The regression analysis of issue salience variables together predicted 18% of the variance in climate-change belief and causes. As issue salience increased, belief in climate change and the impact of human actions on the existence of climate change increased. Within the regression model, only perceived risk had a significant regression weight, after controlling for other variables in the model. This indicates that perceived risk is the largest predictor of climate-change belief. A higher level of perceived

risk could be explained by the adaptations that producers are already making in response to weather conditions (Campbell Hibbs et al., 2014). Current actions may be considered a normal part of agricultural production, however, the risk of future impacts is still unknown and prompts producers to support adaptive actions (Arbuckle et al., 2013).

The findings in relationship of issue salience and climate-change belief support previous research by Gordon et al. (2013), which found that agricultural producers do not need to understand the underlying causes or sources of risk, in this study experienced hazards and benefits, to make management decisions in adaptation actions on their operations. Erbring et al. (1980) stated that an issue must be salient before it can become the subject of attitudes. Like the findings of Gordon et al. (2013), the study findings contradict the position that an issue must be salient before it becomes the subject of attitudes.

Variations in perceived risk, experienced hazard, and perceived benefit (issue salience variables) also influence the level of climate-change belief because individuals in the survey experience each in different ways and at different intervals. Soroka (2002) explained that individuals are more open to media influence on environmental issues because they do not experience the impacts on a daily basis. Agricultural operations, and the operators, may experience the impacts of climate change in cyclical patterns that align with patterns in the operations, lessening their belief in climate change.

Audience Segmentation Impacts in Climate-Change Belief and Issue Salience

There is a growing interest in the application of audience segmentation and social marketing within climate-change communication (Hine et al., 2014). Audience segmentation studies have been conducted on the national level to examine difference in climate-change belief and the causes (Leiserowitz, Maibach, Roser-Renourf, & Smith, 2011; Leiserowitz, 2003; Leiserowitz, 2005; Maibach et al., 2009). The interest in studying agricultural producers as an audience segment of the larger United States population has carried over into strategies for promoting adaptation and mitigation.

Demographic information was collected in this study to further describe the impacts of audience segmentation in climate-change communication. Demographic differences were compared against climate-change belief to explore the differences. ANOVA analysis was used to determine if there were statistically significant differences between groups. Statistically significant differences in groups were found for education, political party, and gender. Previous studies have indicated that education, political party, and ethnicity all have impacts on climate-change belief (Dunlap & McCright, 2008; Hamilton et al., 2007; Nisbet & Myers, 2007; Leiserowitz, Maibach, Roser-Renourf, & Smith, 2011; Leiserowitz, 2003; Leiserowitz, 2005; Maibach et al., 2009).

This study found that education level did have significant mean differences for belief in climate and was considered to be a medium (.13) level effect. This is in line with the findings of Maibach et al. (2009) which found that those who were college educated were very certain that climate change was happening. Respondents with a bachelor's, master's, or doctoral degree were most likely to believe that climate change was occurring and impacted by human actions. An increase

in climate-change belief level as education level increased may be a result of exposure to scientific information that supports the acceptance of climate change. Likewise, a lower education level was associated with a lower climate-change belief within the study. Leiserowitz et al. (2013) identified those disengaged with climate change as having given the issue little to no thought and having little knowledge about it. The disengaged also tend to have the lowest education levels (Leiserowitz et al., 2013). The findings of this study support previous research identifying an increased belief in ACC as education level increased.

Self-identified political party was considered to have a large (.14) effect on climate-change belief. The majority (n = 95, 73.6) of respondents identified themselves as Republicans. Affiliation with the Republican political party has been linked to lower belief and uncertainty in ACC (Leiserowitz et al., 2013). A widening gap in views on climate change between republican and democratic political elites, party leaders, and political pundits, has occurred (Dunlap & McCright, 2008). Even with increased coverage of climate change in the mass media, republicans have become less likely over the last decade to believe climate change is already occurring, unlike democrats who are more likely to believe (Dunlap & McCright, 2008). This study also found that Democrats were more likely to believe that climate change was occurring and caused by human impacts than Republicans. However, this was a slightly different finding than previous research which found that Democrats were more likely to believe in climate change overall, not a difference in the causes. This finding suggests that agricultural producers are becoming more open to the acceptance that climate change is occurring, but differences in the causes may still exist. Those who identified themselves as having an "other" (M = 2.40, SD =1.17) or not party affiliation (M = 1.67, SD = 0.56) had the lowest mean scores for belief,

indicating they believed climate change is not occurring or there is not sufficient evidence to determine with certainty whether climate change is happening or not. By not affiliating with any party or having an interest in politics, those respondents may be removing themselves from the effects of agenda setting completely, and have very low issue salience or knowledge of climate change resulting in lower levels of beliefs.

Gender had a statistically significant medium (.09) effect on climate-change belief. However, the difference between males and females in climate-change belief was not as strong as in other studies. Leiserowitz et al. (2013) found that women were more likely to believe in climate change than men and were also more likely to be Democrats. In this study, women and men have similar beliefs about climate change. This may be a result of considering agricultural producers as the audience segment instead of males and females on a larger scale.

Expanding the Regression Model for Climate-Change Belief

Since demographic variables were found to have significant difference in climate-change belief, a regression model was calculated. The multiple regression model with all independent variables included resulted in $R^2 = .38$, F(3, 123) = 7.06, p < .0005. The multiple regression model, with all three predictors, explains 38% of the variance in climate-change belief. Education had a significant regression weight (B = .06, p < .001), after controlling for gender and ethnicity. The findings indicated that education is the most significant factor in predicting climate-change belief and that as education increases, climate-change belief and attribution to human impacts also increases. Education was also significant factor in climate-change belief in the Six Americas audience segmentation study (Leiserowitz et al., 2013) which found that those individuals who

were college educated believed that climate change was occurring and were more likely to believe in anthropogenic causes. In the same study (Leiserowitz et al., 2013), the audience segment that did not believe in climate change or denied its existence held only a high school education. Education may be the strongest predictor of climate-change belief because of the homogeneity of Kansas agricultural producers as an audience segment. Most producers in the survey indicated they are Republican and Caucasian, lessening the statistical significance of these values in the regression model.

Seeing the significance of issue salience and demographic variables, researchers were interested in further exploring the relationship. Significantly correlated issue salience and demographic variables were entered into a regression model to explore the impact on climate-change belief. The multiple regression model, with all predictors of issue salience and demographic variables, explains 32% of the variance in climate-change belief. Perceived risk (B = .46, p < .0005) and education (B = .26, p < .0001) had significant regression weights after controlling for the other variables. Experienced hazard, perceived benefit, gender, and ethnicity were not significant in the regression model. Perceived risk has the most explanatory power in the model, and has the largest impact on climate-change belief. The results of the model indicate that as perceived risk and education level increase, climate-change belief also increases. The predictive power of perceived risk and education in the expanded regression model support the findings of the previous regression models in the study. Education level likely increases respondents understanding and ability to predict possible risk on their agricultural operations.

Comparing Climate-Change Belief Groups

The mean differences in issue salience between the five climate-change belief segments were compared through MANOVA analysis. Results indicated there were significant differences in issue salience for each group on the combined variables. When the results for the issue salience variables were considered separately, perceived risk and perceived benefit were statistically significant and experienced hazard was not. This indicates that the level of issue salience is related to the climate-change belief group each individual identifies themselves as believing. Climate-change belief groups may report different levels of issue salience based on their personal experience with climate-impacts and perceptions. This study suggests that perceptions of risk and benefit have a significant impact on climate-change belief, while experienced hazards do not.

Correlations between variables in the regression model were examined to describe the relationship between independent variables. Education and perceived benefits were negatively correlated, which indicated that as an individual became more educated, they saw fewer benefits in the impacts of climate change. Higher levels of education were identified a predictor of increased belief in climate change in the regression model. When both variables were considered together, the findings aligned with previous literature which stated that acceptance of climate change increase with higher education levels (Leiserowitz et al., 2013) Perceived benefit was negatively correlated with perceived risk, which indicated producers that held lower perceptions of benefit had higher levels of risk. Perceived risk was also negatively correlated with experienced hazard. This phenomenon likely occurred because producers that had experienced

climate and weather hazards then perceived them as part of the routine aspects of running their operations, lowering their perception of risk.

Preferred Frames in Climate-Change Communication

Spence and Pidgeon (2010) found the way in which communications about climate change are framed has a considerable impact on the way the messages are received. Communication and framing of risk to influence behavior change has been thoroughly studied in relation to personal health, policy, and other academic fields. This study contributes to the exploration of frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to climate change and impacts, a quasi-experimental design was used within the survey instrument. Respondents were randomly assigned to one of three question groups with gain, loss, or neutral framed climate and weather impacts and events that may or may not impact the farming and/or ranching operation. Items in each frame group asked respondents to reply to eight questions testing distant (future) and near (current) frame impacts and four terms.

Within gain, loss, and neutral frames, loss frames had the highest mean score (M = 2.84, SD = 0.63). Gain frames had the second highest mean score (M = 2.73, SD = 0.42). Neutral frames had the lowest mean score (M = 2.48, SD = 0.86). Comparisons of the means for each frame manipulation suggest that respondents agreed to neither agreed or disagreed for loss frames. To explore the differences in means of gain, loss, and neutral frames in relations climate-change belief, an ANOVA analysis was used. The ANOVA revealed statistically significant differences for climate-change belief between gain, loss, and neutral frame groups. There was a statistically significant difference at the p < .05 level in total score for the three framing treatment groups:

F(2, 135) = 3.57, p = .031. The effect size, calculated by eta squared, was .07. The loss frame group (M = 2.84, SD = 0.42) differed significantly from the neutral frame (M = 2.48, SD = 0.86). There was not a significant difference between the gain and loss frame groups or the gain and neutral frame groups. The findings of this survey contradict the findings of Spence and Pidgeon (2010) who suggest that gain frames, not loss frames, will be the most effective in promoting positive attitudes towards climate-change adaptation and mitigation. However, the finding that loss frames had the highest mean and were significantly different from neutral framed messages aligns with the finding that perceived risk is the strongest predictor of climate-change belief.

Distant and near frames were compared between respondents. Each respondent to the survey responded to four questions framed with future (distant) impacts and four questions framed with currently occurring (near) impacts. Distant frames had a mean of 2.66 (n = 138, SD = 0.68). Near frames had a mean of 2.76 (n = 136, SD = 0.75). ANOVA analysis revealed that there were not statistically significant differences between frame groups and their reported belief in climate change. The findings suggest that distance frames do not impact climate-change belief. Distance frames may not impact this audience segment because of the nature of agricultural production focusing on current impacts of climate and weather. Agricultural producers can do little to control weather and climate impacts in the future, so future oriented messages may have little impact on their perceptions.

The four terms examined were extreme weather, weather pattern, weather variability, and climate change. Means and standard deviations were also calculated for each term used within the frame manipulations. Weather pattern had the highest mean score (M = 2.81, SD = 0.82),

followed by climate change (M = 2.33, SD = 0.92). Weather variability had the third lowest mean (M = 2.21, SD = 0.91). Extreme weather had the lowest mean (M = 2.08, SD = 0.92). Even though there were differences in the mean score for each term, ANOVA analysis revealed there were no statistically significant differences for each term and climate-change belief.

Previous studies revealed significantly different recognition of the terms climate change and global warming (Whitmarsh, 2009). The variation of meaning and favorability of words associated with climate change, the acknowledged risks, and acceptance of adaptation and mitigation practices, can be partially explained by the differences in experiences, backgrounds, and communications using words in climate change as well as different frames individuals have developed over time (Hertog & Mcleod, 2001). The findings of this study suggest that over time a shift has occurred in the understanding and preference for terms as the public becomes more accepting of climate change. A shift in the perception and acceptance of climate change since the Whitmarsh (2009) study may have occurred, increasing the understanding and perception of climate change. Continued and increased exposure to media messages about climate change may have increased the level of issue salience for agricultural producers related to climate change. The continuation of the presidential agenda to address climate change (The White House, 2013) and continued coverage of impacts may have lessened resistance to terminology. The establishment of the Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub (SPRCH) by the USDA may have also increased the level of issue salience in climate change. SPRCH was established to deliver science-based knowledge and practical information to farmers, ranchers, and forestry landowners to help them adapt to climate change and weather variability in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas (USDA Climate Hubs, 2015).

To examine the full impact of framing manipulation on climate-change belief, a MANCOVA was used to explore the impact of framing manipulations on clime change belief. Three dependent variables were used: outcome (gain, loss, and neutral frames), distant (current and future), and terminology (extreme weather, weather pattern, weather variability, and climate change). The outcome frame assignment was used as the covariate. MANCOVA analysis revealed there was not a statistically significant difference between climate-change belief groups and the three dependent frame manipulations.

This study demonstrates that the framing of climate-change messaging may be less important in the formation of climate-change belief attitudes. The lack of statistically significant findings that differ from previous research in framing and communication of risk information may be a result of several variables. As audience segments become more homogenous in their climate-change belief (Leiserowitz et al., 2013), significant variations in framing may become less severe. Significant mean differences in loss and neutral framed information, suggests agricultural producers have the strongest reaction to impacts that can negatively impact their operations. Negative impact framing may have the largest influence on producers because of their dependency on operational success for their livelihoods and continued way of life. The finding in this study that perceived risk has the highest impact on climate-change belief also supports this position.

Preferred Agricultural Media Sources

Respondents were asked to identify which agricultural based media sources they used when seeking information about climate and climate change. Most producers (n = 86, 61%) indicated they used regional agriculture publications for climate and climate-change information. University publications were used by 54% (n = 76) of the respondents. Radio broadcasts were used by 51% (n = 72) of respondents. This is a shift from the previous research in the Six America's (Leiserowitz et al., 2013), which found that most respondents in the demographic audience segment of the study population would cite radio as their first source for news and information.

The difference in preferred media source between the Leiserowitz et al. (2013) study and this study may be due to a difference in population; specifically, that this study focused solely on agricultural producers in Kansas. Availability of agricultural radio programming as a source of information for climate and climate change related topics may also influence the ability of producers to access radio as a source of information. The findings of this study align with publication usage described by the American Business Media Agri Channel (2012) which found that agricultural magazines or newspapers were used most frequently.

The study provided valuable insights into the specific media sources agricultural producers are using. Within regional agricultural publications, *Kansas Farmer* (n = 73, 85%) and *High Plains Journal* (n = 71, 83%) were the publications the majority of respondents said they used. This may be a result of the availability of the publication, quality of writing, or the trust level associated with the publications. The K-State Research and Extension Bookstore (n = 45, 63%)

and Extension fact sheets (n = 36, 50%) were the university publications used by the majority of respondents who indicated use of university publications. Like regional publications, the availability, ease of accessing Extension materials, and trust in the source may contribute to their use. The magnitude of agricultural based materials produced by Extension would encourage use among the audience segment. Radio was the third most preferred agricultural media source with the majority (n = 49, 68%) of respondents indicating they used KFRM 550 AM. While radio was not cited as the top media source for agricultural producers seeking information on climate and climate change, it is still a popular resource among producers (American Business Media Agri Channel, 2012).

This study also contributed to the audience segment profile of media use and climate-change belief. Those respondents who reported using business reports and television broadcasts for their source of information about climate change, had the highest mean score for belief and causes of climate change. The high mean scores indicate these producers believe climate change is occurring, and is caused by mostly natural changes in the environment, but many may also believe, or are starting to believe, that human impacts can impact climate change. Respondents who used business reports are likely to be more concerned about the profit and success of their operations. Seeing the fluctuations in agricultural markets, based on climate change related events, may increase their belief in climate change. Similarly, those who consume or are exposed to more media messages through television broadcasts are more likely to become subject to the effects of agenda setting on climate-change topics and belief.

It is important to note that respondents who indicated using any media source had aggregate mean scores that indicated they believed climate change was occurring. Only those producers who said they did not use any media source for climate and/or climate-change information reported mean scores which indicated they believed there is not sufficient evidence to know with certainty whether or not climate change is occurring. The differences in climate-change belief can be partially explained through agenda-setting theory which states the first, or initial, level of agenda setting focuses on relative salience, or perceived importance, of objects (McCombs, 2005). When the media and individuals discuss and think about an object, in this case climate change, some attributes are emphasized, while others are rarely mentioned, and the object becomes a subject of attitudes. If agricultural producers are not interacting with media sources that discuss climate change, then it is less likely they will place relative importance on the object.

The study further added to the audience segment profile and preferred media source knowledge by exploring the levels of issue salience by reported use of media type. Television broadcast viewers had the highest mean score for perceived risk and perceived benefits of climate-change impacts. This could be a result of the highly polarized nature of television in support, or against climate change. Respondents who reported using business reports had the highest mean for reported experienced climate-change related hazards. It stands to reason that producers who are using business reports in their operation are closely studying the yields and profit of their operations. Experienced hazards that impact their bottom lines are more likely to be observed by this group.

Several significant differences for users and non-users of agricultural media sources were found throughout the variables in the study. A significant difference existed in climate-change belief for users and non-users of research publications, industry professional magazines, business reports, university publications, and television broadcasts. This is likely a result of the reflection of opinions held by the media sources surfacing within the consumers through the process of agenda setting (McCombs, 2004). Those respondents that use media sources are more likely to believe in climate change because they consume media that supports the belief. Within all media types, those that reported using the media had higher mean belief scores in climate change, which also represents a higher belief that the human actions are contributing to the impacts. Significant differences were also found in climate-change belief for overall users and non-users of provided agricultural media source types. Additionally, analyses of bivariate correlations were conducted for preferred media type and climate-change belief. Significant correlations were found for research publications (.19), industry professional magazines (.19), business reports (.23), TV broadcasts (.21) and university publications (.21), all at the p < .05 level. This finding indicates that as use of these media sources increases, belief in climate change also increases. Individuals that do not consume any type of media for information on climate and climate change, are probably predisposed to doubt the existence of climate change, and therefore do not seek out information on the topic. This finding supports previous research which stated agricultural producers who expressed higher levels of trust in agricultural interests and publications were less likely to believe in or accept climate change, especially in the case of anthropogenic causes (Arbuckle et al., 2013b).

A significant, negative correlation was found to exist between climate-change belief and the non-use of provided media sources at the p < .05 level, indicating that not using media sources decreases climate-change belief. Like use of media sources increased climate-change belief, non-use decreases climate-change belief. Producers who do not believe in climate change are less likely to seek out information about it. Without consuming media with messages related to climate change, the effects of agenda setting do not occur and climate-change belief decreases. Since respondents were asked specifically to identify which media sources they used for climate and climate change information, the question wording may have contributed to the significant results. However, it stands to reason those who did not believe in climate change would not be seeking information on the topic.

Audience Segment Comparison to the Six America's

Through the literature review process it was hypothesized that agricultural producers would fall into the segment group of concerned and cautious, the majority of respondents fall into the segment groups of the concerned (n = 45, 33%) and cautious (n = 42, 31.3%). The comparison of the two groups indicated that the predicted hypothesis was true. The doubtful (n = 30, 22.4%) were also a group of considerable size in the analysis. This aligns with the findings of previous research which analyzed climate-change belief on a national scale (Leiserowitz et al., 2013).

Respondents in the concerned and cautious groups are likely to believe climate change is occurring, but do not attribute the causes to human actions. They are also opposed to mitigation actions and opposed to increased government involvement or regulation. Arbuckle et al. (2013) found similar beliefs in the study of farmers in the Corn Belt. Overall, beliefs and reactions to

adaptation and mitigation strategies are a result of individual combined issue salience and the effects of agenda setting.

Recommendations

Practitioners

The findings in relation to RO1, "describe the level of issue salience agricultural producers have related to climate change," resulted in several recommendations for practitioners. When discussing climate change impacts and encouraging adaptation, practitioners should focus on messages related to perceived risks. Perceived risks had the highest aggregate mean score and also had statistical significance in the multiple regression model, indicating that it is the largest predictor of climate-change belief.

Variations in climate-change belief and issue salience suggest that a producer's understanding of the underlying causes of climate change is less important than their perceived risk and adaptation options. Instead of trying to educate producers on the causes of climate change to reach adaptation, communicators should focus adaptation to current risks. However, the regression model indicated that education level was also an indicator of climate-change belief. When addressing audiences with higher education levels, it may be appropriate to focus on underlying causes of climate change and mitigation options, instead of just focusing on adaptation options. Other variations in demographic variables should also be considered when communicating climate-change information. Democratic audiences are more likely to believe in climate change and the impacts humans have on accelerating the effects. Republicans are more likely to attribute climate change to a mixture of natural and human causes. And those that are not interested in

politics are most likely to believe that climate change is not occurring. Ultimately, communicators must be highly aware of the audience they are addressing.

The findings related to RO2, "Investigate frames agricultural producers prefer in reference to the scientifically designated phenomena of climate change and impacts," resulted in several recommendations for practitioners. Loss frames were found to have the largest impact on climate-change belief. Communicators should focus on the possibility of losses within agricultural production based on the perception of risk. By encouraging adaptation options to prepare for the possibility of loss, communicators are likely to reach producers. Findings in the study indicate that distance and terminology framing were not important in relation to climate-change beliefs. The results suggest that communicators should develop messaging that encompasses both current and future impacts since there were not significant differences between distance frames. Findings in the study also suggest that communicators should not be hesitant to talk about climate change in conjunction with potential impacts and adaptation options. However, communicators should be mindful of the audience they are addressing since climate-change belief and belief in the human impacts on accelerating climate-change belief are still varied among producers in Kansas.

Findings from RO3, "identify the agricultural media and information channels agricultural producers use for climate change," resulted in several recommendations. When attempting to reach a specific audience segment, it is crucial for communication practitioners to know which media sources that segment is using. This study found that regional agricultural publications, university publications, and radio were the three most frequently reported for use in climate and

climate-change information. Based on this finding, practitioners should continue placing messaging about climate change in these publications to reach their desired audience. They should also utilize university publications, including the K-State Research and Extension Bookstore and fact sheets, to share information with their audiences. Communicators should also utilize these sources for information to use in their own communication efforts.

Communicators should target audiences who reported lowest means for climate-change belief.

The two lowest groups include commodity organization publications and those who used none of the listed agricultural publications. Commodity organizations stand to make large contributions to willingness of their constituents to embrace adaptive measures and should utilize their existing communication lines to promote climate-information and adaptation strategies. Additional effort will be required to reach audiences that report not using any type of media for climate and climate-change information.

The findings of the study suggest that practitioners should use agricultural sources and agricultural press to improve understanding and acceptance of climate-change research and policy. Research publications, industry professional magazines, business reports, university publications, and television broadcasts are reported to have the highest level of belief in climate change for users. Other media sources that reported lower levels of belief in climate change should be targeted to improve belief and acceptance of climate change within those audiences.

Research

Findings in issue salience and climate-change belief indicate that issue salience may not be as important in developing attitudes towards objects and subjects (Erbring et al., 1980). Future research should focus on the exploration of issue salience and whether or not it is truly a significant factor in the development of attitudes related to climate change. Additional research should explore whether or not issue salience is needed to form attitudes in other areas of complex scientific information, or only climate change. Research should also explore the impacts of gain and loss, distance, and terminology framing within topics of complex scientific nature. Possible areas of research include producer willingness to adapt genetic science, hybrid science, computer technology, and other complex scientific topics that have potential to impact agricultural production.

The findings of this survey contradict the findings of Spence and Pidgeon (2010) who suggest that gain frames, not loss frames, will be the most effective in promoting positive attitudes towards climate-change adaptation and mitigation. However, the finding that loss frames had the highest mean and were significantly different from neutral framed messages aligns with the finding that perceived risk is the strongest predictor of climate-change belief. Loss aversion theory is also supported in the study, which says that individuals tended to dislike losses more than equal gains and were more likely to take risks when information highlighted the possibility of losses as opposed to gains (Kahnem & Tversky, 1984). Shome et al. (2009) also suggest that people have a tendency to avoid loss, rather than seek a possible gain in regards to climate change. Future research should examine the impact of gain and loss frames in relation to the attitudes agricultural producers have towards adaptive and mitigative actions. Since terminology

was not found to have a significant impact in this study, other terms should be explored in future framing studies. Future studies should also explore the impact of framing on other complex scientific topics in agriculture.

A small portion of respondents indicated they did not use any agricultural media source for information in climate and climate change. Research should be conducted to explore which media source these producers are using. It would be of additional interest to explore the motivations for non-use of agricultural media sources. Future research should explore how to reach audiences that identified themselves as non-users of agricultural media sources for climate and climate-change information. It is possible that this segment of the audience is simply not seeking information on climate change. Respondents also indicated a sizeable portion were using other industry professional magazines other than the ones provided within the survey options. Research should be conducted to identify those sources.

The study further added to the audience segment profile and preferred media source knowledge by exploring the levels of issue salience by reported used of media type. To explore the impact of media source on issue salience, the type and attitude of information presented within each media source should be explored. Specific messages should also be tested in future research based on the findings in this study. This study did not specify whether or not the media source was delivered through traditional or through electronic mediums. Future research should explore the impact of electronic and social-media information on issue salience and climate-change belief.

The study should also be repeated with different segments of agricultural producers. Other regional segments should be explored since this study focused on respondents in Kansas. Type of agricultural production could also be explored within organic production and other types of "natural" agriculture. Results of the study indicated the benefit scale developed to examine the perceived level of benefits in climate change was valid. The Cronbach's Alpha reliability for the scale was found to have high reliability rating at .74. Future studies should continue to test the validity of the scale and expand it to further examine possible perceived benefits of climate change.

Theory

This study made contributions to theory in several ways. Findings in issue salience and climate-change belief indicate that issue salience may not be as important in developing attitudes towards objects and subjects. Issue salience was stressed as an important aspect of forming attitudes in Erbring et al. (1980).

There is a lack of empirical evidence about the most effective strategies for communicating and presenting climate-change risks and adaptation and mitigation options, and whether or not theories developed in other risk domains are transferrable to climate-change issues (Pelletier & Sharp, 2008). This study contributed to the body of empirical evidence about communication strategies for presenting climate-change information to agricultural producers. The study also indicates that some tactics of the theory of agenda setting did not work with the topic and audience of agricultural producers.

The differences in climate-change belief within the study can be partially explained through agenda-setting theory which states the first, or initial, level of agenda setting focuses on relative salience, or perceived importance, of objects (McCombs, 2005). When the media and individuals discuss and think about an object, some attributes are emphasized, while others are rarely mentioned, and the object becomes a subject of attitudes. If agricultural producers are not interacting with media sources that discuss climate change, then it is less likely that they will place relative importance on the object. This finding supports the ideals of agenda-setting theory and contributes to the existing body of research.

The study also contributed to agenda-setting theory in the media sources that should be used to reach the audience segment. The findings of Arbuckle et al. (2013) indicated trust in agricultural sources and agricultural press could be used to improve understanding and acceptance of climate-change. The findings in this study support previous research and confirm that readership of agricultural media sources for information on climate and climate-change information increase belief in climate change and anthropogenic causes. Findings in the study indicated that the effects of agenda setting do have an effect on climate-change belief with this audience. Those respondents that sought out information and media sources were more likely to be impacted by the messages they consumed.

Summary

Communicators and educators have been tasked with delivering science-based information on climate change to agricultural producers. However, agricultural producers in the Midwest and Southern Plains still have widely varied perceptions of climate change and tend to doubt the existence (Dunlap & McCright, 2008; Hamilton et al., 2007; Nisbet & Myers, 2007).

Agricultural producers that perceive climate change to be a risk with negative impacts are more likely to embrace adaptive actions (Arbuckle et al., 2013b; Howden et al., 2007). Audience segmentation and trust in media sources, have been suggested to impact agricultural producers perception of climate change and are possible avenues for strategic communication (Arbuckle et al., 2013).

A review of communication and scientific literature suggested that communicators could benefit from applying agenda setting theory, framing theory, and audience segmentation as a part of communication strategy. Although other studies have provided insights into the application of agenda setting, framing and audience segmentation, few have combined the tenants of each or focused specifically on agricultural producers in the Southern Plains. The purpose of this study was to explore the frames and messages, issue salience, and communication preferences agricultural producers in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas use and accept related to climate change and the impacts of a changing climate. It was of additional interest to explore the climate-change beliefs and preferred agricultural media sources for climate and climate-change information.

The study found that perceived risk and education level had significant impacts on climate-change belief. Additionally, mean scores for climate-change belief in the study indicated most respondent believed that climate change was occurring. While respondents indicated they believed climate change was occurring, beliefs about the causes of climate change were still widely varied. This was a significant finding of the study indicating agricultural producers were becoming more accepting of the existence of climate change even if the causes were disputed.

Loss frames were found to have significant differences from neutral framed messages, suggesting that loss frames should be used when communicating motivations to adapt to climate change and its impacts. Terminology framing did not have a significant impact on climate-change belief. Knowing that terminology did not affect climate-change belief in this study, communicators should begin addressing adaptation options, and the issue of climate change, by naming it specifically as climate change.

Regional agricultural publications, university publications, and radio broadcasts, respectively, were the top three used sources of information for climate and climate change topics.

Respondents that used business reports and television as a source for climate and climate change information were most likely to believe in climate change. Those that reported not seeking any type of media for climate and climate change information had the lowest mean belief in climate change. Differences in climate-change belief between media use groups were likely an effect of agenda-setting theory. Respondents that seek out information about climate change were exposed to media about climate change and predisposed to belief, whereas those that did not seek any information were not likely to believe in climate change.

Audience segment groups based on climate-change belief aligned with the audience segments described in the Six America's study (Leiserowitz et al., 2013). Those concerned and cautious about climate change constituted the largest groups in this study. Similar to the findings of Leiserowitz et al. (2013), this suggests a shift in population belief towards accepting climate change.

The study identified specific recommendations for communicators to utilize when discussing climate change with agricultural audiences. Communicators should focus on perceived risk and adaptation when discussing climate change since perceived risk was found to be the most significant predictor of climate-change belief. However, audiences with higher education levels also held higher levels of belief about climate change and should be considered as part of the formation of messaging strategies. Framing was found to have less of an impact than in other studies, although loss frames did have a significant impact in climate-change belief. Distance framing and terminology were not significant in this study. Use of agricultural media sources was also related to higher levels of belief in climate change. Communicators should continue to use those media sources as ways to reach their audience and use them as resources in developing their own communication strategy. Communicators are also tasked with the challenge of reaching audiences identified in this study that are not seeking out information on climate and climate change through identification of their preferred media sources.

Several suggestions for research surfaced from the findings of this study. Future research should explore whether or not issue salience is truly a significant factor in developing attitudes towards complex scientific topics. Additional research should be conducted to explore the impacts of framing to include outcome, distance, and terminology frames. Knowing that a segment of agricultural producers does not seek out agricultural media sources for information on climate and climate change, research should explore the sources they are using and how to reach that audience. This study focused on traditional media sources. Future studies should explore the impact of electronic and social-media information on issue salience and climate-change belief.

This study also made several contributions to communications theory. Findings in the study indicate that issue salience may not be as important in developing attitudes towards climate-change belief as initially thought. Previous research in agenda-setting theory stresses the importance of issue salience in developing attitudes towards objects (Erbring et al., 1980). The study also contributed to the empirical body of research on the effective strategies for communicating and presenting climate change risks and mitigation and adaptation options to agricultural producers in Kansas.

Ultimately, agricultural communicators in Kansas and elsewhere can use the findings in the study to guide the formation of communication strategy in relation to climate-change adaptation messages. Implementation of agenda-setting theory, framing theory, and audience segmentation will allow communicators and organizations to have constructive conversations with their audiences. Implementation must also include evaluation and appropriate adjustments as belief and acceptance of climate change and the causes continue to shift.

References

- Aalst, M. van, Adger, N., Arent, D., Barnett, J., Betts, R., Bilir, E., ... Yoh, G. (2014). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Assessment Report 5.
- Adams, D. C., & Salois, M. J. (2010). Local versus organic: A turn in consumer preferences and willingness-to-pay. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, 25(04), 331–341. doi:10.1017/S1742170510000219
- Aldrich, V. C. (1980). Mirrors, pictures, words, perceptions. *Philosophy*, 55(211), 39–56.
- American Business Media Agri Channel. (2012). Agri study sees consistent use of media channels. Retrieved September 7, 2015, from http://www.readexresearch.com/media-channel-survey-ag-2012/
- Arbuckle Jr, J. G., Hobbs, J., Loy, A., Morton, L. W., Prokopy, L. S., & Tyndall, J. (2014). Understanding Com Belt farmer perspectives on climate change to inform engagement strategies for adaptation and mitigation. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 69(6), 505–516. doi:10.2489/jswc.69.6.505
- Arbuckle, J. G., Hobbs, J., Loy, A., Morton, L. W., Prokopy, L. S., & Tyndall, J. (2013). Midwestern Farmers 'Six Perspectives on Climate Change: Toward Effective Communication Strategies for Adaptation and Mitigation. sustainablecorn.org. Retrieved from http://www.sustainablecorn.org/PDF_download.php/Publications/Posters_docs/2013/Poster 26_Stakeholders_Platform_CSCAP2013_Arbuckle-et-al.pdf
- Arbuckle, J. G., Morton, L. W., & Hobbs, J. (2013a). Farmer beliefs and concerns about climate change and attitudes toward adaptation and mitigation: Evidence from Iowa. *Climatic Change*, 118(3-4), 551–563. doi:10.1007/s10584-013-0700-0
- Arbuckle, J. G., Morton, L. W., & Hobbs, J. (2013b). Understanding farmer perspectives on climate change adaptation and mitigation: the roles of trust in sources of climate information, climate change beliefs, and perceived risk. *Environment and Behavior*, 47(2), 1–30. doi:10.1177/0013916513503832
- Arbuckle, J. G., Prokopy, L. S., Haigh, T., Hobbs, J., Knoot, T., Knutson, C., ... Widhalm, M. (2013). Climate change beliefs, concerns, and attitudes toward adaptation and mitigation among farmers in the Midwestern United States. *Climatic Change*, 117(4), 943–950.
- Badeck, F. W., Bondeau, A., Bottcher, K., Doktor, D., Lucht, W., Schaber, J., & Sitch, S. (2004). Responses of spring phenology to climate change. *New Phytol*, *162*, 295–309.
- Baker, L. M., & Irani, T. (2014). The impact of new media on policy affecting agriculture. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 98(3), 17–31.
- Banks, S. ., Salovey, P., Greener, S., Rothman, A. J., Moyer, A., Beauvais, J., & Epel, E. (1995). The effects of message framing on mammography utilization. *Health Psychology*, *14*(2), 178–184.
- Barnes, A. P., & Toma, L. (2012). A typology of dairy farmer perceptions towards climate change. *Climatic Change*, 112(2), 507–522. doi:10.1007/s10584-011-0226-2

- Barnola, J. M., Raynaud, D., Korotkevich, Y. S., & Lorius, C. (1987). *Vostok ice core provides* 160,000-year record of atmospheric CO2. Nature (Vol. 329). doi:10.1038/329408a0
- Beek, C. L. van, Meerburg, B. G., Schils, R. L. M., Verhagen, J., & Kuikman, P. J. (2010). Feeding the world's increasing population while limiting climate change impacts: linking N2O and CH4 emissions from agriculture to population growth. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *13*(2), 89–96. doi:10.1016/j.envsci.2009.11.001
- Bender, M., Ellis, T., Tans, P., Francey, R., & Lowe, D. (1996). Variability in the O2 / N 2 ratio of southern hemisphere air, 1991-1994: Implications for the carbon cycle. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 10(1), 9–21. doi:10.1029/95GB03295
- Benton, M., & Frazier, P. J. (1976). The agenda setting function of the mass media at three levels of "information holding." *Communication Research*, *3*(3), 261–274. doi:10.1177/009365027600300302
- Blandford, D., & Fulponi, L. (1999). Emerging public concerns in agriculture: Domestic policies and international trade commitments. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 26(3), 409–424. doi:10.1093/erae/26.3.409
- Brechin, S. R., & Freeman, D. A. (2004). Public Support for Both the Environment and an Anti-Environmental President: {P}ossible Explanations for the {G}eorge {W}. {B}ush Anomaly. *The Forum: Journal of Applied Research in Contemporary Politics*, 2(1). doi:10.2202/1540-8884.1027
- Brosius, H., & Weimann, G. (1996). Who sets the agenda? agenda-setting as a two steep flow. *Communication Research*, 23(5), 561–580.
- Campbell Hibbs, A., Champion, B., PytlikZillig, L. M., Kahl, D. W., Abdel-Monem, T., Steffensmeier, T., ... Hubbard, K. (2014). Farmer perceptions of climate change and climate education needs for the Central Great Plains. *Journal of Extension*, 52(3).
- Chong, D., & Druckman, J. N. (2007). Framing Theory. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 10, 103–26. doi:10.1146/annurev.polisci.10.072805.103054
- Cohen, B. (1963). Press and Foreign Policy. Princeton University Press.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences* (Second edi.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Retrieved from https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&q=Statistical+Power+Analysis+for+the+Behavioral+Sciences&btnG=&as_sdt=1%2C5&as_sdtp=#1
- Colaizzi, P. D., Gowda, P. H., Marek, T. H., & Porter, D. O. (2009). Irrigation in the Texas High Plains: a brief history and potential reductions in demand. *Irrigation and Drainage*, 58(3), 257–274. doi:10.1002/ird.418
- Cook, F. L., Tyler, T. R., Goetz, E. G., Gordon, M. T., Protess, D., Leff, D. R., & Molotch, H. L. (1983). Media and agenda setting: Effects on the public, interest group leaders, policy makers, and policy. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 47(1), 16. doi:10.1086/268764
- Cook, J., Nuccitelli, D., Green, S. A., Richardson, M., Winkler, B., Painting, R., ... Skuce, A. (2013). Quantifying the consensus on anthropogenic global warming in the scientific literature. *Environmental Research Letters*, 8(2), 024024. doi:10.1088/1748-

- 9326/8/2/024024
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). *Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design Choosing Among Five Approaches*. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage publications, Inc.
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of texts. *Psychometrika*, *16*, 297–334.
- Croney, C. C. (2010). Words matter: implications of semantics and imagery in framing animal-welfare issues. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Education*, *37*(1), 101–106. doi:10.3138/jvme.37.1.101
- Dagevos, H. (2005). Consumers as four-faced creatures. Looking at food consumption from the perspective of contemporary consumers. *Appetite*, 45(1), 32–9. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2005.03.006
- Delmas, R. J., Ascencio, J.-M., & Legrand, M. (1980). Polar ice evidence that atmospheric CO2 29,000 yr BP was 50% of the present. *Nature*, 284, 155–157.
- Dillman, D. A. (2000). *Mail and Telephone Survey: The Total Design Method*. New York: Wiley-Interscience.
- Dillman, D. A. (2007). *Mail and Internet Surveys: The Tailored Design Method* (2nd ed.). Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Dillman, D. A., Rossing, B., & Christian, L. M. (2009). *Internet, mail, and mixed-mode surveys: The Tailored Design Method.* Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Ding, D., Maibach, E. W., Zhao, X., Roser-Renouf, C., & Leiserowitz, A. (2011). Support for climate policy and societal action are linked to perceptions about scientific agreement. *Nature Climate Change*, *1*(9), 462–466. doi:10.1038/nclimate1295
- Dispensa, J. M., & Brulle, R. J. (2003). Media's social construction of environmental issues: focus on global warming a comparative study. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, 23(10), 74–105. doi:10.1108/01443330310790327
- Druckman, J. (2001). The implications of framing effects for citizen competence. *Political Behavior*, 23(3), 225–256.
- Dunlap, R. E., & McCright, A. M. (2008). A widening gap: Republican and Democratic views on climate change. *Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development*, 50(5), 26–35. doi:10.3200/ENVT.50.5.26-35
- Dunlap, R., & McCright, A. (2011). Organized Climate Change Denial. In *Oxford Handbook of Climate Change and Society* (pp. 143–160). doi:10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199566600.003.0010
- Dursun-Ozkanca, O. (2011). European Union enlargement and British public opinion: The agenda-setting power of the press. *Perspectives on European Politics and Society*, *12*(2), 139–160. doi:10.1080/15705854.2011.572642
- Edwards, A., Elwyn, G., Covey, J., Matthews, E., & Pill, R. (2001). Presenting risk information a review of the effects of "framing" and other manipulations on patient outcomes. *Journal of Health Communication*, 6, 61–82.

- Erbring, L., Goldenberg, E. N., & Miller, A. H. (1980). Front-page news and real-world cues: A new look at agenda-setting by the media. *American Journal of Political Science*, 24(1), 16–49.
- Ereaut, G., & Segnit, N. (2006). Warm words. How are we telling the climate story and can we tell it better? *Public Policy Research*, 2006(August), 32. Retrieved from www.ippr.org
- Ereaut, G., & Segnit, N. (2007). Warm Words II: How the Climate Story is Evolving and the Lessons We Can Learn for Encouraging Public Action. London.
- Executive Office of the President. (2013). *The President's Climate Action Plan. White House Executive Office of the President*. Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/image/president27sclimateactionplan.pdf
- Field, C. B., Barros, V. R., Mastrandrea, M. D., Mach, K. J., Abdrabo, M. A. K., Adger, N., ... Davidson, D., G. W. (2014). *Summary for Policymakers , Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Francey, R. J., & Farquhar, G. D. (1982). An explanation of 13C/12C variations in tree rings. *Nature*, 297(5861), 28–31. doi:10.1038/297028a0
- Galarraga, I., Gonzalez-Eguino, M., & Markandya, A. (2011). The role of regional governments in climate change policy. *Environmental Policy and Governance*, 21(3), 164–182. doi:10.1002/eet.572
- Gitling, T. (1980). *The Whole World is Wathing: Mass Media in the Making and Unmaking of the New Left*. Berkeley, California: University of California Press.
- Goffman, E. (1974). *Frame Analysis: An essay on the organization of experience*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Goodwin, J. N., Chiarelli, C., & Irani, T. (2010). Is perception reality? Improving agricultural messages by discovering how consumers perceive messages. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 95(3), 21–33.
- Haden, V. R., Niles, M. T., Lubell, M., Perlman, J., & Jackson, L. E. (2012). Global and local concerns: what attitudes and beliefs motivate farmers to mitigate and adapt to climate change? *PloS One*, 7(12), e52882. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0052882
- Hahn, G. L., Gaughan, J. B., Mader, T. L., & Eigenberg, R. a. (2009). Thermal Indices and Their Applications for Livestock Environments. *Livestock Energetics and Thermal Environmental Management*. St. Joseph, Michigan: American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers. doi:ASABE # 801M0309
- Hamilton, L. C., Hamilton, L. R., Duncan, C., & Colocousis, C. (2007). Place matters: Challenges and opportunities in four rural americas. *Report on Rural America*, I(4), 1-32.
- Hamilton, L. C., & Keim, B. D. (2009). Regional variation in perceptions about climate change. *International Journal of Climatology*, 29(15), 2348–2352. doi:10.1002/joc.1930
- Hatfield, J. L. (2013). Handbook of climate change and agroecosystems: Global and Regional Aspects and Implications. In D. Hillel & C. Rosenzweig (Eds.), *ICP Series on Climate*

- *Change Impacts, Adaptation, and Mitigation* (Vol. 2, pp. 33–57). London: Imperial College Press.
- Hatfield, J. L., Boote, K. J., Kimball, B. A., Ziska, L. H., Izaurralde, R. C., Ort, D., ... Wolfe, D. (2011). Climate impacts on agriculture: Implications for crop production. *Agronomy Journal*, 103(2), 351–370.
- Hertog, J. K., & Mcleod, D. M. (2001). A Multiperspectival Approach to Framing Analysis: A Field Guide. In *Framing Public Life: Perspectives on Media and Our Understanding of the Social World* (pp. 141–162).
- Hine, D. W., Reser, J. P., Morrison, M., Phillips, W. J., Nunn, P., & Cooksey, R. (2014). Audience segmentation and climate change communication: Conceptual and methodological considerations. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, *5*(4), 441–459. doi:10.1002/wcc.279
- Howden, S. M., Soussana, J.-F., Tubiello, F. N., Chhetri, N., Dunlop, M., & Meinke, H. (2007). Adapting agriculture to climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(50), 19691–19696. doi:10.1073/pnas.0701890104
- Hu, Q., Weiss, A., Feng, S., & Baenziger, P. S. (2005). Earlier winter wheat heading dates and warmer spring in the U.S. Great Plains. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 135(1-4), 284–290. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.01.001
- Hulme, M. (2009). Why we disagree about climate change: Understanding controversy, inaction, and opportunity. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Huppke, R. W. (2015). Florida, Wisconsin try to ban "climate change" Chicago Tribune. Retrieved June 25, 2015, from http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/opinion/huppke/ct-talk-huppke-climate-change-banned-20150415-story.html
- IPCC. (2007a). Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (L. A. M. B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave, Ed.). Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.: Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC. (2007b). Intergovernmental panel on climate change. *Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report*. Retrieved from http://ipccwg1.jp/AR4/meeting/pdf/SyR0407-siryo2.pdf
- *IPCC.* (2015). *IPCC Organization*. Retrieved from http://www.ipcc.ch/organization/organization.shtml
- Izaurralde, R., Thomson, A., Morgan, J. A., Fay, P. A., & Polley, H. w. (2011). Climate impacts on agriculture: implications for forage and rangeland production. *Agronomy Journal*, 103(2), 371–381.
- Kahnem, D., & Tversky, A. (1979). Rrospect theory: An anlysis of decision under risk. *Econometric*, 47(2), 263–292.
- Kahnem, D., & Tversky, A. (1984). Choices, values, and frames. *American Psychologist*, 39(4), 341–350.
- Kaplowitz, M. D., Hadlock, T. D., & Levine, R. (2004). A comparison of web and mail survey

- response rates. Public Opinion Quarterly, 68(1), 94–101.
- Keeling, C. D. (1961). The concentration and isotopic abundances of carbon dioxide in rural and marine air. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 24(3-4), 277–298. doi:10.1016/0016-7037(61)90023-0
- Keeling, R. F., & Shertz, S. R. (1992). Seasonal and interannual variations in atmospheric oxygen and implications for the global carbon cycle. *Nature*, *358*(6389), 723–727. doi:10.1038/358723a0
- Konikow, L. F. (2011). Contribution of global groundwater depletion since 1900 to sea-level rise. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *38*(17). doi:10.1029/2011GL048604
- Kotler, P., & Zaltman, G. (1971). Social Marketing: An approach to planned social change. *Journal of Marketing*, *35*, 3–12.
- Kunkel, K. ., Stevens, L. E., Stevens, S. E., Sun, L., Janssen, E., Wuebbles, D., ... Dobson, J. G. (2013). *Regional Climate Trends and Scenarios for the U.S. National Climate Assessment: Part 4. Climate of the U.S. Great Plains*. Retrieved from http://scenarios.globalchange.gov/report/regional-climate-trends-and-scenarios-us-national-climate-assessment-part-4-climate-us-great
- Lapham, L. H. (2004). Tentacles of Rage. *Harper's Magazine*, (September), 31–41. Retrieved from http://webdelprofesor.ula.ve/ciencias/rlittle/HarpersMagazine-2004-09-0080196.pdf
- Leiserowitz, A. (2003). Global warming in the American mind: The roles of affect, imagery, and worldviews in risk perception, policy preferences and behavior. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Oregon).
- Leiserowitz, A. (2005). American risk perceptions: Is climate change dangerous? *Risk Analysis*, 25(6), 1433–1442. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.2005.00690
- Leiserowitz, A. A., Maibach, E. W., Roser-Renouf, C., Smith, N., & Dawson, E. (2013). Climategate, public opinion, and the loss of trust. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *57*(6), 818–837. doi:10.1177/0002764212458272
- Leiserowitz, A., Maibach, E., Roser-Renourf, C., Feinberg, G., & Howe, P. (2013). Global Warming's Six Americas, September 2012. Yale Project on Climate Change Communication. New Haven, CT.
- Lettenmaier, D. P., Major, D., Poff, N. L., & Running, S. (2008). The effects of climate change on agriculture, land resources, water resources, and biodiversity. (M. Walsh, Ed.) Water Resources. Washington, D.C.
- Lewandowsky, S., Gignac, G. E., & Vaughan, S. (2012). The pivotal role of perceived scientific consensus in acceptance of science. *Nature Climate Change*, *3*(4), 399–404. doi:10.1038/nclimate1720
- Likert, R. (1932). A technique for the measurement of attitudes. *Archives of Psychology*, 22(140), 1–55.
- Linquist, B., Groenigen, K. J., Adviento-Borbe, M. A., Pittelkow, C., & Kessel, C. (2012). An agronomic assessment of greenhouse gas emissions from major cereal crops. *Global*

- Change Biology, 18(1), 194–209. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02502.x
- Lorenzoni, I., Pidgeon, N. F., & O'Connor, R. E. (2005). Dangerous climate change: The role for risk research. *Risk Analysis: An International Journal*, 25(6), 1387–1398. doi:10.1111/j.1539-6924.2005.00686.x
- Loy, A., Hobbs, J., Arbuckle, J. G. J., Morton, L. W., Prokopy, L. S., Haigh, T., ... Widhalm. (2013). Farmer perspectives on agriculture and weather variability in the Corn Belt: A statistical atlas. Ames, IA. Retrieved from https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&q=farmer+perspectives+on+agriculture+and+we ather+variability+in+the+corn+belt%3A+a+statistical+atlas&btnG=&as_sdt=1%2C5&as_s dtp=#0
- Macdonald, D. E. (2013). Climate Change Strategies 101. Earth Common Journal, 3(1).
- Mader, T. L., Frank, K. L., Harrington, J. A., Hahn, G. L., & Nienaber, J. A. (2009). Potential climate change effects on warm-season livestock production in the Great Plains. *Climatic Change*, 97(3-4), 529–541. doi:10.1007/s10584-009-9615-1
- Maheswaran, D., & Meyers-Levy, J. (1990). The influence of message framing and issue involvement. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 27, 361–367.
- Maibach, E., Roser-Renouf, C., & Leiserowitz, A. (2009). *Global Warming's Six Americas* 2009: An Audience Segmentation Analysis. Yale Project on Climate Change, Yale University and George Mason University. New Haven, CT.
- Maibach, E. W., Leiserowitz, A., Roser-Renouf, C., & Mertz, C. K. (2011). Identifying likeminded audiences for global warming public engagement campaigns: an audience segmentation analysis and tool development. *PloS One*, *6*(3), e17571. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0017571
- Mathijssen, J., Janssen, M., van Bon-Martens, M., & van de Goor, I. (2012). Adolescents and alcohol: an explorative audience segmentation analysis. *BMC Public Health*, *12*, 742. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-742
- McCombs, M. (1967). Editorial endorsements: A study of influence. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 44(3), 545–548.
- McCombs, M. (1997). New frontiers in agenda setting: Agendas of attributes and frames. *Mass Communication Review*, 24(1/2), 32–53.
- McCombs, M. (2004a). *Setting the agenda: The mass media and public opinion*. Malden, MA: John Wiley & Sons.
- McCombs, M. (2004b). *Setting the agenda: The mass media and public opinion*. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing Inc.
- McCombs, M. (2005). A Look at Agenda-setting: past, present and future. *Journalism Studies*, 6(4), 543–557. doi:10.1080/14616700500250438
- McCombs, M. E., & Zhu, J.-H. (1995). Capacity, Diversity, and Volatility of the Public Agenda: Trends From 1954 to 1994. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, *59*(4), 495. doi:10.1086/269491
- McCombs, M., & Shaw, D. (1972). The Agenda-Setting Function of Mass Media. *The Puplic*

- *Opinion Quarterly*, 36(2), 176–187.
- McCombs, M., & Shaw, D. (1993). The evolution of agenda-setting research: Twenty-five years in the marketplace of ideas. *Journal of Communication*, 43(2), 58–67.
- McCombs, M., & Weaver, D. (1973). *Voters' Need for Orientation and Use of Mass Communication*. Paper prepared for the International Communication Association, Montreal, Canada.
- McDonald, R. I., Green, P., Balk, D., Fekete, B. M., Revenga, C., Todd, M., & Montgomery, M. (2011). Urban growth, climate change, and freshwater availability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(15), 6312–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1011615108
- McLeod, J., Becker, L., & Byrnes, J. (1974). Another look at the agenda-setting function of the press. *Communication Research*, *1*(2), 131–166. doi:10.1177/009365027400100201
- Melillo, J. M., Richmond, T., & Yohe, G. W. (2014). Overview of the climate change impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment. Retrieved from bookstore.gpo.gov
- Miller, C. (2000). The dynamics of framing environmental values and policy: four models of societal processes. *Environmental Values*, *9*, 211–233.
- Mimura, N., Pulwarty, R. S., D.M., D., Elshinnawy, I., Redsteer, M. H., Huang, H.-Q., ... Sanchez Rodriguez, R. A. (2014). 2014: Adaptation planning and implementation. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate C.
- Morton, T. A., Rabinovich, A., Marshall, D., & Bretschneider, P. (2011). The future that may (or may not) come: How framing changes responses to uncertainty in climate change communications. *Global Environmental Change*, 21, 103–109.
- Moser, S. C. (2010). Communicating climate change: history, challenges, process and future directions. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, *1*(1), 31–53. doi:10.1002/wcc.11
- Moser, S. C., & Dilling, L. (2011). Communicating Climate Change: Closing the Science Action Gap. In J. S. Dryzek, R. B. Norgaard, & D. Schlosberg (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Climate Change and Society* (pp. 161–174).
- NASA. (2013, June 25). NASA Earth Observatory: Home. *NASA*. NASA Earth Observatory. Retrieved from http://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/
- Niemi, R., & Bartels, L. (1985). New measures of issue salience: An evaluation. *The Journal of Politics*. Retrieved from http://journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0022381600066020
- Nisbet, M. (2009). Communicating climate change: Why frames matter for public engagement. *Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable* Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.3200/ENVT.51.2.12-23
- Nisbet, M. C., & Myers, T. (2007). The polls-trends twenty years of public opinion about global

- warming. Public Opinion Quarterly, 71(3), 444–470. doi:10.1093/poq/nfm031
- NOAA. (n.d.). Extreme Events. Retrieved May 14, 2015, from http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/climate-information/extreme-events
- NOAA. (2011). Weather Systems and Patterns. Retrieved May 14, 2015, from http://www.education.noaa.gov/Weather_and_Atmosphere/Weather_Systems_and_Patterns. html
- NOAA. (n.d.). Retrieved May 7, 2015, from http://www.noaa.gov/climate.html
- NOAA, & USDA. (2008). The Easter Freeze of April 2007: A Climatological Perspective and Assessment of Impacts and Services. Retrieved from http://www1.ncdc.noaa.gov/pub/data/techrpts/tr200801/tech-report-200801.pdf
- Noar, S., Benac, C., & Harris, M. (2007). Does tailoring matter: meta-analytic review of print health behavior change interventions. *Psychological Bulletin*, *133*, 673–393.
- O'Connor, R. E., Bord, R. J., & Fisher, A. (1999). Risk Perceptions, General Environmental Beliefs, and Willingness to Address Climate Change. *Risk Analysis*, 19(3), 461–471. doi:10.1023/A:1007004813446
- O'Donoghue, E. J. E. J., Hoppe, R. a. R. a, Banker, D. E. D. E., & Korb, P. (2009). Exploring Alternative Farm Definitions Implications for Agricultural Statistics and Program Eligibility. *Economic Research Service Report Summary*, 49, 1–2. Retrieved from http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1367833
- Pelletier, I. G., & Sharp, E. (2008). Persuasive communication and proenvironmental nehaviours: How message tailoring and message framing can imiprove the integration of behaviours through self-determined motivaton. *Canadian Psychology*, 49, 210–217.
- Porter, J. R., Xie, L., Challinor, a. J., Cochrane, K., Howden, S. M., Iqbal, M. M., ... Travasso, M. I. (2014). Food security and food production systems. Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Rathge, R., Olson, K., Danielson, R., & Clemenson, M. (2001). *Demographic chartbook:* profiling change in the Great Plains. North Dakota State Data Center, North Dakota State University.
- Raz-Yaseef, N., & Billesbach, D. (2015). Vulnerability of crops and native grasses to summer drying in the US Southern Great Plains. *Agriculture, Ecosystems* Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167880915300359
- Rimal, R., Brown, J., Mkandawire, G., Folda, L., Bose, K., & Creel, A. (2009). Audience segmentatin as a social-marketing tool in health promotion: use of the risk perception attitude framework in HIV prevention in Malawi. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99, 2224–2229.
- Rolfe-Redding, J. C., Maibach, E. W., Feldman, L., & Leiserowitz, A. a. (2012). Republicans and Climate Change: An Audience Analysis of Predictors for Belief and Policy Preferences. *International Communication Association*, 1–48. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2026002

- Rothman, A. J., Bartels, R. D., Wlasching, J., & Salovery, P. (2006). The strategic use of gainand loss-framed message to promote healthy beahiour: How theory can inform practice. *Journal of Communication*, 56, 202–220.
- Rumble, J., Holt, J., & Irani, T. (2014). The power of words: Exploring consumers' perceptions of words commonly associated with agriculture. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 98(2), 23–36.
- Scanlon, B. R., Gates, J. B., Reedy, R. C., Jackson, W. A., & Bordovsky, J. P. (2010). Effects of irrigated agroecosystems: 2. Quality of soil water and groundwater in the southern High Plains, Texas. *Water Resources Research*, 46(9), n/a–n/a. doi:10.1029/2009WR008428
- Scannell, L., & Gifford, R. (2011). Personally Relevant Climate Change: The Role of Place Attachment and Local Versus Global Message Framing in Engagement. *Environment and Behavior*, 45(1), 60–85. doi:10.1177/0013916511421196
- Shadish, W. R. ., Cook, T., & Campbell, D. (2002). Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for generalized causal inference. Wadsworth Cengage learning.
- Shafer, M., Ojima, D., Antle, J. M., Kluck, D., McPherson, R. A., Petersen, S., ... Sherman, K. (2014). *Ch. 19: Great Plains. Climate Change IMpacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment.* (J. M. Melillo, T. Richmond, & G. W. Yohe, Eds.). doi:10.7930/J0D798BC
- Sheehan, K. (2001). Email survey response rates: A review. *Journal of Computer Mediated Communication*, 6(2), 1–20.
- Shih, T.-J., Wijaya, R., & Brossard, D. (2008). Media coverage of public health epidemics: Linking framing and issue attention cycle toward an integrated theory of print news coverage of epidemics. *Mass Communication and Society*, *11*(2), 141–160. doi:10.1080/15205430701668121
- Shoemaker, P. J., & Reese, S. D. (1996). *Mediating the message: thories of influences on mass media content* (2nd ed.). White Plains, NY: Longman.
- Shome, D., Marx, S., Appelt, K., Arora, P., Balstad, R., Broad, K., ... Leiserowitz, A. (2009). *The psychology of climate change communication: A guide for scientists, journalists, educators, political aides, and the interested public. Center for Research on Environmental Decisions*. Retrieved from http://www.cred.columbia.edu/guide/pdfs/CREDguide_full-res.pdf
- Smith, W. R. (1956). Product differentiation and market segmentation as alternative marketing strategies. *Journal of Marketing*, 21(1), 3–8. doi:10.2307/1247695
- Soroka, S. N. (2002). Issue attributes and agenda-setting by media, the public, and policymakers in Canada. *International Journal of Public Opinion Research*, *14*(3), 264–285. doi:10.1093/ijpor/14.3.264
- Southwell, B. G., & Yzer, M. C. (2007). The roles of interpersonal communication in mass media campaigns. *Communication Yearbook*, *31*(July 2015), 419–462.
- Spence, A., & Pidgeon, N. (2010). Framing and communicating climate change: The effects of distance and outcome frame manipulations. *Global Environmental Change*, 20(4), 656–667.

- doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2010.07.002
- The White House. (2013). President Obama's Plan to Fight Climate Change. Retrieved May 7, 2015, from http://www.whitehouse.gov/share/climate-action-plan
- Tolman, E. (1932). *Purposive behavior in animals and men*. Berkley and Los Angeles: University of California Press.
- Tongco, M. D. C. (2007). Purposive sampling as a tool for informant selection. *Ethnobotany Research and Applications*, *5*, 147–158.
- Treut, H. Le, Somerville, R., Cubasch, U., Ding, Y., Mauritzen, C., Mokssit, A., ... Prather, M. (2007). Historical Overview of Climate Change. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Retrieved from http://www.citeulike.org/group/13619/article/7673473
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2013). Glossary of Climate Change Terms. *EPA Website*. Retrieved from http://www.epa.gov/climatechange/glossary.html#C
- United Nations. Department of Economical and Social Affairs. (2014). *Concise report on the world opulation situation 2014*. Retrieved from http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/trends/concise-report2014.shtml
- USDA Climate Hubs. (2015). About Us | Souther Plains Climate Hub. Retrieved June 29, 2015, from http://climatehubs.oce.usda.gov/southernplains/about-us
- USDA, N. (2012). *Census of Agriculture 2012 Census Race, Ethnicity and Gender Profiles*. Retrieved from http://www.agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Online_Resources/Race,_Ethnicity_and_Gender_Profiles/index.php
- USGCRP. (2009). *Global climate change impacts in the United States*. (T. R. Karl, J. M. Melillo, & T. C. Peterson, Eds.) *United States Global Change Research Program* (Vol. 54). Cambridge University Press.
- Van Groenigen, J. W., Velthof, G. L., Oenema, O., Van Groenigen, K. J., & Van Kessel, C. (2010). Towards an agronomic assessment of N2O emissions: a case study for arable crops. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 61(6), 903–913. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389.2009.01217.x
- Vilsack, T., & Clark, C. (2012). 2012 Census of Agriculture: United States. United States Department of Agriculture (Vol. 1). Retrieved from http://www.agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/
- Wang, G. (2005). Agricultural drought in a future climate: results from 15 global climate models participating in the IPCC 4th assessment. *Climate Dynamics*. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00382-005-0057-9
- Wanta, W., & Y, W. (1992). Interpersonal communication and the agenda setting process. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 69, 847–855. Retrieved from http://jmq.sagepub.com/content/69/4/847.short

- Weaver, D. H. (2007). Thoughts on agenda setting, framing, and priming. *Journal of Communication*, 57(1), 142–147. doi:10.1111/j.1460-2466.2006.00333.x
- Weber, E. U., & Stern, P. C. (2011). Public understanding of climate change in the United States. *The American Psychologist*, 66(4), 315–328. doi:10.1037/a0023253
- Whitmarsh, L. (2009). What's in a name? Commonalities and differences in public understanding of "climate change" and "global warming." *Public Understanding of Science*, 18(4), 401–420.
- Wimmer, R., & Dominick, J. (2011). *Mass Media Research: An Introduction* (Wadsworth.). Boston, MA.

Appendix A - Survey Versions with Quasi-Experimental Design

Perceived Risk

Please indicate how concerned you are about the following issues:

- 1. How concerned are you about increases in flooding?
 - Not concerned
 - Slightly concerned
 - Somewhat concerned
 - Moderately concerned
 - Extremely concerned
- 2. How concerned are you about longer dry periods and drought?
 - Not concerned
 - Slightly concerned
 - Somewhat concerned
 - Moderately concerned
 - Extremely concerned
- 3. How concerned are you about increases in weed pressure?
 - Not concerned
 - Slightly concerned
 - Somewhat concerned
 - Moderately concerned
 - Extremely concerned
- 4. How concerned are you about increases in insect pressure?
 - Not concerned
 - Slightly concerned
 - Somewhat concerned
 - Moderately concerned
 - Extremely concerned
- 5. How concerned are you about more frequent extreme rains?

- Not concerned
- Slightly concerned
- Somewhat concerned
- Moderately concerned
- Extremely concerned
- 6. How concerned are you about increases in saturated soils and ponded water?
 - Not concerned
 - Slightly concerned
 - Somewhat concerned
 - Moderately concerned
 - Extremely concerned
- 7. How concerned are you about increases in heat stress on crops?
 - Not concerned
 - Slightly concerned
 - Somewhat concerned
 - Moderately concerned
 - Extremely concerned
- 8. How concerned are you about increases in loss of nutrients into waterways?
 - Not concerned
 - Slightly concerned
 - Somewhat concerned
 - Moderately concerned
 - Extremely concerned
- 9. How concerned are you about increases in soil erosion?
 - Not concerned
 - Slightly concerned
 - Somewhat concerned
 - Moderately concerned
 - Extremely concerned

Experienced Hazard

Please indicated the level of impact the following have had on your farming and/or ranching operation in the last 5 years:

- 10. Experienced significant drought in the last five years
 - No impact
 - Minor impact
 - Moderate impact
 - Major impact
 - Extreme impact
- 11. Problems with saturated soils or ponding in the last five years
 - No impact
 - Minor impact
 - Moderate impact
 - Major impact
 - Extreme impact
- 12. Creeks, streams, or rivers running through farmland in the last five years
 - No impact
 - Minor impact
 - Moderate impact
 - Major impact
 - Extreme impact
- 13. Experienced stream/river flooding in the last five years
 - No impact
 - Minor impact
 - Moderate impact
 - Major impact
 - Extreme impact
- 14. Some land farmed has experienced significant soil erosion in the last five years

- No impact
- Minor impact
- Moderate impact
- Major impact
- Extreme impact

Perceived Benefit

Please indicate the level of benefits you have experienced on your farming and/or ranching operation in the last 5 years:

- 15. Longer growing seasons in the last five years
 - No benefit
 - Minor benefit
 - Some benefit
 - Moderate benefit
 - Major benefit
- 16. Longer pasture seasons in the last five years
 - No benefit
 - Minor benefit
 - Some benefit
 - Moderate benefit
 - Major benefit
- 17. Ability to plant double crops in the last five years
 - No benefit
 - Minor benefit
 - Some benefit
 - Moderate benefit
 - Major benefit
- 18. Increased options in crop variety in the last five years

- No benefit
- Minor benefit
- Some benefit
- Moderate benefit
- Major benefit
- 19. Milder, shorter winters in the last five years
 - No benefit
 - Minor benefit
 - Some benefit
 - Moderate benefit
 - Major benefit

Gain Framed Questions

There is increasing discussion about the profitability and sustainability of production agriculture.

Please indicate how strongly you agree or disagree with the following statements:

- 20. The increasing frequency of extreme weather events will not impact my operation.
 - Strongly agree
 - Agree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Strongly Disagree
- 21. Differences in weather patterns will allow for longer growing seasons.
 - Strongly agree
 - Agree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Strongly Disagree
- 22. Weather variability will result in positive daily weather for my operation.

- Strongly agree
- Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Disagree
- Strongly Disagree
- 23. Climate change can benefit the profitability of my farming/ranching operation.
 - Strongly agree
 - Agree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Strongly Disagree
- 24. Recent increases in extreme weather events have not impacted my operation.
 - Strongly agree
 - Agree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Strongly Disagree
- 25. Shifts in weather patterns have allowed for longer growing and pasture season.
 - Strongly agree
 - Agree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Strongly Disagree
- 26. Climate Change has resulted in increased profits on my farm/ranch.
 - Strongly agree
 - Agree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Strongly Disagree
- 27. Weather variability has not impacted my daily activities on my farming and/or ranching operation.

- Strongly agree
- Agree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Disagree
- Strongly Disagree

Loss Framed Questions

There is increasing discussion about the profitability and sustainability of production agriculture.

Please indicate how strongly you agree or disagree with the following statements:

- 20. The increased frequency of extreme weather events will damage my crops and/or pasture.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 21. Changing weather patterns will disrupt the planting and harvest dates of my crops and/or length of grazing season.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 22. Weather variability has potential to alter my daily routine and maintenance of my operation.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 23. Climate change will reduce the profitability of my farming/ranching operation.

- Strongly Disagree
- Disagree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Agree
- Strongly Agree
- 24. The increased frequency of extreme weather events has damaged my crops and farmland and/or pasture.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 25. Changing weather patterns have negatively altered the planting and harvest dates of my crops and/or length of grazing season.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 26. Weather variability has disrupted my daily routine and maintenance of my operation.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 27. Climate change has reduced the profitability of my farming/ranching operation.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree

Neutral Framed Questions

There is increasing discussion about the profitability and sustainability of production agriculture. Please indicate how strongly you agree or disagree with the following statements:

- 20. Increased frequency of extreme weather events can impact my crops and farmland and/or pasture.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 21. Changing weather patterns will change the future planting and harvest dates of my crops and/or length of grazing season.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 22. Weather variability has potential to alter my daily routine and maintenance of my operation.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 23. Climate change will impact the profitability of my farming/ranching operation.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 24. The increased frequency of extreme weather events has affected my crops and farmland and/or pasture.

- Strongly Disagree
- Disagree
- Neither Agree nor Disagree
- Agree
- Strongly Agree
- 25. Changing weather patterns have altered the planting and harvest dates of my crops and/or length of grazing season.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 26. Weather variability has affected my daily routine and maintenance of my operation.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 27. Climate change has impacted my farming/ranching operation.
 - Strongly Disagree
 - Disagree
 - Neither Agree nor Disagree
 - Agree
 - Strongly Agree
- 28. Thinking about climate and climate change, which of the follow agricultural media sources do you use for information? Select all that apply.

		Research publications
		Industry professional magazines
		Business reports
		Commodity specific magazines
		Regional agricultural publications
		Agricultural expos/farm shows
		Radio broadcasts
		Television broadcasts
		Commodity organization publications
		University publications
		None of the above
20	DI	
29.		ase select all research publications you use:
		Agriculture Week
		Journal of Agricultural and Food Economics
		Journal of Agriculture & Food Security Lournal of the International Organization for Biological Control
		Journal of the International Organization for Biological Control Chamical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture
		Chemical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture
		Journal of Arimal Science and Piotochnology
		Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology Journal of Animal Science and Technology
		Journal of General Plant Pathology
		International Journal on Advances in Precision Agriculture
		USDA Agricultural Research Service
		The International Society of Organic Agriculture Research
		Journal of Agricultural Science
		None of the above
	_	Trone of the above
30.	Ple	ase select all industry professional magazines you use:
		Bovine Veterinarian
		BEEF VET
		Feedstuffs
		AgProfessional.com
	Ц	None of the above
31.	Ple	ase select all business reports you use:
		Ag Professional
		US Farm Report
		Doane
		Farm Futures

		Farm Progress Data Solutions
		Successful Farming
		Weekly Livestock Reporter
		The Stock Exchange
		None of the above
32.	Ple	ase select all commodity specific magazines you use:
		Dairy Herd Management
		Drovers Cattle Network
		Pork Network
		Drovers Cow/Calf
		BEEF
		Corn + Soybean Digest
		Beef Producer
		Western Farmer Stockman
		National Hog Farmer
		Farm Journal
		The Packer
		Farm Journal's Milk
		Beef Today
		Angus Journal
		Calf News
		Dairy Today
		Feedlot Magazine
		National Cattleman
		Texas Hereford
		Texas Longhorn Trails
		None of the above
22	DI	
33.	_	ease select all regional agricultural publications you use:
		8
		Farm Progress Daily newsletter Kansas Farmer
		Prairie Farmer
		The Farmer
		Western Farm Press
		High Plains Journal
		Farm Talk Newspaper Kansas Stockman
	J	Southern Livestock Standard

		None of the above
34	Ple	ease select all agricultural expos/farm shows you attend:
J - 7.		Topeka Farm Show
		Wichita Farm & Ranch Show
		Mid America Farm Expo
		Great Bend Farm and Ranch Expo
		Four State Farm Show
		3i Show
		Amarillo Farm & Ranch Show
		Cattle Raisers Convention & Expo
		Commodity Classic
		Fort Worth Stock Show & Rodeo
		South Texas Farm & Ranch Show
		Heart of America Farm Show
		KNID Agrifest
		Oklahoma City Farm Show
		Tulsa Farm Show
		Wichita Falls Ranch & Farm Expo
		Western Farm Show
		Hay & Forage Expo
		Husker Harvest Days
		New York Farm Show
		The Farm Progress Show
		None of the above
35	Ple	ease select all radio broadcasts you use:
55.		Farm Progress America
		Max Armstrong's Midwest Digest
		WGN Radio Saturday Morning Show
		Successful Farming Radio
		KFRM 550 AM
		AgriTalk
		Radio Oklahoma Agricultural Network
		Texas Ag Radio Network
		Down on the Farm Radio Network
		KLA Radio
		None of the above

36. Please select all television broadcasts you use:

	This Week in Agribusiness
	RFD - TV
	None of the above
37. Ple	ease select all commodity organization publications you use:
	Kansas Soybean
	Oklahoma Wheat
	Oklahoma Corn Growers Association
	Oklahoma Soybean Board
	Oklahoma Conservation Commission
	Texas Wheat
	Texas Soybeans
	Texas Corn
	Texas Cotton Association
	Texas Cattle Feeders Association
	Oklahoma Cowman
	Oklahoma Pork Council
	Kansas Stockman
	Pig Tales
	Producer Connection, Texas Pork Producers Assn.
	None of the above
38. Ple	ease select all university publications you use:
	AgriLife Today
	AgMRC
	Ag Report
	K-State Research and Extension Bookstore
	SUNUP TV
	Extension Fact Sheets
	AgriLeader
	Texas A&M AgriLife Extension Bookstore
	Oklahoma State University Agricultural Communications
	None of the above

39.	Please	select t	the sta	atement	that 1	best	reflects	vour	beliefs	about	climate	change:

- Climate change is occurring, and it's caused by mostly natural changes in the environment
- Climate change is occurring, and is caused mostly by human activities
- Climate change is occurring, and is caused more or less equally by natural changes in the environment and human activities
- Climate change is not occurring
- There is not sufficient evidence to know with certainty whether climate change is occurring or not

40	Please	indicate	your role or	the far	ming/rand	ching o	neration.
TU.	1 ICasc	muicate	YOUI TOIC OI	i uic iai	mmz/ram	June	berauen.

- Owner/operator
- Landlord
- Tenant
- Manager/operator
- Farmhand/laborer
- Spouse of owner
- Co-owner
- Child of owner

41. Select each of	crop and/or livestocl	k type that is raise	d on your farming	g and/or ranching
operation:				

- Corn
- Wheat
- Soybeans
- Oats
- Beef cattle
- Sorghum
- Hay
- Alfalfa
- Hogs/Swine
- Sheep/goats
- Dairy cattle
- Other _____
- 42. What is the highest degree or level of education you have completed?

- 28. No schooling completed
- 29. Kindergarten to 8th grade
- 30. Some high school, no diploma
- 31. High school graduate or equivalent (GED)
- 32. Some college credit
- 33. Trade/technical/vocational training
- 34. Associate's degree
- 35. Bachelor's degree
- 36. Master's degree
- 37. Professional degree
- 38. Doctoral degree
- 43. Select the farm type that best describes your production:
 - Limited-resource farm: small farm with sales less than \$100,000, farm assets less than \$150,000, and total operator household income less than \$20,000. Operators may report any major occupation, except hired manager.
 - Retirement farm: small farms whose operators report they are retired.
 - Residential/lifestyle farm: small farms whose operators report a major occupation other than farming.
 - Farming-occupation farms: small farms whose operators report farming as their major occupation.
 - Large family farm: sales between \$250,000 and \$499,999
 - Very large family farm: sales of \$500,000 or more
 - Non-family Farm: farms organized as non-family corporations or cooperatives, as well as farms operated by hired managers.
- 44. Which political party do you identify yourself as belonging to?
 - Republican
 - Democrat
 - Independent
 - No party, I am not interested in politics
 - Other (please specify)
 - 45. What is your age?

- 18-24
- 25-30
- 31-35
- 36-40
- 41-45
- 46-50
- 51-55
- 56-60
- 61 and above
- 46. I identify my gender as...
 - Male
 - Female
 - Other
 - Prefer not to answer
- 47. I identify my ethnicity as....
 - Caucasian (white)
 - Hispanic or Latino
 - African American (black)
 - Native American
 - Asian/Pacific Islander
 - Other (please specify)
 - Prefer not to answer

Appendix B - Kansas Wheat Initial Email



KANSAS STATE

College of Agriculture

A master's student in Kansas State University's College of Agriculture is conducting a study to explore your concerns, experiences, and preferred communications channels in regards to weather and climate. She is interested in determining how we can improve communication efforts to better serve agricultural producers.

The researcher has requested us to send a link to our members in support of her efforts.

We were hoping all Kansas Wheat members will help her with his study by completing an online survey.

Follow this link to the survey or copy and paste the URL below into your Internet browser:

https://kstate.qualtrics.com/SE/?SID=SV_cNmPZqCGhD2iaON

She would like to thank you in advance for supporting her study and efforts to help improve weather and climate communication in the interest of promoting agriculture.

If you have questions or problems accessing the survey, please e-mail Cassie Wandersee at wande@ksu.edu.

Appendix C - IRB Approval Letter



TO: Lauri Baker

Communications 307 Umberger

FROM: Rick Scheidt, Chair

Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects

DATE: 12/22/2015

RE: Proposal Entitled, "An audience focused approach to framing climate-change communication in

Proposal Number: 8061

agriculture"

The Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects / Institutional Review Board (IRB) for Kansas State University has reviewed the proposal identified above and has determined that it is EXEMPT from further IRB review. This exemption applies only to the proposal - as written – and currently on file with the IRB. Any change potentially affecting human subjects must be approved by the IRB prior to implementation and may disqualify the proposal from exemption.

Based upon information provided to the IRB, this activity is exempt under the criteria set forth in the Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects, 45 CFR §46.101, paragraph b, category: 2, subsection: ii.

Certain research is exempt from the requirements of HHS/OHRP regulations. A determination that research is exempt does not imply that investigators have no ethical responsibilities to subjects in such research; it means only that the regulatory requirements related to IRB review, informed consent, and assurance of compliance do not apply to the research.

Any unanticipated problems involving risk to subjects or to others must be reported immediately to the Chair of the Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects, the University Research Compliance Office, and if the subjects are KSU students, to the Director of the Student Health Center.

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY: IRB Protocol #		A	pplication R	eceived:	Routs	ed:	Training Complete:	
KANGAS STATE	52000	o ₂	e4400	42 50		0.200.000	recording in	N. 200 (100 (100 (100 (100 (100 (100 (100

UNIVERSITY
University Research
Compliance Office

Committee for Research Involving Human Subjects (IRB) Application for Approval Form

Please send your completed application to comply@k-state.edu

INSTRUCTIONS

Be sure to save the application PDF to your computer before you begin completing the form. You may not be able to save your changes if you edit this form in a web browser.

The KSU IRB is required by law to ensure that all research involving human subjects is adequately reviewed for specific information and is approved prior to inception of any proposed activity. Consequently, it is important that you answer all questions accurately. If you need help or have questions about how to complete this application, please call the Research Compliance Office at 532-3224, or e-mail us at comply@ksu.edu.

Please provide the requested information in the outlined text boxes. The text boxes are designed to accommodate responses within the body of the application. As you type your answers, the text boxes will expand where appropriate and as needed. After completion send your application by e-mail to comply@k-state.edu.

Additional material is requested with this application. Be sure to provide electronic copies of the following documents (if applicable) and submit them to comply@k-state.edu along with your application:

Consent Form (see Administrative Information, IX. Informed Consent A.)

Sponsor's grant application or contract as submitted to the funding agency. (See Administrative Information)

Surveys, instruments, etc used for data collection (see V. Design and Procedures C. and X. Project Information P.)

Debriefing statement to be utilized (see IX. Informed Consent E.)

FAILURE TO PROVIDE ALL INFORMATION REQUESTED MAY LEAD TO A DELAY IN PROCESSING YOUR REQUEST.

Please proof read and check spelling BEFORE submitting the form. To use Acrobat spelling check, press F7 or select EDIT, CHECK SPELLING

> PLEASE CONTINUE TO THE NEXT PAGE TO BEGIN COMPLETING THE FORM

Last Revised: 10/22/2015

IRB Application	Page 2
ADMINISTRATIVE	INFORMATION:
Title of Project/Course:	An audience focused approach to framing climate-change communication in agriculture
Type of Application: (check one box)	✓ New / Renewal Revision (to a pending new application) Modification to an existing approved application #:
Principal Investigator Det	ails: (must be a KSU faculty member):
Name:	Dr. Lauri M. Baker Degree/Title: Associate Professor
Department: Communi	ications and Agricultural Education Campus Phone: 785-532-1140
Campus Address:	307 Umberger Hall
E-mail:	lmbaker@ksu.edu Fax #:785-532-5633
Responsible Graduate Stu	dent: (Person to contact for questions/problems with the form):
Name:	Cassie Wandersee Campus Phone: 785-532-5804
E-mail:	wande@ksu.edu
Come of the Consent To-	✓ Thesis Dissertation Faculty Research Other: Note: Class Projects should use the short form application for class projects.
Copy of the Consent Forn	
Funding Source:	Internal External (Identify source. You will also need to provide a copy of the sponsor's grant application or contract as submitted to the funding agency. This should be submitted to comply@ksu.edu with your application.)
	USDA, Southern Plains Regional Climate Hub
policy/checklists/decision review: Exempt Projects: 45 CF categories: that your pr	in 45 CFR 46 – and the overview of projects that may qualify for exemption explained at http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp.charts.html , I believe that my project using human subjects should be determined by the IRB to be exempt from IRB No Yes (If yes, please provide the category of "Exemption" in the space below) Re 46 identifies six categories of research involving human subjects that may be exempt from IRB review. The for exemption are listed here: http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/policy/checklists/decisioncharts.html#c2 If you believe roject qualifies for exemption, please indicate which exemption category applies (1-6). Please remember that only in make the final determination whether a project is exempt from IRB review, or not.
Exemption	
in the following block. Add	an approved protocol? No Yes If yes, please comply with the following: fication or a change to an IRB approved protocol, please provide a concise description of all of the changes that you are proposititionally, please highlight or bold the proposed changes in the body of the protocol where appropriate, so that it is clearly wers what and where the proposed changes are. This will greatly help the committee and facilitate the review.

IRB Application Page 3

I. NON-TECHNICAL SYNOPSIS (Please provide a brief narrative description of proposal. This should typically be less than 75 words and be easily understood by nonscientists):

An online survey will be dispersed to agricultural producers in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas identified by their voluntary membership in commodity organizations. An email invitation will be sent to producers inviting them to participate in the survey. The survey will consist of approximately 40 items investigating the beliefs respondents have about climate change, how they prefer to talk about climate change, and from what agriculture media sources seek information about climate change.

II. BACKGROUND (concise narrative review of the literature and basis for the study):

A majority of papers (97.1%) published since 1997 that expressed a position on climate change and global warming, agreed that the human population is causing global warming (Cook et al., 2013). The scientific conclusion that humans are impacting climate and warming the planet through the burning of fossil fuels and land clearing, has been accepted by governments globally (Macdonald, 2013). The agricultural industry is both vulnerable to climate change and produces a significant amount of greenhouse gases (Gordon Arbuckle, Prokopy, et al., 2013). Results of climate change, such as successive and extreme events like flooding and droughts, combined with increasing average temperatures and rising water demand, pose a higher risk in rural communities for loss of rural livelihoods, severe economic losses in agriculture, as well as damage to cultural values and identity (Aalst et al., 2014). Without adaptation, further changes in climate, atmospheric carbon dioxide, and ocean acidity are expected to have a substantial impact on agriculture including water resources (Aalst et al., 2014). The farmer decision to adapt, or not adapt, does not require the farmer to understand the underlying causes or sources of risk (Gordon et al., 2013). While most experts agree that carbon dioxide emissions and other greenhouse gases are causing anthropogenic climate change, public concern for the issue has been declining (Lewandowsky et al., 2012). The way in which communications about climate change are framed has a considerable impact on the way the messages are received (Spence & Pidgeon, 2010). Communication frames are increasingly being used to influence and encourage sustainable behavior in regards to climate change (Spence & Pidgeon, 2010). Communication and framing of risk to influence behavior change has been thoroughly studied in relation to personal health, policy, and other academic fields. There is a lack of empirical evidence about the most effective strategies for communicating and presenting climate change risks and adaptation and mitigation options, and whether or not theories developed in other risk domains are transferrable to climate change issues (Pelletier & Sharp, 2008).

IRB Application Page 4

III. PROJECT/STUDY DESCRIPTION

(Please provide a concise narrative description of the proposed activity in terms that will allow the IRB or other interested parties to clearly understand what it is that you propose to do that involves human subjects. This description must be in enough detail so that IRB members can make an informed decision about the proposal).

The potential participants will be members of corresponding state commodity organizations. Researchers will create on online survey to be distributed to the organization's members through their email contact lists. Respondents to the survey will be introduced to the project through a greeting screen and then provide their consent digitally before moving on to the survey instrument. After completing the survey, respondents will be debriefed. If a low response rate occurs, a paper copy of the survey will be mailed to non-respondents.

IV. OBJECTIVE

(Briefly state the objective of the research - what you hope to learn from the study).

The purpose of this study is to investigate the frames and messages agricultural producers in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas use and accept related to climate change and the impacts a changing climate has. In reaching this purpose we hope to discover how agricultural producers want to hear and learn about climate change. Completing this purpose will allow researchers to develop communication guides for use in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas.

V. <u>DESIGN AND PROCEDURES</u> (succinctly outline formal plan for study)

A. List all sites where this research will be conducted: Kansas State University, Manhattan, Kansas

Variable as he shall all Delicin Nimes shows a shall be s

- B. Variables to be studied: Belief in climate change; experienced hazard; perceived risks; preferred frames; preferred terminology; climate change information sources
- C. Data collection methods: (surveys, instruments, etc copies must submitted to comply@k-state.edu).

Online survey, paper version of online survey

D. List any factors that might lead to a subject dropping out or withdrawing from a study. These might include, but are not limited to emotional or physical stress, pain, inconvenience, etc.

Time to participate

E. List all biological samples taken: (if any)

none

F. Debriefing procedures for participants:

After completing the survey or ending the survey before completion, respondents will be directed to a screen thanking them for their participation. The debriefing message will explain that the gathered information will assist researchers in the development of communication guides on the topic of climate change. Provided information will serve as a starting point for the development of those guidelines. The same debriefing message will be included if a hard copy survey is mailed.

VI. RESEARCH SUBJECTS:

A. Source:

Kansas Wheat, Texas Wheat, Oklahoma Wheat Association, National Association of Wheat Growers, US Wheat Associates

Number: (provide a brief rationale for your sample size)

1.00000	Pag Pag
	3,000 - The survey will be distributed to all members of the associations with emails on file
C.	Inclusion criteria: (List any unique qualifiers desirable for research subject participation)
	Involved in agricultural production
D.	Exclusion criteria: (list any unique disqualifiers for research subject participation)
	n/a
E.	Recruitment procedures: How will subjects be identified?
	Subjects will be identified by their membership in their respective state wheat growers associations
	How will subjects be recruited (advertisement, associates, etc.) ?
	Subjects will be recruited through email by the associations. No advertisements will be used.
	How will subjects be enrolled?
	Subjects will be enrolled through an email link to the survey.
	Describe any follow-up recruitment procedures: (reminder emails, mailings, etc.)
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. The demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. It demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others.
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. It demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply)
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. It demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. It demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. It demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation,
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. It demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. It demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors Examining for personal or sensitive information in surveys or interviews
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. It demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors Examining for personal or sensitive information in surveys or interviews Presentation of materials which subjects might consider sensitive, offensive, threatening, or degrading
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. It demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors Examining for personal or sensitive information in surveys or interviews Presentation of materials which subjects might consider sensitive, offensive, threatening, or degrading Invasion of privacy of subject or family
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. It demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors Examining for personal or sensitive information in surveys or interviews Presentation of materials which subjects might consider sensitive, offensive, threatening, or degrading Invasion of privacy of subject or family Social or economic risk
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research of demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors Examining for personal or sensitive information in surveys or interviews Presentation of materials which subjects might consider sensitive, offensive, threatening, or degrading Invasion of privacy of subject or family Social or economic risk Risk associated with exercise or physical exertion
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. The demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors Examining for personal or sensitive information in surveys or interviews Presentation of materials which subjects might consider sensitive, offensive, threatening, or degrading Invasion of privacy of subject or family Social or economic risk
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. The demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors Examining for personal or sensitive information in surveys or interviews Presentation of materials which subjects might consider sensitive, offensive, threatening, or degrading Invasion of privacy of subject or family Social or economic risk Risk associated with exercise or physical exertion
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. The demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors Examining for personal or sensitive information in surveys or interviews Presentation of materials which subjects might consider sensitive, offensive, threatening, or degrading Invasion of privacy of subject or family Social or economic risk Risk associated with exercise or physical exertion Legal risk
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. The demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors Examining for personal or sensitive information in surveys or interviews Presentation of materials which subjects might consider sensitive, offensive, threatening, or degrading Invasion of privacy of subject or family Social or economic risk Risk associated with exercise or physical exertion Legal risk Review of medical records
mus	A follow up email will be sent as a reminder to complete the survey. A hard copy of the survey will be mailed if a low response rate occurs. K - PROTECTION - BENEFITS: The answers for the three questions below are central to human subjects research. The demonstrate a reasonable balance between anticipated risks to research participants, protection strategies, and anticipated fits to participants or others. Risk for Subjects: (check all that apply) Exposure to infectious diseases Use of confidential records Exposure to radiation Manipulation of psychological or social variables such as sensory deprivation, social isolation, psychological stressors Examining for personal or sensitive information in surveys or interviews Presentation of materials which subjects might consider sensitive, offensive, threatening, or degrading Invasion of privacy of subject or family Social or economic risk Risk associated with exercise or physical exertion Legal risk Review of medical records Review of criminal records

٠					
		fi-ii Di	-l		
	i i			cribe specific measures used to minimize or protect subjects from anticipated risks.)	
		will be used in	academ	survey will explain the purpose of the survey, who is conducting the research, and that their responses ic research. This will alert participants to the purpose of the survey. They will be assured that their protected and their identity will not be revealed.	
	C. I	Benefits: (Desc	ribe any	reasonably expected benefits for research participants, a class of participants, or to society as a whole.)
		Society will be for the impacts		om this research as the answers will develop communication materials to prepare agricultural producers ate change.	
	r t	neans that "the	risks of	isk? In your opinion, does the research involve more than minimal risk to subjects? ("Minimal risk" harm anticipated in the proposed research are not greater, considering probability and magnitude, than tered in daily life or during the performance of routine physical or psychological examinations or	
		Yes		✓ No	
III.	relation with th human Explain	nship of trust ar e understandin research subje	nd with t g of the cts in a t	Confidentiality is the formal treatment of information that an individual has disclosed to you in a the expectation that it will not be divulged to others without permission in ways that are inconsistent original disclosure. Consequently, it is your responsibility to protect information that you gather from way that is consistent with your agreement with the volunteer and with their expectations. protect confidentiality of research subjects and/or data or records. Include plans for maintaining recor	
	and de	ampietion.			
	1000000000		sts will b	e maintained by the commodity associations, researchers will not have access to personal information	
	100000000000000000000000000000000000000			lata produced from the survey will be kept on a University password protected computer. No personal be collected in the survey.	
ν.	INFO make s (There careful	RMED CON ture that any po may be project ly justified to a	SENT: otential s ts where		
x.	INFO make s (There careful consider Even if inform length confider Even if about y	RMED CON ure that any po may be project ly justified to a ered by the IRE f your proposed ation that infor of study, study entiality strateg f your project. S	on will be a second of the second approximate the second approximate the second of the	the collected in the survey. Informed consent is a critical component of human subjects research - it is your responsibility to subject knows exactly what the project that you are planning is about, and what his/her potential role is some forms of "deception" of the subject is necessary for the execution of the study, but it must be oved by the IRB). A schematic for determining when a waiver or alteration of informed consent may be	be
x.	INFO make s (There careful consider Even if informal length confider Even if about y forms if	PRMED CON ure that any po may be project ly justified to a ered by the IRE f your proposed ation that infor of study, study entiality strateg f your project. S for 3 years after	on will be a second of the standard of the sta	is Informed consent is a critical component of human subjects research - it is your responsibility to subject knows exactly what the project that you are planning is about, and what his/her potential role is, some forms of "deception" of the subject is necessary for the execution of the study, but it must be oved by the IRB). A schematic for determining when a waiver or alteration of informed consent may be done at http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/policy/checklists/decisioncharts.html#c10 If their rights as subjects, i.e. explanation that the project is research and the purpose of the research, ares, debriefing issues to include anticipated benefits, study and administrative contact information, he fact that participation is entirely voluntary and can be terminated at any time without penalty, etc. It is a federal requirement to maintain informed consent med consent example on the URCO website. It is a federal requirement to maintain informed consent	be
τ.	INFO make s (There careful consider Even if informal length confider Even if about y forms if	PRMED CON ure that any po may be project ly justified to a ered by the IRE f your proposed ation that infor of study, study entiality strateg f your project. S for 3 years after er the followin	on will be a second of the standard of the sta	is Informed consent is a critical component of human subjects research - it is your responsibility to subject knows exactly what the project that you are planning is about, and what his/her potential role is, some forms of "deception" of the subject is necessary for the execution of the study, but it must be oved by the IRB). A schematic for determining when a waiver or alteration of informed consent may be does qualify for a waiver of informed consent, you must still provide potential participants with basic a of their rights as subjects, i.e. explanation that the project is research and the purpose of the research, ares, debriefing issues to include anticipated benefits, study and administrative contact information, he fact that participation is entirely voluntary and can be terminated at any time without penalty, etc. It is a federal requirement to maintain informed consent dy completion.	
x.	INFO make s (There careful consider Even if informal length confider Even if about y forms for some for some forms for some for some for some for some for some for some forms for some for s	PRMED CON ure that any po may be project ly justified to a ered by the IRE f your proposed ation that infor of study, study entiality strateg f your project. S for 3 years after er the followin s No	on will be a second of the second approximate the second approximate the second of the	is Informed consent is a critical component of human subjects research - it is your responsibility to subject knows exactly what the project that you are planning is about, and what his/her potential role is, some forms of "deception" of the subject is necessary for the execution of the study, but it must be oved by the IRB). A schematic for determining when a waiver or alteration of informed consent may be determined to a http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/policy/checklists/decisioncharts.html#c10 If their rights as subjects, i.e. explanation that the project is research and the purpose of the research, ares, debriefing issues to include anticipated benefits, study and administrative contact information, he fact that participation is entirely voluntary and can be terminated at any time without penalty, etc. as are completely anonymous, you are obliged to provide them (and the IRB) with basic information med consent example on the URCO website. It is a federal requirement to maintain informed consent dy completion. How a subject is a critical component of human subjects research and what his/her potential participants with basic information, the fact that participation is entirely voluntary and can be terminated at any time without penalty, etc. as are completely anonymous, you are obliged to provide them (and the IRB) with basic information med consent example on the URCO website. It is a federal requirement to maintain informed consent dy completion. How a critical component is a critical component of the provide in the study of the critical content is a federal requirement to maintain informed consent dy completion.	be
τ.	INFO make s (There careful consider the considered the confidered	PRMED CON ure that any po may be project ly justified to a ered by the IRE f your proposed ation that infor of study, study entiality strateg f your project. S for 3 years after er the followin s No	on will be a second of the second approach the second approach the second activity must them procedury, and till subjects ee inform rithe student and a second approach the second approach to the second approach the second approach to the second approac	is Informed consent is a critical component of human subjects research - it is your responsibility to subject knows exactly what the project that you are planning is about, and what his/her potential role is, some forms of "deception" of the subject is necessary for the execution of the study, but it must be oved by the IRB). A schematic for determining when a waiver or alteration of informed consent may be dat http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/policy/checklists/decisioncharts.html#c10 If their rights as subjects, i.e. explanation that the project is research and the purpose of the research, ares, debriefing issues to include anticipated benefits, study and administrative contact information, he fact that participation is entirely voluntary and can be terminated at any time without penalty, etc. is are completely anonymous, you are obliged to provide them (and the IRB) with basic information and consent example on the URCO website. It is a federal requirement to maintain informed consent dy completion. In a shout the informed consent procedures. Are you using a written informed consent form? If "yes," include a copy with this application. If "no" see B. In accordance with guidance in 45 CFR 46, I am requesting a waiver or alteration of informed consent elements (see section VIII above). If "yes," provide a basis and/or justification for your	be
Χ.	INFO make s (There careful consider the considered the confidered	PRMED CON ure that any po may be project ly justified to a ered by the IRE f your proposed ation that infor of study, study entiality strateg f your project. S for 3 years after er the followin s No	on will be a second of the second approach the second approach the second activity must them procedury, and till subjects ee inform rithe student and a second approach the second approach to the second approach the second approach to the second approac	is Informed consent is a critical component of human subjects research - it is your responsibility to subject knows exactly what the project that you are planning is about, and what his/her potential role is, some forms of "deception" of the subject is necessary for the execution of the study, but it must be oved by the IRB). A schematic for determining when a waiver or alteration of informed consent may be dat http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/policy/checklists/decisioncharts.html#c10 If their rights as subjects, i.e. explanation that the project is research and the purpose of the research, ares, debriefing issues to include anticipated benefits, study and administrative contact information, he fact that participation is entirely voluntary and can be terminated at any time without penalty, etc. is are completely anonymous, you are obliged to provide them (and the IRB) with basic information and consent example on the URCO website. It is a federal requirement to maintain informed consent dy completion. In a shout the informed consent procedures. Are you using a written informed consent form? If "yes," include a copy with this application. If "no" see B. In accordance with guidance in 45 CFR 46, I am requesting a waiver or alteration of informed consent elements (see section VIII above). If "yes," provide a basis and/or justification for your	be
C.	INFO make s (There careful consider the considered the confidered	PRMED CON ure that any po may be project ly justified to a ered by the IRE f your proposed ation that infor of study, study entiality strateg f your project. S for 3 years after er the followin s No	on will be a second of the second approach the second approach the second activity must them procedury, and till subjects ee inform rithe student and a second approach the second approach to the second approach the second approach to the second approac	is Informed consent is a critical component of human subjects research - it is your responsibility to subject knows exactly what the project that you are planning is about, and what his/her potential role is, some forms of "deception" of the subject is necessary for the execution of the study, but it must be oved by the IRB). A schematic for determining when a waiver or alteration of informed consent may be dat http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/policy/checklists/decisioncharts.html#c10 If their rights as subjects, i.e. explanation that the project is research and the purpose of the research, ares, debriefing issues to include anticipated benefits, study and administrative contact information, he fact that participation is entirely voluntary and can be terminated at any time without penalty, etc. is are completely anonymous, you are obliged to provide them (and the IRB) with basic information and consent example on the URCO website. It is a federal requirement to maintain informed consent dy completion. In a shout the informed consent procedures. Are you using a written informed consent form? If "yes," include a copy with this application. If "no" see B. In accordance with guidance in 45 CFR 46, I am requesting a waiver or alteration of informed consent elements (see section VIII above). If "yes," provide a basis and/or justification for your	be

Application			Page
Yes	✓ No	C.	Are you using the online Consent Form Template provided by the URCO? If "no," does your Informed Consent document have all the minimum required elements of informed consent found in the Consent Form Template? (Please explain)
			The informed consent document specific to this project has all the minimum required elements of the consent form template including: research statement, research purpose, expected time to participate, description of survey, explanation that there are no expected risks or benefits, assuranc of total confidentially, and a statement that participation is voluntary and can be ended by the participant at any time. Contact information is also provided for the IRB office and the principle researcher.
✓ Yes	No No	D.	Are your research subjects anonymous? If they are anonymous, you will not have access to any information that will allow you to determine the identity of the research subjects in your study, or to link research data to a specific individual in any way. Anonymity is a powerful protection for potential research subjects. (An anonymous subject is one whose identity is unknown even to the researcher, or the data or information collected cannot be linked in any way to a specific person).
✓ Yes	No	E.	Are subjects debriefed about the purposes, consequences, and benefits of the research? Debriefing refers to a mechanism for informing the research subjects of the results or conclusions, after the data is collected and analyzed, and the study is over. (If "no" explain why.) Copy of debriefing
			statement to be utilized should be submitted to comply@k-state.edu with your application. Copy attached
		F.	Copy attached Describe the Informed Consent Process:
		F.	Copy attached
		F.	Copy attached Describe the Informed Consent Process: Who is obtaining the consent? (i.e. Principle Investigator, Graduate Student, etc.)
		F.	Describe the Informed Consent Process: Who is obtaining the consent? (i.e. Principle Investigator, Graduate Student, etc.) Graduate student through survey consent question When and where will consent be obtained? Following the greeting message after subjects are informed of the purpose of the study. Subjects must provide consent before they are allowed to participate. Those that choose not to consent will
		F.	Describe the Informed Consent Process: Who is obtaining the consent? (i.e. Principle Investigator, Graduate Student, etc.) Graduate student through survey consent question When and where will consent be obtained? Following the greeting message after subjects are informed of the purpose of the study. Subjects must provide consent before they are allowed to participate. Those that choose not to consent will be directed to an exit message. A paper consent form will be included if a hard copy of the survey
		F.	Copy attached Describe the Informed Consent Process: Who is obtaining the consent? (i.e. Principle Investigator, Graduate Student, etc.) Graduate student through survey consent question When and where will consent be obtained? Following the greeting message after subjects are informed of the purpose of the study. Subjects must provide consent before they are allowed to participate. Those that choose not to consent will be directed to an exit message. A paper consent form will be included if a hard copy of the survey is mailed. If assent (for minors) is required, please describe who will obtain the assent? (Assent means a
		F.	Describe the Informed Consent Process: Who is obtaining the consent? (i.e. Principle Investigator, Graduate Student, etc.) Graduate student through survey consent question When and where will consent be obtained? Following the greeting message after subjects are informed of the purpose of the study. Subjects must provide consent before they are allowed to participate. Those that choose not to consent will be directed to an exit message. A paper consent form will be included if a hard copy of the survey is mailed. If assent (for minors) is required, please describe who will obtain the assent? (Assent means a child's affirmative agreement to participate in research)
		F.	Describe the Informed Consent Process: Who is obtaining the consent? (i.e. Principle Investigator, Graduate Student, etc.) Graduate student through survey consent question When and where will consent be obtained? Following the greeting message after subjects are informed of the purpose of the study. Subjects must provide consent before they are allowed to participate. Those that choose not to consent will be directed to an exit message. A paper consent form will be included if a hard copy of the survey is mailed. If assent (for minors) is required, please describe who will obtain the assent? (Assent means a child's affirmative agreement to participate in research)
		F.	Describe the Informed Consent Process: Who is obtaining the consent? (i.e. Principle Investigator, Graduate Student, etc.) Graduate student through survey consent question When and where will consent be obtained? Following the greeting message after subjects are informed of the purpose of the study. Subjects must provide consent before they are allowed to participate. Those that choose not to consent will be directed to an exit message. A paper consent form will be included if a hard copy of the survey is mailed. If assent (for minors) is required, please describe who will obtain the assent? (Assent means a child's affirmative agreement to participate in research) n/a If assent (for minors) is required, when and where will assent be obtained?

Items				YES	NO	N/
	itle appear a	t the top	of the consent/assent form?	1		
Is the con	sent/assent f	orm wri	tten toward the subject?	1		-
Is there a	statement th	at explai	ins that the study is research?	V		-
	Service Control					-
200 C.	Is there a statement that explains the purpose of the research? Are the procedures to be followed explained clearly and adequately?			1		_
			escribe risks or discomforts to subjects as a result of participating in the	1		
research?	consent doct	шеш че	escribe rand or and comports to subjects as a result of participating in the			
Is the con	sent/assent f	orm wri	tten in the native language of the potential subject?	1	III.	
Are partic	e participants compensated?			1		
If the subj		y is kno	wn to the PI, does the form detail how confidentiality of records will be			
Is contact	information	for both	the PI and the URCO/IRB office included?	1		
			dicate to the participant that he/she can withdraw at any time from the	1		
Are there	A	cumstan	of benefit? Ices which would require the PI to terminate a subject's participation 17		1	
_			en in lay language (Recommended 8th grade level)?	1		-
Yes	✓ No	A.	Deception of subjects? If "YES" explain why this is necessary.			
Yes	✓ No	A.	Deception of subjects? If "YES" explain why this is necessary.			
Yes Yes	✓ No	A. B.	Deception of subjects? If "YES" explain why this is necessary. Shock or other forms of punishment			
_				experien	ce or sex	rual a
Yes	✓ No	В.	Shock or other forms of punishment	experien	ce or sex	rual a
Yes Yes	✓ No ✓ No	B. C.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom	nust comp	oly with	facili
Yes Yes	✓ No ✓ No ✓ No	B. C. D.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n	nust comp	oly with	facili
Yes Yes Yes	✓ No ✓ No ✓ No ✓ No	B. C. D. E.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes', you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Bion (BMBL))	nust comp	oly with	facili
Yes Yes Yes Yes	✓ No ✓ No ✓ No ✓ No ✓ No	B. C. D. E. F. G.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes', you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Bion (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity	nust comp	oly with	facili
Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	✓ No ✓ No ✓ No ✓ No ✓ No ✓ No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA	nust comp	oly with	facili
Yes	V No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA Purposeful creation of anxiety Any procedure that might be viewed as invasion of privacy Physical exercise or stress	nust comp	oly with	facili
Yes	V No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J. K.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA Purposeful creation of anxiety Any procedure that might be viewed as invasion of privacy Physical exercise or stress Administration of substances (food, drugs, etc.) to subjects	nust comp	oly with	facili
Yes	V No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J. K. L.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA Purposeful creation of anxiety Any procedure that might be viewed as invasion of privacy Physical exercise or stress Administration of substances (food, drugs, etc.) to subjects Any procedure that might place subjects at risk	nust comp nedical La	oly with aboratori	facili es
Yes	V No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J. K. L. M.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA Purposeful creation of anxiety Any procedure that might be viewed as invasion of privacy Physical exercise or stress Administration of substances (food, drugs, etc.) to subjects Any procedure that might place subjects at risk Will there be any use of Radioactive materials and/or use of Radioactive	nust comp nedical La	oly with aboratori	facili es
Yes	V No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J. K. L. M. N.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA Purposeful creation of anxiety Any procedure that might be viewed as invasion of privacy Physical exercise or stress Administration of substances (food, drugs, etc.) to subjects Any procedure that might place subjects at risk Will there be any use of Radioactive materials and/or use of Radioactive Any form of potential abuse; i.e., psychological, physical, sexual	nust comp nedical La	oly with aboratori	facili es
Yes	V No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J. K. L. M.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA Purposeful creation of anxiety Any procedure that might be viewed as invasion of privacy Physical exercise or stress Administration of substances (food, drugs, etc.) to subjects Any procedure that might place subjects at risk Will there be any use of Radioactive materials and/or use of Radioactive	nust comp nedical La	oly with aboratori	facili es
Yes	V No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J. K. L. M. N.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes', you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA Purposeful creation of anxiety Any procedure that might be viewed as invasion of privacy Physical exercise or stress Administration of substances (food, drugs, etc.) to subjects Any procedure that might place subjects at risk Will there be any use of Radioactive materials and/or use of Radioactive Any form of potential abuse; i.e., psychological, physical, sexual Is there potential for the data from this project to be published in a journ	nust comp nedical La e producii nal, preser	oly with aboratori	facilii ies ines confe
Yes	V No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J. K. L. M. N. O. P.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA Purposeful creation of anxiety Any procedure that might be viewed as invasion of privacy Physical exercise or stress Administration of substances (food, drugs, etc.) to subjects Any procedure that might place subjects at risk Will there be any use of Radioactive materials and/or use of Radioactive Any form of potential abuse; i.e., psychological, physical, sexual Is there potential for the data from this project to be published in a journ etc? Use of surveys or questionnaires for data collection. Copies should be	nust comp nedical La e produci nal, preser submitte	ng mach	facilii es ines confe
Yes	V No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J. K. L. M. N. O. P.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA Purposeful creation of anxiety Any procedure that might be viewed as invasion of privacy Physical exercise or stress Administration of substances (food, drugs, etc.) to subjects Any procedure that might place subjects at risk Will there be any use of Radioactive materials and/or use of Radioactive Any form of potential abuse; i.e., psychological, physical, sexual Is there potential for the data from this project to be published in a journetc? Use of surveys or questionnaires for data collection. Copies should be state.edu with your application.	nust comp nedical La e produci nal, preser submitte	ng mach	facili es ines confe
Yes	V No	B. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. J. K. L. M. N. O. P.	Shock or other forms of punishment Sexually explicit materials or questions about sexual orientation, sexual Handling of money or other valuable commodities Extraction or use of blood, other bodily fluids, or tissues (if "yes", you n handling protections detailed in the 5th Edition of the Biosafety in Biom (BMBL)) Questions about any kind of illegal or illicit activity Questions about protected health information as defined by HIPPA Purposeful creation of anxiety Any procedure that might be viewed as invasion of privacy Physical exercise or stress Administration of substances (food, drugs, etc.) to subjects Any procedure that might place subjects at risk Will there be any use of Radioactive materials and/or use of Radioactive Any form of potential abuse; i.e., psychological, physical, sexual Is there potential for the data from this project to be published in a journetc? Use of surveys or questionnaires for data collection. Copies should be state.edu with your application.	nust comp nedical La e produci nal, preser submitte them in o	ng mach	facili es ines confe

and a	pplication	-11		Page 9
	Yes	✓ No	d.	Physically or mentally disabled
	Yes	✓ No	e.	Economically or educationally disadvantaged
	Yes	✓ No	f.	Unable to provide their own legal informed consent
	Yes	✓ No	g.	Pregnant females as target population
	Yes	✓ No	h.	Victims
	Yes	✓ No	1.	Subjects in institutions (e.g., prisons, nursing homes, halfway houses)
	Yes	✓ No	j.	Are subjects likely to be vulnerable to coercion or undue influence
	Yes	✓ No	k.	Is this international research? If yes, provide details as to if OHRP regulations apply in or near the area you intend to conduct research or if you have contacted individuals for applicable regulations t human subject research.
	Yes	✓ No	1	Are research subjects in this activity students recruited from university classes or volunteer pools? It so, do you have a reasonable alternative(s) to participation as a research subject in your project, i.e., another activity such as writing or reading that would serve to protect students from unfair pressure coercion to participate in this project? If you answered this question "Yes," explain any alternatives options for class credit for potential human subject volunteers in your study. (It is also important to remember that: Students must be free to choose not to participate in research that they have signed
				up for at any time without penalty. Communication of their decision can be conveyed in any mannet to include simply not showing up for the research.)
	Yes	✓ No	m.	Is audio from the subjects recorded? If yes, how do you plan to protect the recorded information an mitigate any additional risks?
	Yes	✓ No	n.	Are research subjects' images being recorded (video taped, digitally recorded, photographed)? If yes, how do you plan to protect the recorded information and mitigate any additional risks?
XII.	FDA AC	TIVITIES:	Ansv	ver the following questions about potential FDA regulated activities:
	Yes	✓ No	a.	Is this a Clinical Trial?
	Yes	✓ No	b.	Are you using an FDA approved drug/device/diagnostic test?
	Yes	✓ No	C.	Does this activity involve the use of FDA-Regulated products? (biological products, color additives food additives, human drugs, etc.)
	Yes	✓ No	d.	Has the protocol been submitted to the FDA, or are there plans to submit it to the FDA?
	Yes	✓ No	e.	Have you submitted an FDA form 3454 or 3455 (conflict of interest)?
XIII.	of human financial i affect the	research subj nterests cause welfare of hu	ects. 1 Confl man su	<u>CST:</u> Concerns have been growing that financial interests in research may threaten the safety and right Financial interests are not in them selves prohibited and may well be appropriate and legitimate. Not all ict of Interest (COI) or harm to human subjects. However, to the extent that financial interests may abjects in research, IRB's, institutions, and investigators must consider what actions regarding financial protect human subjects. Please answer the following questions:
	Yes	✓ No	a.	Do you or the institution have any proprietary interest in a potential product of this research, including patents, trademarks, copyrights, or licensing agreements?
	Yes	✓ No	b.	Do you have an equity interest in the research sponsor (publicly held or a non-publicly held company)?
	✓ Yes	No No	c.	Do you receive significant payments of other sorts, eg., grants, equipment, retainers for consultation and/or honoraria from the sponsor of this research?
	Yes	✓ No	d.	Do you receive payment per participant or incentive payments?
	1000		e.	If you answered yes to any of the above questions, please provide adequate explanatory information so the IRB can assess any potential COI indicated above.
				The same of the sa

PRO	OJECT COLLABOR	ATORS:								
A		ist anyone affiliated with KSU who is col investigators, undergraduate and graduate		: (list all collaborators on the						
	Name:	Department:	Campus Phone:	Campus E-mail:						
	Dr. Peter Tomlinson	Assistant Professor, Agronomy	785-532-3198	ptomlin@ksu.edu						
	Lana Barkman	Project Coordinator, Agronomy	785-532-3198	lanaan@ksu.edu						
	Katie Rohling	Communications and Agricultural Education	785-532-5804	wande@ksu.edu						
	Brooke Harshaw	Communications and Agricultural Education	785-532-5804	katie26@ksu.edu						
	Dr. Wes Wise	Journalism and Mass Communications	785-532-6890	weswise@ksu.edu						
	Cassie Wandersee	Communications and Agricultural	Cassie Wandersee Communications and Agricultural 785-532-5804 wande@ksu.edu Education							
В.	Add Row Non-KSU Collaborat below. KSU has nego	Education Delete Row ors: List all collaborators on your human intended an Assurance with the Office for Human intended an Assurance with the Office for Human intended an Assurance with the Office for Human intended in the Office for Human in the Office for Human intended in the Office for Huma		not affiliated with KSU in th						
В.	Add Row Non-KSU Collaborat below. KSU has nego	Education Delete Row ors: List all collaborators on your human	ubjects research project	not affiliated with KSU in the						
В.	Add Row Non-KSU Collaborat below. KSU has nego responsible for oversig	Delete Row ors: List all collaborators on your human isted an Assurance with the Office for Huht of research involving human subjects.	ubjects research project man Research Protection	not affiliated with KSU in the as (OHRP), the federal office						
В.	Add Row Non-KSU Collaborat below. KSU has nego responsible for oversig	Delete Row ors: List all collaborators on your human isted an Assurance with the Office for Huht of research involving human subjects.	ubjects research project man Research Protection	not affiliated with KSU in the as (OHRP), the federal office						
В.	Add Row Non-KSU Collaborat below. KSU has nego responsible for oversig	Delete Row ors: List all collaborators on your human isted an Assurance with the Office for Huht of research involving human subjects.	ubjects research project man Research Protection	not affiliated with KSU in the as (OHRP), the federal office						
В.	Add Row Non-KSU Collaborat below. KSU has nego responsible for oversig	Delete Row ors: List all collaborators on your human isted an Assurance with the Office for Huht of research involving human subjects.	ubjects research project man Research Protection	not affiliated with KSU in the is (OHRP), the federal office						
В.	Add Row Non-KSU Collaborat below. KSU has nego responsible for oversig Name: Add Row Does your non-KSU of	Education Delete Row ors: List all collaborators on your human intended an Assurance with the Office for Human to fresearch involving human subjects. Organization:	ubjects research project nan Research Protection Phone:	not affiliated with KSU in the state (OHRP), the federal office Institutional E-mail:						
57.	Add Row Non-KSU Collaborat below. KSU has nego responsible for oversig Name: Add Row Does your non-KSU of	Education Delete Row ors: List all collaborators on your humaniated an Assurance with the Office for Hubt of research involving human subjects. Organization: Delete Row ollaborator's organization have an Assurance	ubjects research project nan Research Protection Phone:	not affiliated with KSU in the is (OHRP), the federal office Institutional E-mail:						
57.	Add Row Non-KSU Collaborat below. KSU has nego responsible for oversig Name: Add Row Does your non-KSU o other institutions, pleas	Education Delete Row ors: List all collaborators on your human inted an Assurance with the Office for Human subjects. Organization: Delete Row ollaborator's organization have an Assurance reference the OHRP website under Assurance and the subjects.	ubjects research project nan Research Protection Phone:	not affiliated with KSU in the is (OHRP), the federal office Institutional E-mail:						

A. The URCO must have a copy of the Unaffiliated Investigator Agreement on file for each non-KSU collaborator who is not covered by their own IRB and assurance with OHRP. When research involving human subjects includes collaborators who are not employees or agents of KSU the activities of those unaffiliated individuals may be covered under the KSU Assurance only in accordance with a formal, written agreement of commitment to relevant human subject protection policies and IRB oversight. The Unaffiliated Investigators Agreement can be found and downloaded at http://www.k-state.edu/research/comply/irb/forms

IRB Application Page 11

Online Training *TRAINING REQUIREMENTS HAVE RECENTLY CHANGED*

The IRB has mandatory training requirements prior to protocol approval. Training is now offered through the Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative (CITI) Program. Instructions for registration and access to training are on the URCO website http://www.k-state.edu/research/comply/.

_Use the check boxes below to select the training courses that apply to this application. If you have any questions about training, contact URCO at comply@ksu.edu, or (785) 532-3224.

Mandatory Training	20 AGOS 2020 19 NO
Required for all Principal Investigators, research s	taff and students
X Responsible Conduct of Research	
X IRB core modules	
Required (Provost-mandated) for all full-time I	C-State employees
✓ Export Compliance	
Required procedure-specific training (check all that a	pply to this protocol):
Students in Research (check if students are listed as personnel on this protocol)	International Research
Research in Public Elementary and Secondary Schools Research with Children	Research with Prisoners
▼ Internet Research	mployees
Research with Subjects with Physical Disabilities and Impairments Illegal Activit	ies or Undocument Status in Human Research
Gender and Sexuality Diversity in Human Research Research with human blood	, body fluids, or tissues
Research with Older Adults	
All new personnel or personnel with expired training are required training requirements. If you previously completed online IRB mod current until it expires. URCO will verify training from the previous sapproval of any protocol.	lules, your training status will remain

IRB Application	Page 12	ž

INVESTIGATOR ASSURANCE FOR RESEARCH INVOLVING HUMAN SUBJECTS

(Print this page separately because it requires a signature by the PL)

P.I. Name: Laur	i M. Baker
Title of Project:	An Audience Focused Approach to Framing Climate Change Communication in Agriculture
XVI. ASSURA	NCES: As the Principal Investigator on this protocol, I provide assurances for the following:
A	Research Involving Human Subjects: This project will be performed in the manner described in this proposal, and in accordance with the Federalwide Assurance FWA00000865 approved for Kansas State University available at http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/assurances/forms/filasurt.html , applicable laws, regulations, and guidelines. Any proposed deviation or modification from the procedures detailed herein must be submitted to the IRB, and be approved by the Committee for Research Involving Human Subjects (IRB) prior to implementation.
В.	Training: I assure that all personnel working with human subjects described in this protocol are technically competent for the role described for them, and have completed the required IRB training accessed via the URCO website at: http://www.k-state.edu/research/comply/irb/training . I understand that no proposals will receive final IRB approval until the URCO has documentation of completion of training by all appropriate personnel.
C.	Extramural Funding: If funded by an extramural source, I assure that this application accurately reflects all procedures involving human subjects as described in the grant/contract proposal to the funding agency. I also assure that I will notify the IRB/URCO, the KSU PreAward Services, and the funding/contract entity if there are modifications or changes made to the protocol after the initial submission to the funding agency.
D.	Study Duration: I understand that it is the responsibility of the Committee for Research Involving Human Subjects (IRB) to perform continuing reviews of human subjects research as necessary. I also understand that as continuing reviews are conducted, it is my responsibility to provide timely and accurate review or update information when requested, to include notification of the IRB/URCO when my study is changed or completed.
E.	Conflict of Interest: I assure that I have accurately described (in this application) any potential Conflict of Interest that my collaborators, the University, or I may have in association with this proposed research activity.
F.	Adverse Event Reporting: I assure that I will promptly report to the IRB / URCO any unanticipated problems involving risks to subjects or others that involve the protocol as approved. Unanticipated or Adverse Event Form is located on the URCO website at: http://www.k-state.edu/research/comply/irb/forms . In the case of a serious event, the Unanticipated or Adverse Events Form may follow a phone call or email contact with the URCO.
G.	<u>Accuracy</u> : I assure that the information herein provided to the Committee for Human Subjects Research is to the best of my knowledge complete and accurate.
	(Principal Investigator Signature) (Date)

Appendix D - Kansas Wheat Follow-Up Email



KANSAS STATE

College of Agriculture

Earlier this week a survey link was sent out in our weekly market report seeking your concerns, experiences, and preferred communications channels in regards to weather and climate. Kansas Wheat is assisting the master's student in collecting data for her thesis study.

If you have already completed the Internet survey, please accept our sincere thanks. If not, please complete it at your earliest convenience. We are especially grateful for your help because it is only by asking our producers to share your experiences that we can truly understand your communication needs.

If you have not completed the survey, or need to finish an incomplete survey, please follow the link below to participate:

https://kstate.qualtrics.com/SE/?SID=SV_cNmPZqCGhD2iaON

If you have questions or problems accessing the survey, please e-mail Cassie Wandersee at wande@ksu.edu

Thank you in advance for supporting the study and efforts to help improve weather and climate communication in the interest of promoting agriculture.

She would like to thank you in advance for supporting her study and efforts to help improve weather and climate communication in the interest of promoting agriculture.

If you have questions or problems accessing the survey, please e-mail Cassie Wandersee at wande@ksu.edu.

Appendix E - Kansas Wheat Final Email



KANSAS STATE

College of Agriculture

About a week a survey link was sent to you seeking your concerns, experiences, and preferred communications channels in regards to weather and climate. Kansas Wheat is assisting the master's student in collecting data for her thesis study.

If you have already completed the Internet survey, please accept our sincere thanks. If not, please complete it at your earliest convenience. We are especially grateful for your help because it is only by asking our producers to share your experiences that we can truly understand your communication needs.

They survey is drawing to a close, and this is the last email reminder we will be sending. If you have not completed the survey, or need to finish an incomplete survey, please follow the link below to participate:

https://kstate.qualtrics.com/SE/?SID=SV_cNmPZqCGhD2iaON

If you have questions or problems accessing the survey, please e-mail Cassie Wandersee at wande@ksu.edu

Thank you in advance for supporting the study and efforts to help improve weather and climate communication in the interest of promoting agriculture.

Thank you in advance for supporting the study and efforts to help improve weather and climate communication in the interest of promoting agriculture.